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PART |
Item 1. Business
OVERVIEW

FalconStor Software, Inc. (“FalconStor”, the “Compg “we”, “our” or “us”) is a market leader in dis
based data protection. Our mission is to transfaraditional backup and disaster recovery (DR) inext-
generation service-oriented data protection. Wkveteproven, comprehensive, data protection sohgithat
facilitate the continuous availability of busines#tical data with speed, integrity, and simplicitQur data
protection solutions are built upon an award-wignpiatform that delivers storage virtualizationntiouous data
protection, WAN-optimized replication, and disastecovery (DR) automation to meet the evolving Beed
today’s data center. Our Business Continuity arshBtier Recovery products include Network StorageeBéNSS)
and Continuous Data Protector (CDP). Our Backupn@pation with Deduplication products include tinelustry-
leading Virtual Tape Library (VTL) and File-inteda Deduplication System (FDS). From Fortune 1G@renises
to small and medium-size businesses, customerssaero/ast range of industries worldwide have impleied
FalconStor solutions in their production IT envinoents in order to meet their recovery time objegifRTO) and
recovery point objectives (RPO), as well as to myentheir storage infrastructures with minimal totalst of
ownership (TCO) and with optimal return on investtn@Ol).

FalconStor data protection and storage virtualzasiolutions are designed to empower IT administseand
end users to recover data easily to any pointnie tin the event of hardware failure, data corruptideletion, or
catastrophic site-level disaster, allowing rollbackfailover to a known, good, immediately useatikgte to ensure
that businesses maintain reliable access to tlitir applications, and to facilitate accurate degeovery while
minimizing downtime. FalconStor solutions are eegired to integrate and to work seamlessly withidete, email,
file systems, and business applications. Applicat&vel integration allows for maintaining spacéeént copies
of the data that are generated with complete trdimseal and point-in-time integrity. FalconStor stibns enhance
business productivity by eliminating the need foe time-consuming restore and data rebuild prosesskich
traditionally create long periods of downtime dgrinrecovery process.

Designed to help contain escalating costs, Falaorediutions enable companies to aggregate hetesogs,
distributed storage capacity and to centralize adhtration of both storage resources and businetssat data
services such as backup, snapshot, replicationdatal migration. Companies benefit from lower adstiative
overhead, elimination of storage over-provisionimgassive scalability, and the ability to make oef§éctive
storage allocation and purchasing decisions. Maeo¥alconStor's commitment to an open softwaretas
approach to storage networking entails any-to-amnectivity via native support for industry stardka(including
Fibre Channel, iSCSI, SCSI, SAS, SATA and ¢&ikhannel over Ethernet [FCoE]), and delivers iedif
support for multiple storage architectures. aAsesult, FalconStor solutions provide companiearyf size and
complexity with the freedom to leverage IP/iISC3i+ibre Channel-based networks and to implemerit theice
of state-of-the-art equipment based on any stanplatcol from any storage manufacturer, withowidexing their
existing or future investments obsolete.

Recognizing the value propositions of FalconStpr@ven, cutting-edge technology, multiple partnditze
FalconStor's innovative software products — inagdiCDP, FDS, NSS, and VTL — to power their storage
appliances and their bundled solutions. FalconStardducts have been certified by such industrgdesas Cisco,
Citrix, Data Direct Networks, Dell, Dynamic Soluti® International, Fujitsu, Hitachi Data Systems, HiBawej
IBM, Lanchao, Microsoft, QLogic, Rorke Data, an A¢rCompany, Silicon Graphics, Symantec, Violin Memo
VMware, and XIO.

FalconStor was incorporated in Delaware as NetviRekpherals, Inc., in 1994. Pursuant to a mergér w
FalconStor Inc., in 2001, the former business ofwéek Peripherals, Inc., was discontinued, and ribely re-
named FalconStor Software, Inc., continued theag®rsoftware business started in 2000 by Falcon8tor
FalconStor's headquarters are located at 2 Humtm@uadrangle, Suite 2S01, Melville, NY 11747. Tmmpany
also maintains offices throughout Europe and Asieifie.



PRODUCTS AND TECHNOLOGY

FalconStor's products and solutions are built oStt# technology, a common software platform that
provides the most reliable and complete disk-bakstd protection and storage virtualization solwgioralconStor
solutions are built to seamlessly integrate wittirstomers’ environments to provide a high levetlafa services
and protection to business applications. Not oméy BalconStor solutions designed to optimize peréorce and
capacity utilization, making use of the latest athes in storage networking speed and technologieb as
deduplication, they also are designed to reducdiminate the backup window completely, which alfousers to
operate 24x7 without any disruption to their busgapplications or services and to recover anyeim minutes,
anytime, anywhere, with 100% data integrity. FalBtmm offers the following core storage and datatqution
products: CDP, FDS, NSS, and VTL. All FalconStoodurcts are enabled with WAN-optimized replication
technology for cost-effective disaster recovery amdote/branch office protection. In addition, desdStor
solutions share several key technologies that fes@mless integration and offer a competitive edge

FalconStor’'s solutions address the full spectrundatia protection business challenges, from the need
accelerate backup to the need to recover data lguaéler a disaster. Backup windows not only hakeunk, but
for many organizations they have disappeared &ttege Traditional tape backup has been plaguel mviédia and
hardware failures. These are some of the issuagsstiel by FalconStor VTL or FalconStor FDS, dependn the
customers’ environments. With the time to recouso ahrinking, companies need more recovery pa@ntstimes
as well as automation of their recovery processesder to meet service level agreements (SLAsyoAding to a
survey published by IDG Research Services in JQ22 59% of the enterprise IT executives and saffeyed
had a RTO for their most mission-critical applicat/services of four hours or less. And 65% of¢éhespondents
stated that a significant portion of their DR preses are manual. For this reason, customersduhe tFalconStor
CDP solution with RecoverTrac™ technology to pravtiem with instant data availability and automatissster
recovery. To improve the day-to-day managemenessat arise from explosive storage growth, custsrase the
FalconStor NSS solution to virtualize, provisioghigve higher availability and to protect theiralaBecause all
FalconStor solutions are built from a single tedbgg platform, deployment is simplified and busises benefit
from the peace of mind of knowing that FalconStolusons work in an easily managed and a highlyceft
fashion, with high data availability and rapid reeoy always paramount.

Deployment options

FalconStor sells its solutions as standalone sofiwas software pre-installed on FalconStor-sugplie
hardware appliances, or as virtual appliances.

Solutions

FalconStor offers a wide range of data protectiwh storage virtualization solutions:
« Data Migration and Storage Virtualization, Provisity, and Management — FalconStor NSS
e Unified Backup and Disaster Recovery — FalconStoPC
e Tape Backup Optimization — FalconStor VTL

e Storage Capacity Optimization — FalconStor FDS

FalconStor solutions provide data protection sewiat all levels — from operating systems and egftin
software, to files, databases, and messaging dateoss the entire organization. Our productseatable in order
to address the needs of small/medium businessgg, taganizations, and global enterprises. Ourtigolsi offer
high availability (HA) through RAID, synchronous cirasynchronous mirroring, HA failover, and clusigri
technologies.

Network Storage Server (NSS)

The FalconStdt Network Storage Server (NSS) solution is a scalahighly available solution that enables
storage virtualization and business continuity @telhogeneous environments. Supporting existingl{4hérty disk
arrays, FalconStor NSS eliminates storage bourslamie vendor lock-in, providing fast and easy ddtaage
provisioning and migration. From a small iSCSI watt server lab to an enterprise-class Fibre Cha®A#al running
Tier-1 database applications, FalconStor NSS igyded to meet all of the storage needs of any dzg#on.
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Moving data between different storage platforms learcomplex, time consuming, and disruptive to fess
operations. FalconStor’'s core storage virtualizatiechnology provides a non-disruptive and simgpreach to
data mobility across different SAN protocols andid@rs. With FalconStor NSS, it becomes a simpleaijmn to
move data from older platforms to newer ones oitmduce new storage tiers. This allows organirstito
respond to evolving performance and capacity requénts.

By virtualizing storage on any disk array, FalcarStISS provides the ability to pool and tier digsets,
simplifying provisioning, reducing allocation ersprand maximizing resource utilization. This allows
organizations to avoid overprovisioning of diskaeses and to bring new servers and projects onjinekly and
efficiently. FalconStor NSS incorporates a full eeapplication-aware data protection servicesuigiog real-time
synchronous mirroring, volume snapshots, and eigte WAN-optimized data replication, and leveismghe
RecoverTrac™ tool for automated disaster recovery.

When deployed in high availability (HA) clustersal€onStor NSS offers HA functionality. FalconStos 8!
can also be implemented as a highly availablecétreluster. A stretch cluster provides automatiilover of storage
services between different physical locations aggaphic sites within a metropolitan area. Strettisters
typically are used to create “active/active” dagmters in order to provide business continuity viitidirectional
replication and dynamic workload balancing acrassssFalconStor NSS stretch clusters enable engerfevel
HA and uninterrupted service for organizations megg the most stringent level of protection andcewation for
DR.

Virtual server environments are well served byualized storage. FalconStor NSS is designed tcenitak
easy to create a new disk resource to house vimaahine files, and disk resources are re-alloctiedifferent
servers or shared among servers to facilitate alimoachine high-availability operations that requshared disk.
Specific integration tools allow FalconStor NSS dervice virtual server environments in an optimanmer
providing rapid and effective recovery processes @frtual machine or entire virtual server farmSpecifically,
FalconStor NSS integrates with and enhances VMueaienologies such as VMware vSphere, VMware vCenter
and VMware vCenter Site Recovery Manager. SuppdrtVblware vStorage APIs for Array Integration
(VAAI) extends VMware integration into any storagavironment and optimizes VMware deployments with
comprehensive, flexible storage virtualization da¢h protection functionality.

In addition, FalconStor NSS enables and automa&e®isless backup processes. FalconStor backuprserv
integration tools offload backup processes from seever to the FalconStor NSS repository, freeipgtive
application host server and completely eliminatimg backup window.

The FalconStor NSS Virtual Appliance enables cifsticdve server virtualization by converting intafror
external server storage resources into sharedgstaesources to enable high availability optionsoss virtual
servers. The solution reduces infrastructure codtcmmplexity while maximizing customers’ return iomestment.
The FalconStor NSS Virtual Appliance brings all tenefits and features of server and storage Vizateon to the
remote and branch office to reduce costs and tblereffective data protection and recovery soligiaoross the
enterprise.

Continuous Data Protector (CDP)

FalconStof Continuous Data Protector (CDP) technology reitsehe way data backup and recovery are
implemented and performed. Moving far beyond failprone once-a-day tape backup models, Falcon3ét C
combines local and remote protection into a cogetize, unified, disk-based solution that allowganizations to
recover data back to the most recent transactiombihing application-aware snapshot agents andiremus
journaling functions, FalconStor CDP enables cusisno recover data to any point in time.

In addition, FalconStor CDP delivers instant datailability and reliable recovery, bringing busises
applications back on line in a matter of minutdserad failure. FalconStor CDP protects applicaspecific data for
Microsoft, Oracle, SAP, and other business apptioat ensuring high performance and stability feerethe most
complex business environments. Using a wealth phisticated technologies — including applicatiotegration,
physical-to-virtual recovery, WAN-optimized repligan, and disaster recovery automation via the Reckrac tool
— entire systems can be restored in under ten psnubst files can be recovered in as little as twoutes. Data is
protected in its native format and is instantly essible. With FalconStor CDP, the RTO changes fhamrs to
minutes, minimizing system downtime and economipaot.



In addition, FalconStor CDP enables and automaesdess backup processes. FalconStor’s backuprser
integration tools offload backup processes from s$kever to the FalconStor CDP repository, freeimgthe
application host server and completely eliminatimg backup window.

The FalconStor CDP Virtual Appliance is a pre-cgafied, ready-to-run software application packaged f
quick, easy deployment in virtual environments. Buodution reduces infrastructure cost and compfewihile
maximizing customers’ return on investment. ThecéaStor CDP Virtual Appliance provides all the bieiseand
features of FalconStor CDP to the remote and braffoate to enable comprehensive and effective gatdection
and recovery solutions across the enterprise.

Virtual Tape Library (VTL)

The FalconStdt Virtual Tape Library (VTL) solution is one of thirdustry’s leading virtual tape solution,
and we believe it is unmatched in terms of perfaroeaand scalability. With virtual tape, backupsptete faster
and more reliably, with little or no change neededthe backup environment. It enhances backup tipesa
seamlessly without changing any backup processgmla@ies. Sophisticated physical tape integratiom data
security complete the solution. Designed from skext as an enterprise-class application, Falcon®id can
achieve high backup speeds of 20TB per hour pee.ndd to eight nodes can combine into a singleckdginit,
scaling performance to a remarkable 160TB per hallowing users to solve the single biggest issubackup:
meeting the backup window.

Built-in data deduplication significantly reducdsetamount of data needed to be stored on disk. @eahb
with the latest high-speed protocols, including 8&lbre Channel (FC) and 10Gb Ethernet, we beliealednStor
VTL demonstrates the fastest sustained deduplitaieeds in the industry: more than 28 terabytehper with
inline deduplication and more than 40 terabyteshmar with post processing. Because not all datalike, we
believe FalconStor VTL is the only deduplicationlusion to offer flexible deduplication options, fiety the
customer choose from any combination of four deidapbn methods (inline, post-process, concurrantj no
deduplication) to align deduplication processeshwiusiness goals and unique requirements. By editinig
redundant backup data, the storage footprint camedheced by 95% or more, allowing organizationkgep weeks
or even months worth of data on disk for fast, dejable restore without any of the reliability comeeof a tape-
based restore.

In addition, FalconStor VTL provides a shared ddidafion repository that spans multiple application
sources, environments, and storage protocols, mzrignspace savings. This allows for backup datenfany
node to be deduplicated against all data in thevsiemry, for true global deduplication. This impesv and
accelerates data restores, making it easier to onextceed service level agreements.

While deduplication can eliminate or greatly reddkbe need for physical tapes, many organizatioifis st
require tape for long-term, offsite, or archivabrstge. FalconStor VTL has the industry’s broadest most
sophisticated integration with physical tape liray allowing companies to export data directlyptrysical tape,
leveraging the speed of the FalconStor VTL withioytacting the backup network.

FalconStor VTL also supports small and remote effenvironments through FalconStor VTL storage
appliances and small footprint virtual appliances.

File-interface Deduplication System (FDS)

The FalconStét File-interface Deduplication System (FDS) offeriegtends FalconStor's deduplication
technology to service a broader set of applicatitresg goes beyond tape backup applications. F8tconFDS
allows companies to optimize storage capacity sesvifor disk-to-disk backup and archiving applizas.
FalconStor FDS is ideal for small-to-medium buséess (SMB) and remote office/branch office (ROBO)
environments that are looking at eliminating orugidg tape infrastructure.

This data deduplication solution reduces storagecty by as much as 95% and is certified with ilegd
backup and archiving applications. FalconStor FDs@nts network-attached storage (NAS) interfacessibility
to a block-level deduplication repository throughmonon LAN-based file-access protocols such as @ENFS.
Its deployment simplicity easily extends the FaBtmr data deduplication technology across multggplications.
FalconStor FDS also delivers a scalable, highlyilabke architecture for the enterprise by sharingjlabal
deduplication repository with the FalconStor VTlaléonStor FDS provides multi-application data pecttn and



deduplication at the remote office, and WAN-optiedzreplication to a scalable, shared deduplicatpository at
the data center.

FalconStor FDS is also offered as a Virtual Appdnproviding remote and branch offices as webrasll
enterprises with an economical data deduplicatmuation. The Virtual Appliance deployment model adiminate
tape-based backup processes at the remote offictharcosts and risks associated with physical $agements.

Application-Aware Snapshot Agents

FalconStor Snapshot Agents automate and minimizesgence time during data replication, backup, and
other snapshot-based operations to ensure tramsaltntegrity and point-in-time consistency of \Waws, Unix,
Linux, and VMware systems, databases applicatiows raessaging stores for fast time-to-recovery. pShat
Agents are available for IBMDB2® UDB, Informix®, Microsoff® SQL Server, Oracfe Sybas®, IBM Lotus
Note$’/Domino, Microsoff Exchange Server, Micros8ftHyper-V, Microsoff VSS, VMware, and many file
systems.

Application-Specific Recovery Options

FalconStor recovery agents offer recovery solutitorsdatabase and messaging systems. For instance,
FalconStor Message Recovery for Microsoft Exchaegeedites mailbox/message recovery by enabling IT
administrators to recover individual mailboxes d&ubjcfrom point-in-time snapshot images of their seging
server. In addition, FalconStor Database RecoveryMicrosoft SQL Server expedites database recowsry
enabling IT administrators to recover a databasektyufrom point-in-time snapshot images of theirdibsoft SQL
database.

Disaster Recovery Automation

The RecoverTrac disaster recovery (DR) automatiohis included as a standard feature of the F&tam
NSS and the FalconStor CDP solutions to automatgtax, time-consuming and error-prone failover &itback
operations of systems, applications, services, entite data centers. The RecoverTrac tool streawlithe
implementation, testing and execution of DR operati It minimizes service failover time betweetesiand
reduces DR costs by offering full recovery from giegl-to-physical, virtual-to-virtual, and physidaltvirtual
server infrastructures.

BUSINESS STRATEGY

FalconStor intends to maintain its position as adileg provider of disk-based data protection amdase
virtualization solutions serving enterprises and ESMworldwide. FalconStor intends to achieve thigective
through the following strategies.

Disk-Based Data Protection Leadership

FalconStor intends to continue to leverage thegoatindependent, unified architecture, and rolapstn
data protection technology of its solution to mainta leadership position in the enterprise and SNk-based
data protection software markets. FalconStor pl@ngontinue its leadership in this market throuth deep
commitment to research and development and threogtinued rapid technology innovation. For inforirmaton
our research and development expenditures, please’Management’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financi
Condition and Results of Operations” and our additensolidated financial statements.

Expand Product Offerings

In 2012, FalconStor continued to develop its prodaartfolio. In April 2012, the Company announcée t
latest release of its VTL solution. FalconStor VTI5 provides customers the flexibility to optimikaackup for
speed and efficiency by tailoring deduplication gaeses to the needs of their environment. Witk thiease
customers can choose from an array of deduplicatfions — including inline, concurrent, post-presiag or no
deduplication — and the flexibility to deploy thammultiple configurations to match types of datad available
storage. In addition, FalconStor VTL 7.5 is ableattain one of the fastest sustained deduplicameeds in the
industry: more than 28 terabytes per hour withnmldeduplication and more than 40 terabytes per Wwih post
processing.



This release also offers improvements in scalghalitd security. For instance, the solution canesbgleither
adding nodes or adding storage, an option not @dailfrom other vendors, helping customers reduyzfeont
storage spending and improve efficiency. In additthis release contains advanced security optigtiisextended
support of Advanced Encryption Standard (AES), tsipeedding functionality, full replication encrypti, and the
addition of Federal Information Processing StansléfdPS) support for government agencies.

In August 2012, FalconStor released the RecoverZraddR automation tool. The RecoverTrac tool is a
standard feature of FalconStor CDP and FalconSg&® End is the first DR automation solution to briegvice-
oriented recovery to both physical and virtual sefwnfrastructures, automating the complex, timestoning and
error-prone failover and failback execution of DR plan. The RecoverTrac 2.5 technology is optimhize meet
the needs of today's heterogeneous data centegs.pidormance enhancements include the abilityetmover
multiple machines simultaneously; increased intidgmawith VMware and Hyper-V; the ability to failev and
failback between any combination of physical antiral servers and between dissimilar hardware;tgradviware
support, including support for VMware vSphere 5 afldware cluster support for load balancing and high
availability configurations; and automated DR rekah which allows busy IT managers to test anmheefecovery
processes on a regular basis without disruptingnbas operations.

Expand Corporate Visibility

Throughout 2012, FalconStor took significant stépsncrease our market presence and awareness. We
continued our effort to increase our online preseincthe form of advertisements and editorial og kedia and
industry community sites, as well as advertisemangearch engines such as Google. In additiomefveshed the
look and feel of the corporate website; upgradedwhbsite’s platform to provide easier access tesd and tools;
created greater search-engine optimization witiceed content; and added additional resourcesarsirey media,
and downloads.

Through the press releases regarding new prodstcégegic relationships, and customer wins, weioaat
to increase our engagement with the press, analydtblogging communities to create awareness eteedibility
for our data protection message. We have steppesliuparticipation in online social networking sitand social
media outlets such as YouTube, Vimeo, Linkedingkfli Google+, and Twitter, as well as online cosedions
both with FalconStor’s own expert bloggers and lpnitoring and commenting on other blogs.

We have participated in several industry events spelaking engagements and heavily reinforced our
outreach with the press and analyst community tegbour comprehensive disk-based data protectiossage to
the market. Our focus aims to highlight our sucee$ls our customers and partners throughout thddnas well as
the value our solutions bring to solving their datatection challenges. This broad effort has teddveral awards
and accolades:

e Everything Channel awarded FalconStor Software 2B&2 Five-Star Partner Program Guide
Certification.

« FalconStor was recognized as a 2012 Long Islantiv@cé Award (LISA) recipient for FalconStor
CDP 7.0.

« FalconStor Software was named to Everything Chas@#RN Virtualization 100 List.

e The FalconStor VTL solution was selected for thewek World Asia Information Management
Award within the Backup & Recovery Solution categor

¢« RecoverTrac technology was selected as a “Best Mivdtld 2012” award gold winner in the
Business Continuity and Data Protection category.

« The FalconStor NSS VS Series HA Appliance was naesed silver medal winner of the “2012
Editors’ Best Awards” in the Best Hardware Appliancategory by Penton Media's Windows IT
Pro.

¢ RecoverTrac technology was named a 2012 Produtheofyear finalist within the backup and
disaster recovery software and services categoStbrage Magazine and SearchStorage.com.

We anticipate that this positive recognition witintinue throughout 2013, as we continue to innowzaie
refine our message to address new market conditvbile delivering targeted marketing campaigns.

We continue to promote strong relationships with@wannel partners. In 2012, we increased oursimvent
in our partners with joint marketing and field eggment, completing focused multi-pronged demanceiggion
and nurturing programs to jointly build our busises.



Scalable Delivery

All FalconStor solutions support variable deploymeptions offering greater flexibility to seamlesdit
within our customers’ environments and to respandheir exact needs and requirements. The scalabiliour
solutions can support the smallest environment$ ax remote and branch offices with prepackagetlalir
appliances or small hardware appliances, as welietargest deployments supporting multi-petaleyteéironments
in large datacenters.

The different delivery options include virtual apices for small and remote offices, storage appéia for
small to medium enterprises, and clustered gateaagssoftware appliance kits for large enterprisglayments.

Expand Software and Hardware Strategic Alliances wh Industry Leaders

In March 2012, FalconStor announced that it haéredtinto a worldwide agreement with Dell Servites
deploy FalconStor NSS technology to enable a dégaation service. This technology sharing agreenesables
Dell to meet their customers’ need to efficientiypand and upgrade legacy storage installationsowittisrupting
operations.

Identify and Nurture New Growth Drivers

FalconStor has made key investments in severas direan which we expect growth in the coming yedye.
believe we are strongly positioned to continueat@tadvantage of the rapid storage growth in CaimthJapan. Our
strategic relationships with Dell, Fujitsu, Hitadbata Systems, HP, and Huawei should enable grawathss our
main geographies in Asia Pacific, Europe Middletkzaml Africa, and North America.

We also see opportunity in emerging regions. Adicgyto a 2012 DatacenterDynamics Industry Cenbus,
global investment in data centers grew by 22.1%1@5 billion in 2012 and is expected to grow bytaeo 14.5%
to $120 billion in 2013. Much of this growth isibg driven by the Asia Pacific and Latin Americagimns.

As the amount of data continues to increase, wievaecompanies will look to alternatives to simphjding
more storage to their infrastructure and will lage technologies such as storage virtualizatian,glovisioning,
and data deduplication to reduce data storagenergants. We believe that FalconStor, as a leadiavgloper of
storage virtualization and disk-based data praiactolutions, will see a growing demand for itsducts and
solutions.

As the server virtualization market continues tongeapid adoption, we anticipate a growing need for
integrated storage and server virtualization sohgifor maximizing IT productivity and business touity. This
combination of solutions should improve data cemgmource management by increasing utilization xidtieg
physical resources, while optimizing virtual infirature performance through real-time data migratio deliver
more cost-effective and reliable high-availabiligd disaster recovery. In 2012, we developed rimdegration
tools and solutions to support and enhance VMwaik Microsoft environments. We expect that in 2018 o
relationships with virtualization vendors and oamj technology solutions will continue to grow amdll put
FalconStor in a strong position to service custenieat are looking at deploying these solutions.

SALES, MARKETING AND CUSTOMER SERVICE

FalconStor plans to continue to sell our productsarily through strategic alliances, value-addesetlers
(VARS) or solution providers, large system integraf Direct Market Resellers (DMRs), distributoasd original
equipment manufacturers (OEMSs).

VAR and Distributor Relationships. FalconStor has entered into VAR and distributaeaments to help
sell our products in various geographic areas. \&iehrevamped our sales and marketing infrastrudtufarther
support and expand our network of VARs worldwidalcBnStor's VARs and distributors market various
FalconStor products and receive a discount offieflist price on products sold. FalconStor’s sdalablutions are
also being deployed by Managed Service ProvideifSRMo deliver online data protection and recosayices
across different vertical markets. We have redubechumber of VARs with whom we do business. Ogufois on
the VARs who are willing to commit to FalconStor.

Strategic Alliances. FalconStor has agreements with strategic partoauslize FalconStor products for use
in the strategic partners’ special-purpose stoeggdiances.
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OEM Relationships. OEMs collaborate with FalconStor to integrate Bafstor technology into their own
product offerings or to resell FalconStor technglagder their own label.

FalconStor has relationships with three of thedatgand most influential storage vendors in theusiy,
Dell, Hewlett Packard, and Hitachi Data Systems.

In a limited number of circumstances, FalconStar diatered into software license agreements diregtty
end users.

FalconStor's marketing efforts focus on buildingutd recognition among customers, partners, anakysts
the media and on developing qualified leads forsthles force and our partners.

FalconStor’'s Professional Services personnel @@ abailable to assist customers and partners ghoout
the lifecycle of FalconStor solution deploymenthieTProfessional Services team includes experiestechge
Architects (expert field engineers) who can ageishe assessment, planning/design, deploymenttesmtghases of
the deployment project, and a Technical Supporu@ffor post-deployment assistance and ongoing stippo

COMPETITION

As the demand grows for data protection and nettbaded storage products and services, so does the
demand for services and integration with emergaufpmologies. This growing demand combined witlgases in
services for cloud computing and Big Data, will saunore competitors to enter this high-growth maskegment.
Although there are several companies attemptingfter data protection for specific environments)cBaStor
believes it is the only software-based solutionvjater capable of delivering a high level of datatpction services
across the data center, crossing the infrastrudiotendaries between virtual and physical serveirenments.
FalconStor holds multiple patents on key techn@sgdhat enable and optimize our snapshots, datagtian, and
data reduction platform. We believe that our indégd services and products based on our commongstor
virtualization platform — including CDP, FDS, NS&TL, WAN-optimized replication for remote officesd data
centers, and disaster recovery automation — aguano the industry.

Although some of FalconStor’s products provide édjiges that put them in competition with produétem
a number of companies, FalconStor is not awarengfagher software company providing the same |le¥alata
protection and recovery capabilities for both pbgkind virtual infrastructures in a common solutiBalconStor
believes that the principal competitive factors amting its marketability include product featuraschs as
scalability, high availability, price, reliabilithardware/platform neutrality, and customer sereicd support.

As FalconStor continues its move into the non-gmiee market, the products and services offeredtsy
partners may compete with existing or new prodant$ services offered by current and new entraritsetanarket.

FalconStor’s future and existing competitors cocdohceivably introduce products with superior feeg,r
scalability, and functionality at lower prices thRalconStor’'s products. They could also bundlesteng or new
products with other more established products topmie with FalconStor. Increased competition caekllt in
price reductions and reduced gross margins, wii¢hrn could impact FalconStor’s business. FalcoriSsuccess
will depend largely on its ability to generate metridlemand and awareness of its products and toneahar
develop new products and services in a timely manfidne Company’s success also will depend onlitktyato
convince potential partners of the benefits ofrligiag FalconStor’s software rather than compeguhnologies.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

FalconStor’s success is dependent in part upgradtsrietary technology. The IPStor platform forrhe tore
of this proprietary technology. FalconStor currgmiths nineteen patents and numerous pending pgtplications.
The Company has multiple registered trademarkscluding “FalconStor Software” and “IPStor” — as ivab
pending trademark applications related to Falcon&td its products.

FalconStor seeks to protect its proprietdghts and other intellectual property througltombination
of copyright, patents, trademark, and trade sgmmatection, as well as through contractual préadest such as
proprietary information agreements and nondisclsagreements. The technological and creative s&flls
personnel, new product developments, frequent mtoémhancements, and reliable product maintenanee a
essential to establishing and maintaining a teagyleader position.
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FalconStor generally enters into confidentiality lomense agreements with employees, consultantd, an
corporate partners and generally controls accesantb distribution of its software, documentationd aother
proprietary information. Despite the Company’s gfao protect its proprietary rights, unauthorizetties may
attempt to copy or otherwise obtain and use FalmmtsSproducts or technology. Monitoring unauthedzuse of
FalconStor's products is difficult, and theende no assurance that the steps FalconStortakas will prevent
misappropriation of its technology, particWarin foreign countries where laws may not proiiectproprietary
rights as fully as do the laws of the United States

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we had csteroar, Hitachi Data Systems, which accounted for
11% of our total revenues. For the year ended Dbeefd1, 2011, we had no customers that accountetdéb or
more of our total revenues. For the year ended mbee 31, 2010, we had one customer, EMC Corporatitich
accounted for 10% of our total revenues. As of Ddwmer 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, Hitachi Dgstegs’
accounts receivable balance was 20% and 11%, tésggcof our gross accounts receivable balance.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2012, we had 427 full-time aad-time employees, consisting of 171 in research &
development, 135 in sales & marketing, 82 in servand 39 in general administration. We are nojestito any
collective bargaining agreements and we believedhaemployee relations are good.

INTERNET ADDRESS AND AVAILABILTY OF FILINGS

Our internet address is www.falconstor.com. The Gamy makes available free of charge, on or thratggh
Internet website, the Company’s Annual Report omt90-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, currenpdtés on
Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filelimished pursuant to Sections 13(a) or (15)(dhefSecurities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as adg@racticable after the Company electronicailsf such
material with, or furnishes it to, the Securitiegld&xchange Commission. The Company complied waith piolicy
for every Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aradnceport filed during the year ended DecembefB12.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

We are affected by risks specific to us as welfaators that affect all businesses operating inadbal
market. The significant factors known to us thatldanaterially adversely affect our business, fitiahcondition,
or operating results are set forth below.

We are operating under a Deferred Prosecution Agreent with the United States Attorney’s Office. e
violate its terms, we could be subject to criminalosecution, which would have a negative impact tre
Company.

On June 27, 2012, we entered into a Deferred Putise Agreement (“DPA”) with the United States
Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of Newokk (“USAQ”). In conjunction with the DPA, a Crimal
Complaint was filed against the Company. The USAftead, as part of the DPA, to defer prosecutiothat
complaint for eighteen months. If we comply fulljth the DPA, the charges will be dismissed atdbeclusion of
the eighteen month period. Among other things,DR&A requires us to continue to comply with variaastrol
changes we had made in response to the discowerintbroper payments had been made to one custmyrtéree
former employees. The DPA also mandates that weotlcommit any criminal acts. If we fail to complith the
DPA, the USAO has the right to prosecute the compknd to file additional charges if we have coitted any
new criminal acts. While we expect to be in comptie with the DPA, a prosecution of the Companyldvbave a
severe negative impact on the long term viabilftthe Company.
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We are among the defendants in a class action laiviy stockholders. While a proposed settlement hagn
filed with the court, we cannot predict the timingr the outcome of these actions, or whether we hadequate
insurance to cover our costs and any damages.

We are defendants in a class action lawsuit bbby Company shareholders (the “Class Action”heT
other defendants are James Weber, our former CEO/aEre President for Operations, and the estatReddane
Huai. Mr. Huai was our former Chairman, Presidam CEO.

The Class Action complaint alleges that the dédets defrauded shareholders by falsely certifyimgur
SEC filings that they had disclosed any fraud, Waetor not material, that involved management dreot
employees who had a significant role in the regigts internal control over financial reportinghd Class Action
complaint alleges that the defendants were indaetre of fraud.

In January, 2013, the parties to the Class Actéatiied an agreement in principle to settle thesGA\ation.
Pursuant to a Memorandum of Understanding signed¢dunsel for the class plaintiffs and by counsel db
defendants, the Company will pay $5.0 million tttleethe Class Action. This amount includes damagkssntiffs’
attorneys’ fees, and costs of administration of sbllement. The Company expects to pay this sattié¢ with a
combination of cash on hand and insurance proceéedsccordance with the Memorandum of Understanding
stipulation of settlement and a joint motion foelpminary approval of the settlement will be suliedtto the court
for its approval. Final settlement of the Classidwtis subject to certain conditions and to apprdyathe court.
We cannot predict if or when the court might aprtive settlement.

Certain of the defendants may be entitled to imiiécation by the Company under the laws of Delava
and/or our by-laws.

While we have insurance policies that we believeecas for the allegations of the Class Action, lveere
already reached an agreement with one insurancierctitat gave us less than the face amount ofrthgrance.
There can be no assurance that the recovery we arakiee remainder of our insurance will be adeqt@ateover
the costs of our defense or settlement of the Glatien, or any damages that might ultimately beaeed against
us or anyone to whom we might owe indemnificatibthe settlement is not approved by the court. @surers
may deny coverage under the policies. If our inscearecovery is not adequate to cover the costet#nse,
settlement, damages and/or indemnification, orimsurers deny coverage, the amounts to be paiidoZompany
could have a significant negative impact on ouafficial results, our cash flows and our cash batance

The Deferred Prosecution Agreement and the factsailed therein could damage our reputation and harour
ability to compete for customers.

The market for network storage solutions is higbbmpetitive. The fact that we are operating unaer
Deferred Prosecution Agreement, the facts detailedein regarding improper payments to one custdigehree
former employees, and the filing of a criminal cdanpt have damaged our reputation and harmed aiityato
compete for customers. We are aware that some ro€@upetitors have used these facts in attemptisguade
potential customers from doing business with uswadelieve some of our competitors will continoedb so in
the future. When potential customers choose nbttoour products or services, or not to licensesadtware, it has
a negative impact on our business.

We have engaged Wells Fargo Securities LLC to advis with regard to potential strategic alternats/eo
enhance stockholder value. There can be no guasnthat we will enter into a strategic transaction that any
such transaction will enhance stockholder value.

The Company has retained the investment banking\ells Fargo Securities, LLC as its exclusiveafinial
advisor to assist the Company in exploring and watalg strategic alternatives to maximize stockéold
value. There can be no guarantee that the Compaiitg @dvisor will be able to identify or to comtdeany
transaction or that any such transaction will ekastockholder value.

We have had significant turnover in our senior magament.

Since September 29, 2010, we have accepted thgnatisins of our CEO; two CFO's; our CTO; two VP% o
Sales for North America; our VP of Sales and Gdndemager for Europe, the Middle East and Africar P of
Sales and General Manager of Asia-Pacific; our ¥Blobal Support; and our VP of Marketing.
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We have filled these positions with highly qualifiendividuals with extensive storage and softwasmpany
experience. However, there can be no guarante¢hthatew senior management will be able to gebugpted and
successfully manage the Company. In addition, with exception of James P. McNiel, we have no enmpéoy
agreements with any of our senior management aré ttan be no assurance that we will be able &nrany or
all of the members of the senior management team.

Our revenues from certain key customers have beealiding and there is no guarantee that we will lable to
replace it.

From 2005 to 2010, revenue from EMC accounted @ or more of our annual revenue. For 2012 arid 20
revenue from EMC was less than 10% of our annuamees and we do not expect that revenue from EMIGev
10% or more of our total revenue at any point mfilture.

We are attempting to replace the revenue we fogmedeived from EMC with revenue from other partnand
from our FalconStor-branded solutions, but themigiuarantee that we will be successful in thésenpts.

A significant portion of our receivables is conceated with one customer.

As of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011¢cHifaata Systems’ accounts receivable balance @s 2
and 11%, respectively, of our gross accounts rabégvbalance. We currently have no reason to expatHitachi
Data Systems will fail to pay the amounts invoicedr do we have any history of non-payment withakliti Data
Systems, but the concentration of this receivabdams that any failure by Hitachi Data Systems tpoymall or a
significant portion of this receivable would havenaterial impact on us.

Our increased emphasis on sales of turn-key applias may not be successful and exposes us to supply,
inventory and support risks.

We now emphasize sales of turn-key appliance®sd lappliances consist of our branded softwarestbadto
industry standard hardware. The hardware, whilelpased from third parties, is FalconStor branddéwbrd can be
no guarantee that we will be more successful geliirese appliances than we have been selling seftorey
solutions.

In addition, the increased emphasis on appliacestes the following additional risks:

» Supply. We are dependent on third parties fordingply of the hardware. If we cannot obtain adeguat
supplies of the hardware, we could lose sales eamenues. If our hardware suppliers discontinueagert
models, our sales could be disrupted while we ind certify replacement models. If customer orders
exceed our expectations, we may not be able twetedll of the appliances to meet those orders in a
particular quarter.

 Inventory. In order to mitigate supply issues, maintain an inventory of appliances. We spend maney
this inventory in advance of customer orders. T$imoney that could have been used for other pegpos
that could have been invested. If the inventorineslequate, we may lose sales or not be able fidl ful
orders in a particular quarter. If the inventoryeicessive, we could end up with obsolete hardv@re
which we have paid and for which we are unablértd buyers, leaving us with a loss.

» Support. While our suppliers are responsible fovjging us with support for their hardware, oustmmers
look to us for support of the entire appliance. Afe responsible for coordinating all support foe th
appliance, whether the problem relates to the swéwor to the hardware. This increases the burdesuo
support group and may require us to hire additisnaport personnel.

We are highly dependent on one third party for teepply of hardware. Changes made by this third fyacould
impact our ability to sell our bundled solutions.

We install our software on industry-standard hamdhy We purchase nearly all of that hardware fimth. We
test our software with the Dell hardware to makee ghat the software runs smoothly. From timeitwet Dell
makes modifications to the hardware or stops aftegertain hardware models. In those instancesnees to
recertify that our software operates properly oe thvised or new hardware. This testing takes.tinfeit is
discovered that we need to modify our softwareperate properly with the revised or new hardware need time
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to make the changes and to certify that the soéwans smoothly. These delays can impact ourtlbdiship our
products in a timely manner and could negativelyast our results.

We are highly dependent on one third party for thepply of hardware and this third party may be dedent on
others for components. Any disruption in the supgliain could impact our ability to ship our produst

We install our software on industry-standard haky We purchase nearly all of that hardware fietl.
The Dell hardware contains many components. Shbeltl experience disruption in its supply chain lIDeight
not be able to provide us with enough hardware ¢etnour needs. For example, in 2011, flooding ailtnd
caused significant disruptions in the worldwide @ypf hard disk drives. We were warned by Dedittthis could
result in the rationing of Dell hardware. Fortweigt Dell was able to meet all of our requiremersit there can be
no guarantee that a similar disruption in the sypphkin will not impact our ability to source afl the hardware we
require. If we are unable to acquire the necedsargware, our revenues will be impacted negatively

Our margins have been and will continue to be impad by our emphasis on FalconStor branded appliasi@nd
the decrease in our OEM sales.

The shift in emphasis from sales of software Isgento sales of turn-key appliances has hurt afit pnargins.

Once software is developed, the cost of licensiach individual copy of the software is lower thiha cost of
selling an appliance. In addition to the costs eis¢ed with licensing software, with sales of tkey appliances we
incur the cost of the hardware itself. Margins @mdware sales are typically quite small, so theal/enargin on
the sale of an appliance is lower than the sakeliwense to stand-alone software.

Software license sales to OEMs typically have highest margins, because no salespeople are coatpdns
support costs are typically lower, and marketingesses are minimal. Sales of FalconStor-brandelibapps and
software require us to compensate salespeopleptide customer support and to market the prodaditsf which
reduce our profit margins.

We had losses for fiscal years 2012, 2011, 2010 @009 and we cannot guarantee that we will returo t
profitability.

We have operated at a loss for each of the pastyfears. We are, and have been, attempting tease
revenues and to decrease costs, but there can dnganantee that we will be profitable again. If gses continue,
we will deplete our available cash and we may rogaible to continue to fund effective sales and etarg or the
research and development activities on which welapendent.

Due to the uncertain and shifting development ofetlilata protection and network storage software metekand
our reliance on our partners, we may have difficyltaccurately predicting revenue for future periodsnd
appropriately budgeting for expenses.

The rapidly evolving nature of the data protectéord network storage software markets in which aleaur
products, the degrees of effort and success opattners’ sales and marketing efforts, and othetofa that are
beyond our control, reduce our ability to accusaferecast our quarterly and annual revenue. Howenve must
use our forecasted revenue to establish our expauindget. Most of our expenses are fixed in thetstesm or
incurred in advance of anticipated revenue. Assaltewe may not be able to decrease our expensadimely
manner to offset any shortfall in revenue.

If we are unable to develop and manufacture new guats that achieve acceptance in the data protettimd the
network storage software markets, our operatingutts may suffer.

The data protection and the network storage sofiwaarkets continue to evolve and as a result tiere
continuing demand for new products. Accordingly, may need to develop and manufacture new prodbets t
address additional data protection or network geraoftware market segments and emerging techmslagi
remain competitive in the data storage softwarestiy. We are uncertain whether we will succesgfyllalify new
data protection or network storage software praludgth our customers by meeting customer performaanud
quality specifications. Any failure to address aidahial market segments could harm our businesgnéial
condition and operating results.
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Our next generation products have been delayed, éimefe can be no guarantee that we will be ablerétease
them in a timely manner.

We now intend to release our next generation prsduacstages over the next two years. It is pdsdhmt the
development schedule could be delayed again omtbawill not be able to develop certain featurB8gcause our
customers expect continuous improvements and iniom& any additional delays in the release of peaducts
could have a material negative impact on our result

Our products must conform to industry standardsander to be accepted by customers in our markets.

Our current products are only one part of a stosgtem. All components of these systems must cpmiph
the same industry standards in order to operatetheg efficiently. We depend on companies that ipkewther
components of these systems to conform to indsséydards. Some industry standards may not be yedkepted
or implemented uniformly, and competing standardy emerge that may be preferred by OEM customeendr
users. If other providers of components do not supthe same industry standards as we do, or ifpetimg
standards emerge, our products may not achieveetnackeptance, which would adversely affect oumess.

Our products may have errors or defects that cotégult in reduced demand for our products or coslitygation.

Our solutions are complex and are designed to Iptogled in large and complex networks. Many of our

customers have unique infrastructures, which mguire additional professional services in orderdor software
to work within their infrastructures. Because oupducts are critical to the networks of our custmneny
significant interruption in their service as a Hesii defects in our product could result in damégeur customers.
These problems could cause us to incur signifisantice and engineering costs, divert engineerarggnnel from
product development efforts and significantly impaiir ability to maintain existing customer relatships and
attract new customers. In addition, a product ligbiclaim, whether successful or not, would liketbe time
consuming and expensive to resolve and would divamagement time and attention. Further, if weum@le to
fix the errors or other problems that may be idadiin full deployment, we would likely experientess of or
delay in revenues and loss of market share anbuminess and prospects would suffer.

Our other products may also contain errors or defétwe are unable to fix the errors or otherljpeons that
may be discovered, we would likely experience loor delay in revenues and loss of market shark aur
business and prospects would suffer.

Failure of storage appliances to integrate smoothlyith end user systems could impact demand for the
appliances.

We offer our software on a stand-alone basis armhetsof an appliance in which we install our safte onto
third party hardware. In addition, we have enteirgd agreements with resellers and OEM partnerdeteelop
storage appliances that combine VTL, CDP, NSS o8 Fiinctionality with third party hardware to creaiagle
purpose turnkey solutions that are designed toalsg o deploy. If the storage appliances are ngy emdeploy or
do not integrate smoothly with end user systene bsic premise behind the appliances will not ke and sales
would suffer.

Issues with the hardware on which our software prads are installed could increase our support costsd
result in lower sales of our products.

We deliver some of our products, both through @sellers and directly to end-users, installed aml tharty
hardware. If the hardware does not function prgpelir support costs will go up. We will have toaarge or pay
for the repair or replacement of the broken haréveard we may have to increase the size of our supperations.
Hardware reliability issues could also cause reselind end-users to refuse to make purchasesugpeven if our
software products function properly.

We rely on our resellers and our OEM customers fapst of our sales.

The vast majority of our sales come from salesnih @sers of our products by our resellers and byGiEM
customers. These resellers and OEM customers lianted resources and sales forces and sell marigrelift
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products, both in the data protection and the nektwgtorage software markets and in other markéts. résellers
and OEM customers may choose to focus their sffietseon other products in the data protection trednetwork
storage software markets or other markets. The @HEsflomers might also choose not to continue toldpwer to

market products which include our products. Thisilddikely result in lower revenues to us and woinghede our
ability to grow our business.

The failure of our resellers to sell our productsfectively could have a material adverse effectaur revenues
and results of operations.

We rely significantly on our value-added resellefisect market resellers, systems integrators angocate
resellers, which we collectively refer to as resmal] for the marketing and distribution of our sa@fte products and
our services. However, our agreements with resellee generally not exclusive, are generally rebévannually
and in many cases may be terminated by either péathput cause. Many of our resellers carry prodiubat are
competitive with ours. These resellers may giveighdr priority to other products, including thosé aur
competitors, or may not continue to carry our peiduat all. If a number of resellers were to digcare or reduce
the sales of our products, or were to promote aunpetitors’ products in lieu of ours, it would haaematerial
adverse effect on our future revenues. Events acuroences of this nature could seriously harm ailessand results
of operations. In addition, we expect that a sigaift portion of our sales growth will depend upur ability to
identify and attract new reseller partners. The afseesellers is an integral part of our distribatinetwork. We
believe that our competitors also use resellemgements. Our competitors may be more successfattiacting
reseller partners and could enter into exclusivatimnships with resellers that make it difficutt Expand our
reseller network. Any failure on our part to expamar network of resellers could impair our ability grow
revenues in the future.

We must maintain our existing relationships and ddwp new relationships with strategic industry paers.

Part of our strategy is to partner with major thpatty software and hardware vendors who integoate
products into their offerings and/or market ourdurcts to others. These strategic partners oftee kastomer or
distribution networks to which we otherwise wouldt thave access or the development of which wolld tgp
large amounts of our time and other resources. eTfeintense competition to establish relationshijth these
strategic partners. We cannot guarantee that querdustrategic partners, or those companies witbrwvwe may
partner in the future, will continue to be our parts for any period of time. If our software wadtoreplaced in an
OEM solution by competing software, or if our scdie is not selected by OEMs for future solutionsyould
likely result in lower revenues to us and would @de our ability to grow our business.

We rely on channel partners to sell our solutioremd disruptions to, or our failure to develop andamage our
channel partners would harm our business.

Our future success is partially dependent uporbéskéng and maintaining successful relationshipth ihe
right channel partners. A majority of our revens@eénerated by sales through our channel partaedsywe expect
channel sales to continue to make up the majofityuo total revenue in the future. Accordingly, aervenues are
largely dependent on the effective sales and leaérmtion activities of these channel partners.

Recruiting and retaining qualified channel partremd training them in our technology and produéeriigs
requires significant time and resources. In ordetdvelop and expand our distribution channel, wstrnontinue to
scale and improve our processes and proceduresstipabrt our channel, including investment in systeand
training. Those processes and procedures may beicame@singly complex and difficult to manage asgra@w our
organization. We have no minimum purchase commitenieam any of our channel partners, and our cetgraith
these channel partners do not prohibit them froferioig products or services that compete with o@sr
competitors may provide incentives to existing pntential channel partners to favor their products prevent or
reduce sales of our solutions. Our channel partmerg choose not to offer our solutions exclusivetyat all.
Establishing relationships with channel partner®whve a history of selling our competitors’ pragumay also
prove to be difficult. In addition, some of our cim&l partners are also competitors. Our failuregstablish and
maintain successful relationships with channelrEag would harm our business and operating results.
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The data protection and network storage softwarerkeds are highly competitive and intense competitioould
negatively impact our business.

The data protection and network storage softwankets are intensely competitive even during periatien
demand is stable. Some of our current and potertiapetitors have longer operating histories, $icgmtly greater
resources, broader name recognition and a largeallied base of customers than we have. Those ddorpeand
other potential competitors may be able to estaldisto expand network storage software offeringsenguickly,
adapt to new technologies and customer requiremfaster, and take advantage of acquisition androthe
opportunities more readily.

Our competitors also may:

» consolidate or establish strategic relationshipsragnthemselves to lower their product costs orthevise
compete more effectively against us; or

» bundle their products with other products to inseedemand for their products.

In addition, some OEMs with whom we do businesdiape to do business, may enter the market diracitly
rapidly capture market share. If we fail to compamtecessfully against current or future competjtots business,
financial condition and operating results may suffe

Our ability to sell our products is highly dependean the quality of our services offerings, and ofailure to
offer high quality support and professional serviavould have a material adverse affect on our satésour
products and results of operations.

Our services include the assessment and desigrwfons to meet our customers’ data protection stodage
management requirements and the efficient insiafiand deployment of our products based on sgecbusiness
objectives. Further, once our products are deploged customers depend on us to resolve issuesngel® our
products. A high level of service is critical fdret successful marketing and sale of our softwéreud partners or
we do not effectively install or deploy our apptiocas, or succeed in helping our customers quic&lolve post-
deployment issues, it would adversely affect oulitgtio sell software products to existing custasi@nd could
harm our reputation with potential customers. Aseault, our failure to maintain high quality suppand
professional services would have a material advefifeet on our sales of our products and resultgpefations.
Failure to achieve anticipated growth could harm phusiness and operating results.

Achieving our anticipated growth will depend onwamber of factors, some of which include:

» retention of key management, marketing and techpeaonnel;
e our ability to increase our customer base anddrease the sales of our products; and
» competitive conditions in the network storage iafracture software market.

We cannot assure you that the anticipated grovilhbe achieved. The failure to achieve anticipaggedwth
could harm our business, financial condition andrafing results.

Our revenues depend in part on spending by corperatistomers.

The operating results of our business depend ih grathe overall demand for data protection andvaek
storage software. Because the market for our softvis primarily major corporate customers, any redt in
demand for data protection or network storage softvwnay result in decreased revenues.

Our future quarterly results may fluctuate signifantly, which could cause our stock price to decline

Our previous results are not necessarily indicati¥eur future performance and our future quartedsults
may fluctuate significantly.
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Our future performance will depend on many factorsluding:

» compliance with the Deferred Prosecution Agreemeith the United States Attorney’s Office and Court
approval of the class action lawsuit;

e fluctuations in the economy;

» the timing of securing software license contracd the delivery of software and related revenuegetition;
» the seasonality of information technology, incluglimetwork storage products, spending;

» the average unit selling price of our products;

e existing or new competitors introducing better pratgd at competitive prices before we do;

e our ability to manage successfully the complex difficult process of qualifying our products withuio
customers;

* new products or enhancements from us or our cotopsti

» our ability to release new and innovative products;

» import or export restrictions on our proprietarghteology; and
e personnel changes.

Many of our expenses are relatively fixed and diffi to reduce or modify. As a result, the fixedura of our
expenses will magnify any adverse effect of a desmeén revenue on our operating results.

Our stock price may be volatile.

The market price of our common stock has been l@lat the past and may be volatile in the futufer
example, during the past twelve months ended Deee3th 2012, the closing market price of our commsimek as
quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market fluctuated beswé1.73 and $3.80. The market price of our comsatock
may be significantly affected by the following farg:

e actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiegults;

» the impact of the Deferred Prosecution Agreememt whether we comply with the Deferred Prosecution
Agreement;

» the status of the class action and derivative |&a/su
» failure to meet financial estimates;

» changes in market valuations of other technologymganies, particularly those in the network storsgéware
market;

» the announcement of any strategic alternatives;

e announcements by us or our competitors of sigmificéechnical innovations, acquisitions, strategic
partnerships, strategic alternatives, joint veegwor capital commitments;

» loss of one or more key customers; and

* departures of key personnel.
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The stock market has experienced extreme volatitint often has been unrelated to the performamce o
particular companies. These market fluctuations caase our stock price to fall regardless of oufopmance.

Our ability to forecast earnings is limited by thepact of certain accounting requirements.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board requimsaganies to recognize the fair value of stock oytiand
other share-based payment compensation to emplageesmpensation expense in the statement of apesat
However, this expense, which we estimate basecheriBlack-Scholes” model, is subject to factors doey our
control. These factors include the market pricewf stock on a particular day and stock price “iilitp.” These
unknowns make it difficult for us to forecast acuaty what the amount of share-based compensatjpense will
be in the future. Because of these factors, olityath make accurate forecasts of future earnisgsompromised.

Our marketable securities portfolio could experiem@a decline in market value which could materialgnd
adversely affect our financial results.

As of December 31, 2012, we held short-term matKetsecurities aggregating $10.5 million. We invesa
mixture of corporate bonds, government securitied marketable debt securities, the majority of Wwhéce high
investment grade, and we limit the amount of cregfiosure through diversification and investmertighly rated
securities. However, investing in highly rated sé®s does not entirely mitigate the risk of pdtehdeclines in
market value. A further deterioration in the ecogpincluding further tightening of credit markets significant
volatility in interest rates, could cause our méakée securities to decline in value or could imgae liquidity of
the portfolio. If market conditions deteriorate réfgcantly, our results of operations or financtandition could be
materially and adversely affected.

The ability to predict our future effective tax ras could impact our ability to accurately forecdsture earnings.

We are subject to income taxes in both the UnitedeS and the various foreign jurisdictions in vhige
operate. Judgment is required in determining ooripion for income taxes and there are many traisecand
calculations where the tax determination may beertam. Our future effective tax rates could beeetiéd by
changes in our (i) earnings or losses; (ii) chanigeise valuation of our deferred tax assets; ¢lianges in tax laws;
and (iv) other factors. Our ability to correctlyeplict our future effective tax rates based uposehmssible changes
could significantly impact our forecasted earnings.

The likelihood of a change of control in our compgncould be impacted by the fact that we have a gigant
amount of authorized but unissued preferred stock,staggered Board of Directors and change of comtro
agreements as well as certain provisions underdere law.

Our Board of Directors has the authority, withoutttier action by the stockholders, to issue up,6®@,000
shares of preferred stock on such terms and with sights, preferences and designations, includwitghout
limitation restricting dividends on our common dtpdlilution of the voting power of our common stoakd
impairing the liquidation rights of the holdersafr common stock, as the Board may determine witany vote of
the stockholders. Issuance of such preferred stigending upon the rights, preferences and datsigs thereof
may have the effect of delaying, deterring or préwvigy a change in control. In addition, certain tfaakeover”
provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Lamong other things, may restrict the ability ofr ou
stockholders to authorize a merger, business catibmor change of control. Further, we have agstegd Board
of Directors and have entered into change of cbrigoeements through either employment agreements2005
Key Executive Severance Protection Plan with certxecutives, or certain incentives provided totaier
employees which may also have the effect of detpydeterring or preventing a change in control.

We have a significant number of outstanding optignthe exercise of which would dilute the then-exigf
stockholders’ percentage ownership of our commoacst, and a smaller number of restricted shares ek, the
vesting of which will also dilute the then-existirggockholders’ percentage ownership of our commadock.

As of December 31, 2012, we had outstanding optiormurchase 11,360,842 shares of our common stock,
and we had an aggregate of 171,190 outstandingictedt shares and restricted stock units. If alltlése
outstanding options were exercised, and all ofatltstanding restricted stock and restricted statgtswested, the
proceeds to the Company would average $4.59 peeskée also had 2,526,036 shares of our commork stoc
reserved for issuance under our stock plans wiheet to options (or restricted stock or restricttmtk units) that
have not been granted. In addition, if, on Julydfsany calendar year in which our 2006 Incentiteck Plan, as
amended (the “2006 Plan”), is in effect, the numbkshares of stock to which options, restrictedreh and
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restricted stock units may be granted is less thenpercent (5%) of the number of outstanding shasf stock,
then the number of shares of stock available frdaace under the 2006 Plan shall be increasedasththnumber
equals five percent (5%) of the shares of stocktantling. In no event shall the number of sharesaak subject to
the 2006 Plan in the aggregate exceed twenty miiltares, subject to adjustment as provided i2@06 Plan. See
Note (2)Share-Based Payment Arrangementsur consolidated financial statements.

The exercise of all of the outstanding options andhe vesting of all outstanding restricted shaaed
restricted stock units and/or the grant and exerofsadditional options and/or the grant and vestifh restricted
stock and restricted stock units would dilute thentexisting stockholders’ percentage ownershigoaimon stock,
and any sales in the public market of the commamksissuable upon such exercise could adversebciaff
prevailing market prices for the common stock. &toer, the terms upon which we would be able taiobt
additional equity capital could be adversely akecbecause the holders of such securities can peced to
exercise or convert them at a time when we wouldlli likelihood, be able to obtain any needed @dmn terms
more favorable than those provided by such seegriti

Our business could be materially affected as a ¢saf a natural disaster, terrorist acts, or otheratastrophic
events.

While our headquarters facilities contain redundamwer supplies and generators, our domestic areigfo
operations, and the operations of our industryneast remain susceptible to fire, floods, powers|ogsower
shortages, telecommunications failures, break+massimilar events.

Terrorist actions domestically or abroad could l¢adbusiness disruptions or to cancellations oftaraer
orders or a general decrease in corporate spewdingformation technology, or could have direct aopon our
marketing, administrative or financial functiongdasur financial condition could suffer.

In 2011, our supply of hardware components was atgohby floods in Thailand. We continually look for
alternatives to help mitigate any supply chainufiions due to natural disasters, terrorist actstloer catastrophic
events. However, our failure to mitigate these sumhain disruptions could impact our ability toopure and
deliver products to our customers, which could asklgy impact our overall financial condition.

We are dependent on a variety of IT and telecomnuations systems, and any failure of these systemsda
adversely impact our business and operating results

We depend on IT and telecommunications systemotioroperations. These systems support a variety of
functions including order processing, shippingpsiént tracking, billing, support center and intérinéormation
exchange.

Failures or significant downtime of our IT or teb@emunications systems could prevent us from taking
customer orders, shipping products, billing custankandling support calls, or communication amougoffices.
The Internet and individual websites have expegdrec number of disruptions and slowdowns, somehi¢lwwere
caused by organized attacks. In addition, some itesbfave experienced security breakdowns. If weewe
experience a security breakdown, disruption or divghat compromised sensitive information, it cobldm our
relationship with our customers. Our support centee dependent upon telephone and data servicesigul by
third party telecommunications service vendorsamdl T and telecommunications system. Any signifidacrease
in our IT and telecommunications costs or tempo@rpermanent loss of our IT or telecommunicatisypstems
could harm our relationships with our customerse dhcurrence of any of these events could haveleerse effect
on our operations and financial results.

United States Government export restrictions coirtthede our ability to sell our software to certaémd users.

Certain of our products include the ability for taed user to encrypt data. The United States, gtrdbe
Bureau of Industry Security, places restrictionstlom export of certain encryption technology. Thessrictions
may include: the requirement to have a licensexfmort the technology; the requirement to havenwsaok licenses
approved before export is allowed; and outrightsban the licensing of certain encryption technoltmyarticular
end users or to all end users in a particular eguftertain of our products are subject to variteyels of export
restrictions. These export restrictions could nieght impact our business.
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The international nature of our business could haa® adverse affect on our operating results.

We sell our products worldwide. Accordingly, oureogting results could be materially adversely aéédy
various factors including regulatory, political, economic conditions in a specific country or regidrade
protection measures and other regulatory requirésnand acts of terrorism and international cotslic

Additional risks inherent in our international busss activities generally include, among othersgdo
accounts receivable payment cycles, difficultiesnianaging international operations, decreased hilléyi in
matching workforce needs as compared with the @u&l,potentially adverse tax consequences. Sutbrdacould
materially adversely affect our future internatibs@es and, consequently, our operating results.

Foreign currency fluctuations may impact our revees.

Our licenses and services in Japan are sold in Many of our licenses and services in the Repudfli€orea,
Australia, Canada, and in Europe, the Middle Eamt Africa (‘EMEA”) are sold in Won, Canadian dokar
Australian dollars, and European Monetary Unitsuftts”), respectively.

Changes in economic or political conditions gldpaind in any of the countries in which we operateild
result in exchange rate movements, new curren@xohnange controls or other restrictions being irepgosn our
operations.

Fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar magversely affect our results of operations. Because
consolidated financial results are reported in W8llars, translation of sales or earnings gendrate other
currencies into U.S. dollars can result in a sigaift increase or decrease in the reported amduhbse sales or
earnings. Significant changes in the value of tHessign currencies relative to the U.S. dollarldduave a material
adverse effect on our financial condition or resolt operations.

Fluctuations in currencies relative to currengiesvhich our earnings are generated make it mdfeut to
perform period-to-period comparisons of our repbmrtesults of operations. For purposes of accountimg assets
and liabilities of our foreign operations, where tlocal currency is the functional currency, aenstated using
period-end exchange rates, and the revenues, egand cash flows of our foreign operations amsteged using
average exchange rates during each period.

In addition to currency translation risks, weuncurrency transaction risk whenever we enter gither a
purchase or a sales transaction using a currer@yr d¢ihan the local currency of the transactingtgn@iven the
volatility of exchange rates, we cannot be asswedvill be able to effectively manage our curreti@nsaction
and/or translation risks. Volatility in currencyatvange rates may have a material effect on oundiahcondition
or results of operations. Currency exchange raigfations have not, in the past, resulted in aeri@timpact on
earnings. However, we may experience at timeseérfuture an impact on earnings as a result of §oreurrency
exchange rate fluctuations.

Since 2009, we have utilized a program to hedgeesof our foreign currency risks from time to tinTehe
hedging program will not remove all downside risiddimits the gains we might otherwise receive froanrency
fluctuations. There can be no assurance that wewiable to enter into future currency hedgeseoms$ acceptable
to us (see Note (1Derivative Financial Instrument® our consolidated financial statements).

Because we conduct operations in China, risks asatexl with economic, political and social events @hina
could negatively affect our business and operatimggults.

China is becoming a significant market for our pretd and we are increasing our operations in CHima.
addition to a joint venture with the Chinese Acaglesh Science, we have OEM agreements with sevehalgse
companies. We also have research and developmeérdates offices in China employing a total of 4®pe as of
December 31, 2012. Our operations in China areestlt¢y a number of risks relating to China’s ecoiwoend
political systems, including:

» government controlled foreign exchange rate anddiions on the convertibility of the Chinese Renhij
» extensive government regulation;
» changing governmental policies relating to tax iemavailable to foreign-owned businesses;
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* the telecommunications infrastructure;
« relatively uncertain legal system; and
e uncertainties related to continued economic andhkoeform.

Any significant interruption in our China operat&yrwhether resulting from any of the above unceties,
natural disasters or otherwise, could result iragelor disruptions in our revenue and our resedestelopment
operations, either of which could cause our busiaesl operating results to suffer.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual proggr our business will suffer.

Our success is dependent upon our proprietary thagyn We have 21 patents issued, and we have plaulti
pending patent applications, numerous trademaxkistezed and multiple pending trademark applicaticriated to
our products. We cannot predict whether we willeree patents for our pending or future patent @agilbns, and
any patents that we own or that are issued to yshaanvalidated, circumvented or challenged. Iditah, the
laws of certain countries in which we sell and nfanture our products, including various countrieAsia, may
not protect our products and intellectual propedits to the same extent as the laws of the UrStades.

We also rely on trade secret, copyright and tradkrzavs, as well as the confidentiality and othestrictions
contained in our respective sales contracts anfideomiality agreements to protect our proprietaghts. These
legal protections afford only limited protection.

Our efforts to protect our intellectual property nyacause us to become involved in costly and lenditiyation,
which could seriously harm our business.

In recent years, there has been significant litbgain the United States involving patents, tradesand other
intellectual property rights.

We were already subject to one action, which adetpat our technology infringed on patents heldakird
party. While we settled this litigation, the fegglaxpenses of the litigation as well as the ltt@asettlement were
expensive and the litigation diverted managemadirtie and attention. In addition, as part of our a@ng litigation
with Avazpour Networking Services, Inc., we havedicounterclaims for copyright infringement. Angditional
litigation, regardless of its outcome, would likddg time consuming and expensive to resolve anddnagivrert
management's time and attention and might subjsectousignificant liability for damages or invaligabur
intellectual property rights. Any potential intedtaal property litigation against us could forcetagake specific
actions, including:

 cease selling our products that use the challeimgeliectual property;

 obtain from the owner of the infringed intelledtpeoperty right a license to sell or use the rafgv
technology or trademark, which license may not\@lable on reasonable terms, or at all; or

* redesign those products that use infringing iatéllal property or cease to use an infringing pcodu
trademark.

Developments limiting the availability of Open Sa# software could impact our ability to deliver ghacts and
could subject us to costly litigation.

Many of our products are designed to include saftvaa other intellectual property licensed fronrdhparties,
including “Open Source” software. At least one liettual property rights holder has alleged thdtalds the rights
to software traditionally viewed as Open Sourceadidition, United States courts have not intergrébe terms of
many open source licenses, and there is a riskstiat licenses could be construed in a mannercthdtl impose
unanticipated conditions or restrictions on outigbio commercialize our appliances. We could bguired to seek
licenses from third parties in order to continuenhg our software, to re-engineer our softwasediscontinue the
sale of our software in the event re-engineerimgoabe accomplished on a timely basis or to liggany disputes
relating to our use of open source software, anytdth could harm our business. There can be naoraisse that
the necessary licenses would be available on aaiolepterms, if at all. The inability to obtain aért licenses or
other rights or to obtain such licenses or rightgavorable terms, or the need to engage in libgategarding these
matters, could have a material adverse effect arbosiness, operating results, and financial camitMoreover,
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the inclusion in our products of software or otlmellectual property licensed from third parties @ nonexclusive
basis could limit our ability to protect our progtary rights in our products.

The loss of any of our key personnel could harm dursiness.

Our success depends upon the continued contrilsutidnour key employees, many of whom would be
extremely difficult to replace. We do not have kegrson life insurance on any of our personnel. duide
competition for skilled employees in the networtirage software industry is extremely intense. Ifase unable to
retain existing employees or to hire and integreg® employees, our business, financial conditioth @perating
results could suffer. In addition, companies wheswloyees accept positions with competitors oftaimcthat the
competitors have engaged in unfair hiring practid®e may be the subject of such claims in the &uas we seek
to hire qualified personnel and could incur suhbtséhicosts defending ourselves against those claims

We may not successfully integrate the productshtemlogies or businesses from, or realize the inteddoenefits
of acquisitions.

We have made, and may continue to make, acquisitidrother companies or their assets. Integratfothe
acquired products, technologies and businessef] doxert management’s time and resources thougiave no
agreements, commitments or understanding with ot$peany acquisition. Further, we may not be ablproperly
integrate the acquired products, technologies simlegses, with our existing products and operatimas, retain
and motivate personnel from the acquired businessesombine potentially different corporate cudtsir If we are
unable to fully integrate the acquired productshimlogies or businesses, or train, retain andvataipersonnel
from the acquired businesses, we may not receweéntiended benefits of the acquisitions, which ddurm our
business, operating results and financial condition

If actual results or events differ materially frorour estimates and assumptions, our reported finaalatondition
and results of operations for future periods coute materially affected.

The preparation of consolidated financial statememtd related disclosure in accordance with gegeral
accepted accounting principles requires managetoeastablish policies that contain estimates arsdiraptions
that affect the amounts reported in the consolttifiteancial statements and the accompanying nbdtete 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in this ReporForm 10-K describes the significant accountinggies and
estimates essential to preparing our financiakstants. The preparation of these financial statérequires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the regp@imounts of assets, liabilities, revenues aneresgs, and
related disclosures. We base our estimates ornricat@xperience and assumptions that we beliel® teeasonable
under the circumstances. Actual future results midfier materially from these estimates. We evaluyate an
ongoing basis, our estimates and assumptions.

Character of Investments

Our present and future equity investments may neygreciate in value, and are subject to normésris
associated with equity investments in businességsé investments may involve technology risks ai ase
commercialization risks and market risks. As a ltesme may be required to write down some or alltioése
investments in the future.

Unknown Factors

Additional risks and uncertainties of which we areware or which currently we deem immaterial afsy
become important factors that affect us.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None
Item 2. Properties

The Company’'s headquarters are located in an appabaly 59,000 square foot facility in Melville, We
York. Offices are also leased for developmentpsuty and sales and marketing personnel, which astaggregate
of approximately 66,000 square feet in Le ChesmalyToulouse, France; Reading, UK; Munich, Germamgdrid,
Spain; Taipei and Taichung, Taiwan; Tokyo, Japagiji®), Shenzhen, Shanghai, and Hong Kong, Chieau
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Korea; Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia; North Sydney, Auk#&aand Singapore. Initial lease terms range fraom to six
years, with multiple renewal options.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In view of the inherent difficulty of predictindi¢ outcome of litigation, particularly where thainhants seek
very large or indeterminate damages, the Compamgrgdly cannot predict what the eventual outcomehef
pending matters will be, what the timing of theralte resolution of these matters will be, or wihat eventual loss,
fines or penalties related to each pending matter ine.

In accordance with the authoritative guidance @édsby the FASB on contingencies, the Company ascrue
anticipated costs of settlement, damages and Idsseslaims to the extent specific losses are potdband
estimable. The Company records a receivable fouramee recoveries when such amounts are probalde an
collectable. In such cases, there may be an expdeuoss in excess of any amounts accrued.t thextime of
evaluation, the loss contingency related to adtt@n is not both probable and estimable, theemaitll continue to
be monitored for further developments that wouldkensuch loss contingency both probable and estirartud, the
Company will expense these costs as incurredelestimate of a probable loss is a range and naigmathin the
range is more likely, the Company will accrue theimum amount of the range.

The Internal and Government Investigations

As previously disclosed, both the United Statesosey’'s Office for the Eastern District of New Yor
("USAQ") and the Securities and Exchange Commisgl@EC”) commenced investigations of the Company in
October, 2010, in response to the Company’'s anrenant that it had accepted the resignation of Rei#tuai, its
President and Chief Executive Officer, and the @han of its Board of Directors, following his dissure to the
Company that certain improper payments allegedlyewaade in connection with the Company’s licensifig
software to one customer.

The Company conducted its own investigation irtte tnatter and cooperated with the USAO and SEC
investigations.

On June 27, 2012, the Company announced thadl iehtered into settlements with the USAO and th€.SE

The Company entered into a Deferred Prosecutioreékxgent (DPA) with the USAO. Under the DPA, the
USAO agreed that it will defer prosecution of then@pany in connection with the matter, and ultimatebt
prosecute the Company if the Company satisfieshtigations during the 18 month term of the DPAheTDPA
acknowledges the remedial actions taken by the @omin response to its discovery of the impropegmngents and
does not require the Company to make any additicoratrol or compliance changes. Under the DPAQbmpany
will forfeit $2.9 million over eighteen months.

The Company agreed with the SEC to the entry @basent Judgment (CJ) to settle a civil actiordfitgy the
SEC. Pursuant to the CJ, the Company agreed nobliate the anti-fraud and registration provisiaisSections
17(a)(2), 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act 0839and the books and records provisions of Sexti&{b)(2)(A)
and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Securities Exchange Act@34. The Company further agreed to pay a civilajtgrof $2.9
million to the SEC.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company has paitiah a6 $4.1 million of the total $5.8 million, farhich the
Company had previously accrued. The balance of ®illibn is payable in December 2013.

Stockholder Litigation

The Company is a defendant in a class action lawsought in United Stated District Court for tEastern
District of New York, by Company shareholders (tfdass Action”). The other defendants are JamebéNeour
former CFO and Vice President for Operations, &edestate of ReiJane Huai. Mr. Huai was the Conmipdagmer
Chairman, President and CEO.

The Class Action complaint alleges that the defatwl@efrauded shareholders by falsely certifyingha
Company’'s SEC filings that they had disclosed amawyd, whether or not material, that involved mamaget or
other employees who had a significant role in thgistrant’s internal control over financial repogi The Class
Action complaint alleges that the defendants werfact aware of fraud.
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In January, 2013, the parties to the Class Aateaithed an agreement in principle to settle the<Chection.
Pursuant to a Memorandum of Understanding signed@dunsel for the class plaintiffs and by counsel dt
defendants, the Company will pay $5.0 million tttleethe Class Action. This amount includes damagkssntiffs’
attorneys’ fees, and costs of administration of sbtllement. The Company expects to pay this settié with a
combination of cash on hand and insurance procdedsccordance with the Memorandum of Understanding
stipulation of settlement and a joint motion foelgninary approval of the settlement will be suliedtto the court
for its approval. Final settlement of the Classidwtis subject to certain conditions and to apprdyathe court.
We cannot predict if or when the court might apgrdive settlement. Certain of the defendants magritided to
indemnification by the Company under the laws ofad&re and/or our by-laws.

While the Company has insurance policies thaelieles will cover it for the allegations of thea8$ Action,
the Company has already reached an agreement mgtlineurance carrier that gave it less than the &mcount of
the insurance. There can be no assurance thaetbegary the Company makes on the remainder oh#srance
will be adequate to cover the costs of its defemssettlement of the Class Action, or any damages$ might
ultimately be awarded against the Company or anyonehom the Company might owe indemnificationtié t
settlement is not approved by the court. The Caygainsurers may deny coverage under the polidfethe
Company’s insurance recovery is not adequate tcercdkie costs of defense, settlement, damages and/or
indemnification, or its insurers deny coverage, dneounts to be paid by the Company could have rifigignt
negative impact on its financial results, its clistvs and its cash balances.

The Company’s Directors and Officers (“D&0O”) Insuce, is composed of more than one layer, each laye
written by a different insurance company. Aftee ttiose of the third quarter, in connection with tlass Action,
and in connection with the Derivative Action dissed below, the Company entered into an agreemehttihe
carrier of the first $5.0 million layer of the Coamy’'s D&O insurance. Pursuant to this agreeméet,Gompany
accepted a payment of $3.9 million from the fiestdr insurance carrier in satisfaction of the eaisiobligations to
the Company under the first layer D&O insurancegyol The combined costs of (i) defense of the €kastion and
the Derivative Action, and (ii) the proposed $5.0lion settlement of the Class Action exceeds $3ifion, and
the Company is responsible for paying the next $iillion of costs, settlement amounts or liabilitp to $5.0
million, before the next layer of the Company’s Dé&if@surance might cover the Company. This $5.0 amilli
payment, when and if made, will negatively impdstdash flows and its cash reserves when paicaddiition, as
part of the October 2012 agreement with the cartier Company agreed to indemnify the carrier effitst layer
of D&O insurance against potential claims by certaamed insured persons under the first layer D&Suiance
policy. The Company cannot predict the likelihoadte outcome of any such claims by the named éusur

There can be no assurance that the amount of mergdd&0O insurance will be adequate to cover thstsof
the Company’s defense of the Class Action or ampadpes that might be awarded against the Compamnyr
defendant(s) to whom we owe indemnification. Thenpany’s remaining insurers may deny coverage uttger
policies. If the plaintiffs are awarded damages redCompany’s insurance is not adequate to céneamounts, or
its insurers deny coverage, the amounts to belpaiie Company could have a significant negativeaot on our
financial results, our cash flow and our cash ne=er

To date, the Company has recorded $6.6 milliortotdl costs associated with the Class Action ared th
Derivative Actions. The Company has recorded dlifglin the amount of $5.2 million in “accrued eaqpses” in the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, &0ith includes estimated costs of the proposed<Chetion
settlement and legal fees for both the Class Acdiod the Derivative Action to date. As a resultled agreement
reached with the Company’'s D&O insurance carribe Company has recorded an insurance recovery of
approximately $3.9 million of legal expenses presly incurred related to the class action and dgixie lawsuits
as well as the potential settlement of the clasisratawsuits. The $3.9 million insurance recovergs reimbursed
by the Company’s insurance carrier during 2012Zdnnection with discussions with the insurer & @ompany’s
next layer of D&O insurance regarding that inswga@bligations to the Company, the Company has decba $1.0
million receivable in “prepaid expenses and otherent assets” in the consolidated balance sheet Becember
31, 2012.

Company shareholders filed actions in the Suffotku@y Division of the Supreme Court of the StatéNefv
York, putatively derivatively on behalf of the Coany, against the Company, each of the Company'sciurs,
Mr. Weber, Wayne Lam, a former Vice President & @ompany, the estate of Mr. Huai, and Jason Lforraer
employee of the Company (the “Derivative ActionThe consolidated amended Derivative Action complain
alleged that the defendants breached their duti¢het Company by: (1) causing or allowing the disis@tion of
false and misleading information; (2) failing to imain internal controls; (3) failing to manage tB®mpany
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properly; (4) unjustly enriching themselves; (Susing their control of the Company; and (6) wast®gmpany
assets.

On March 5, 2013, the Suffolk County Division diet Supreme Court of the State of New York granted a
motion made by all of the defendants in the Deieaf\ction, except Mr. Lin, and dismissed the Dative Action
as to all defendants other than Mr. Lin.

During 2012, we recorded a $0.3 million reductifrinvestigation, litigation and settlement relatmbts. The
reduction was comprised of (i) a $1.7 million retime in the accrual for certain costs associateti thie resolution
of the government investigations and (ii) a recgwar$0.3 million of legal expenses previously ined related to
the class action and derivative lawsuits, partiafiset by (i) $1.5 million of legal expenses relhtto the class
action and derivative lawsuits as well as for tioteptial settlement of the class action lawsuit #ra not or may
not be recoverable through insurance and (ii) $0illon of legal fees incurred related to the desion of the
government investigations.

Avazpour Litigation

The Company is the defendant in an action brobghfAvazpour Networking Services, Inc., and its ferm
principals (collectively, “Avazpour”), pending ime& United States District Court for the Easterntiis of New
York. Avazpour alleged that the Company gave gyossgligent advice in connection with an upgrade of
Avazpour’s storage system resulting in damagesvazpour and breached its contract with Avazpou®n March
13, 2013, the Court granted the Company’s motiodismiss all of the claims except for the claimboéach of
contract. The Company believes that limitatiodiability clauses of the contract mean that Avaapwaill not be
able to collect any damages.

The Company cannot predict when the Avazpour adtitl be resolved or its outcome. While the Canp
has insurance policies that it believes coversGbmpany for the allegations of the Avazpour Actititere can be
no assurance that the amount of insurance will dexj@ate to cover the costs of the Company’'s defefiske
Avazpour Action or any damages that might be awdatginst it. If the plaintiffs are awarded dassmgnd the
Company’s insurance is not adequate to cover trmuats, or the Company’s insurers deny coverageatheunts
to be paid by the Company could have a significegative impact on its financial results, cash flamd cash
reserves.

Other Claims

The Company is subject to various legal proceediagd claims, asserted or unasserted, which ariseei
ordinary course of business. While the outcomengfsaaich matters cannot be predicted with certasugh matters
are not expected to have a material adverse effettie Company’s financial condition or operatieguits.

The Company continues to assess certain litigadioth claims to determine the amounts, if any, that
Company believes may be paid as a result of sugiimsland litigation and, therefore, additional &sssnay be
accrued and paid in the future, which could maligredversely impact the Company’s financial results cash
flows and its cash reserves.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART Il

Iltem 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our Common Stock is listed on The Nasdaq Globatkita(“Nasdag”) under the symbol “FALC”. The
following table sets forth the range of high andlolosing sales prices of our Common Stock for the
periods indicated as reported by Nasdagq:

2012 2011
High  Low High  _Low
Fourth Quarter $ 248 $ 2.01 $ 355 $ 2.49
Third Quarter $ 272 $ 173 $ 465 $ 282
Second Quarter $ 380 $ 246 $ 455 $ 3.66
First Quarter $ 377 $ 242 $ 491 $ 3.22
Holders
We had approximately 123 holders of record of ComrBtock as of February 28, 2013. This does not
reflect persons or entities that hold Common Siaakominee or “street” name through various brogera
firms.
Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our comnmek ssince inception. We expect to reinvest any
future earnings to finance growth, and thereforendbintend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeabl

future. Our board of directors may determine to faigyre cash dividends if it determines that divide
are an appropriate use of Company capital.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The Company currently does not have any equity @msgtion plans not approved by security holders.

Number of securitie
remaining available for
future issuance under

Number of securitiesto ~ Weighted-average equity compensation
be issued upon exercise  exercise price of plans (excluding
of outstanding options, outstanding options, securities reflected in
warrants and rights (1) warrants and rights (1) column (a)) (1)
Plan Category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders 11,532,032 $4.59 2,526,036

(1) As of December 31, 2012 we had 2,526,036 sharesio€ommon stock reserved for issuance under
our stock plans with respect to options (or restdcstock or restricted stock units) that havebesn
granted. In addition, if, on July 1st of any calanglear in which our 2006 Plan is in effect, thenber
of shares of stock to which options may be gramgel@ss than five percent (5%) of the number of
outstanding shares of stock, then the number akshaf stock available for issuance under the 2006
Plan shall be increased so that the number egiwalpércent (5%) of the shares of stock outstanding

See Note (8phare-Based Payment Arrangemeioi®ur consolidated financial statements for ferth
information.
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Performance graph

The following graph compares, for each of the pigimdicated, the percentage change in the Company’
cumulative total stockholder return on the Comparggmmon stock with the cumulative total returrapf
Morningstar Data Storage companies, a peer grodgximnd b) the Russell 3000 Index, a broad equity
market index.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among FalconStor Software, Inc., The Russell 3000tlex
and Morningstar Data Storage.
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—4— FalconStor Software, Inc. - - - Russell 3000 Index Morningstar Data Storage

ASSUMES $100 INVESTED ON JANUARY 1, 2008
ASSUMES DIVIDEND REINVESTED
FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2012

Fiscal Year Ending
12/31/2007 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2010 12/31/2012/3142012

FalconStor Software, Inc. $ 100.0G5 24.69 $ 36.06 $ 29.75 $ 2291 $ 20.69
Russell 3000 Index $ 100.00% 62.69 $ 80.45 $ 94.07 $ 95.04 $ 110.64
Morningstar Data Storage $ 100.06 4787 $ 10133 $ 120.15$ 108.18 $ 128.58

There can be no assurance that the common stoeK@rmance will continue with the same or similands
depicted in the graph above.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data appearing below hawen lerived from our audited consolidated financial
statements, and should be read in conjunction thitke consolidated financial statements and thesrtbereto and
the information contained in Item 7, “Managemeiiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of
Operations.”
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010 (a 200¢ 200¢

(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue:

Product revenue $ 41,35¢ 3% 49,47C  $ 51,90 $ 61,23 $ 61,56¢

Support and services revent 34,05: 33,40( 30,93¢ 28,22! 25,45¢

Total revenue 75,41 82,87 82,84« 89,45¢ 87,02!
Cost of revenue

Product 8,21! 8,38" 9,29: 3,39( 2,63¢

Support and servic 12,44 13,13( 12,14¢ 13,67 11,38:

Total cost of revenue 20,66: 21,51° 21,43¢ 17,06 14,02(
Gross profit $ 54,74¢ $ 61,35« $ 61,408 $ 72,39: $ 73,00«
Operating expens

Research and development cc 18,63¢ 21,20( 26,90t 26,61( 25,15(

Selling and marketin 36,00¢ 39,59¢ 40,84! 42 25! 38,09

General and administrati 13,33¢ 11,69° 9,62t 9,87! 8,74¢

Investigation, litigation, and settlem

related cos (32€ 10,257 1,61t - -

Restructuring cos 77 82: - - -

Total operating expens 68,42: 83,57 78,99: 78,74( 71,99:
Operating (loss) incon (13,67¢ (22,22( (17,58¢ (6,34¢ 1,01:
Interest and other (loss) income, (522 6( (212 (12¢ 1,68¢

(Loss) income before income ta> (14,19¢ (22,16( (17,802 (6,47¢€ 2,70(
Provision (benefit) for income taxi 78t 1,20¢ 17,57« (3,38¢ 1,49¢
Net (loss) income $ (14984) $ (23,368%  (35,376) _ $ (3,093) % 1,203

Basic net (loss) income per share $ (0.32% (0.50) $ 0.78) % an $ 0.03
Diluted net (loss) income per share $ 37p. % (0.50) $ 078 $ (0.07) % 0.02

Weighted average basic she
outstanding 47,409 46,649 485 44,782 47,859

Weighted average diluted she
outstanding 47,409 46,649 485 44,782 49,497

(a) During 2010, we recorded a non-recurring tax ptiovi®f $16.3 million (included in our net tax preion
of $17.6 million) as we concluded that we couldarger realize substantially all of our deferrexl éasets
on a more-likely-than-not basis, which resultedimincrease in a valuation allowance on our dedeta
assets previously recognized. See Notel(@pme Taxedo our consolidated financial statements for
further information.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash
and marketable securities

Working capital

Total assets

Long-term obligations

Stockholders' equity

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, @eloer 31,
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)

$ 29,932 % 37,763 $ 37,325 % 41,783 % 42,810
10,613 20,382 35,475 46,097 48,329
59,705 73,047 76,545 99,002 96,364
9,099 10,285 9,063 6,254 6,192
13,253 22,817 39,939 66,153 65,076
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ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis ofiRancial Condition and Results of Operations

The following Management’s Discussion and Analg§i§inancial Condition and Results of Operationsitains
“forward-looking statements” within the meaning $éction 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and &=e&iLE of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These forhmrking statements can be identified by the usgredictive,
future-tense or forward-looking terminology, such “delieves,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “estimate$,“plans,”

“may,” “intends,” “will,” or similar terms. Investors are cautioned that any forward-looking stateteesre not
guarantees of future performance and involve siggnift risks and uncertainties, and that actual lesmay differ
materially from those projected in the forward-logk statements. The following discussion shouldebe together
with the consolidated financial statements and sittethose financial statements included elsewinettgis report.

OVERVIEW

In 2012, we continued to reposition the Companpub our past troubles behind us and to put in pthee
proper management, employees and plans for fuloeess.

The most significant event of 2012 for the Compamg our resolution of the investigations by thetekhi
States Attorney’s Office for the Eastern Distridt Mew York (“USAQ”) and by the Securities and Exolge
Commission.

In June, 2012, we entered into a Deferred Prosat#greement (“DPA”) with the USAO. In conjunction
with the DPA, a Criminal Complaint was filed agdittee Company. The USAO agreed, as part of the D& Aefer
prosecution of that complaint for eighteen montiHswve comply fully with the DPA, the charges wile dismissed
at the conclusion of the eighteen month period. oAghother things, the DPA requires us to contimedmply
with various control changes we had made in resptmshe discovery that improper payments had beade to
one customer by three former employees. The DB mlandates that we do not commit any criminal. alftsve
fail to comply with the DPA, the USAO has the rightprosecute the complaint and to file additicctedrges if we
have committed any new criminal acts. In additiwe,agreed to forfeit $2.9 million. We paid $1.2lion during
the third quarter of 2012 and we will pay the remvag $1.7 million in December, 2013.

We agreed with the SEC to the entry of a Consedgient (CJ) to settle a civil action filed by tBEC.
Pursuant to the CJ, we agreed not to violate thiefraud and registration provisions of Sectionga){2), 5(a) and
5(c) of the Securities Act of 1933, and the boaks eecords provisions of Sections 13(b)(2)(A) aB¢b)(2)(B) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. We furtheeed to pay a civil penalty of $2.9 million to tBEC. This fine
was paid in full during the second quarter of 2012.

The resolution of these investigations is a milestéor the Company. This should enable us to nwve
from the events of the past and concentrate onCidvapany’s future. We will no longer be distracteg the
substantial time and effort it took to complete imeestigations. We can now dedicate our resourdesth capital
and human — to efforts that we hope will positiviehpact our bottom line. In addition, it reducés fpotential of
our competitors to raise concerns about the Compdnysiness conduct and long-term viability. Theél again
have to compete based on the merits of their ptsdtmmpared to ours. This is a competition thatbekeve we
are well-positioned to win.

With regard to the Company’s reputation followirigese unfortunate events, we are proud that nefitteer
DPA nor the settlement with the SEC required usdttute any new controls. Rather, both the US#@ the SEC
referenced the numerous new or enhanced cont@isvih previously implemented after the commenceroeotr
internal investigation We believe that this is éidation of the path taken by Company management.

The Company, along with our former CFO, Jim Webad the estate of ReiJane Huai, our former Chairman
and CEO, also remains a defendant in a class atdiesuit brought by stockholders (the “Class Actjonin
January, 2013, we reached an agreement in printtidettle the Class Action for $5.0 million an&tipulation and
Agreement of Settlement was filed with the courtMarch 13, 2013. The Class Action is more fullydédsed in
Part 1, Item 3 — Legal Proceeding§this annual report on Form 10-K. If the settént is approved by the court, it
should limit one more legacy distraction.

In connection with the Class Action and a derivataction lawsuit that was dismissed in March 2048,
have been involved with discussions with the congmathat provide our Directors and Officers Insgeaf'D&O
Insurance”) coverage. The D&O Insurance in pldctha time that the two actions were commenced didded
into $5.0 million layers, each written by a diffaténsurer. The D&O Insurance should provide uhwécovery of
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fees spent defending the two actions and the afststtlement or damages. However, some of theréns have
raised questions with regard to the validity of itheurance agreements due to the presumed knowtddgeongful
acts by certain former Company officers at the tthme insurance was purchased. In October 2012eaghed a
settlement with the insurer of the first $5.0 moitlilayer of our D&O Insurance pursuant to whichitieurer agreed
to pay us $3.9 million in full satisfaction of ibbligations. There can be no assurance that webeiible to recover
any additional funds from the additional insuracoepanies. Even if we are able to recover undeatditional
layers of our D&O Insurance, we will still be resgpible for the $1.1 million gap between the recgvieom the
first insurer and the attachment point of the 1$50 million layer.

With regard to our business operations, in 201Zogased on having the correct management teamairepl
and refining our goals for our products going fordvaSince September, 2010, we have hired new tehigpein the
following roles: Chief Executive Officer; Chiefancial Officer; Chief Technical Officer; Vice Présnt Sales &
Marketing — North America; Vice President Sales &rkkting — EMEA; Vice President Sales & Marketing —
APAC; and Vice President of Global Support.

With this team in place, we reviewed our personoet,products and our expenses. Among other dessi
we undertook a global reduction in force in Jul§12, that eliminated thirty five positions from ainen existing
headcount to better align our expense structure et anticipated revenues.

Our revenues are now primarily generated by outdredtor-branded gateway appliances and complete tur
key appliances with integrated disks, and licemdexur stand-alone software products. The appliaimegrate our
software with standard hardware configurations. egrated products were created in responseetdbieck we
received from our resellers and the end users stegehat we could increase sales if we offered-key
appliances. This has proven to be correct. Weka@sed that we have been able to absorb a cuveuticrease
in total revenues from OEMs over the past threesyehapproximately $22.0 million (representing segsive over
25% annual declines).

Overall, product revenues decreased 16% from $#dlion for the year ended December 31, 2011 t0.441
million for the year ended December 31, 2012. \iebate the decline in product revenues to fouimfactors.
First, we did not launch any new products in 20$2cond, we had continued turnover in our saleseforc
particularly in North America, as our new saleddira put their teams in place. Third, macroeconaronditions
around the world contributed to the overall softnes|T spend. Last, sales from our legacy OEMstinoed to
decline.

Our product revenues from FalconStor-branded swistdecreased 15% over 2011. Product revenues from
OEMs declined 25% from 2011. We do not expect tih #ve OEM business entirely. OEMs can be valuable
partners for us in a number of ways. Among these altowing penetration of markets, both geograghand
industry-sector, where we do not have sufficiesbteces or history; providing feedback on prodwstedopment
and quality; and providing distribution channels fooducts that we may be de-emphasizing in oucdrestor-
branded product line. We expect that an OEM rehatigp in China will continue to be a source of rawe to the
Company.

Support and services revenue increased 2% fromd$88lion for the year ended December 31, 2011 to
$34.1 million for the same period in 2012. The @age in support and services was primarily attailet to an
increase in maintenance and technical supportcesyvi

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2012 @w&D3%nillion, compared with a net loss of $23.4liwl
for the year ended December 31, 2011. As discusseé fully below, included in our net loss for thear ended
December 31, 2012 was an income tax provision o $@illion compared with an income tax provision&if.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2011. \&e $tock-based compensation expense — which retasteck
options and restricted stock we grant to employefi€ers and directors as part of our incentivenpensation plan,
and to some consultants as payment for services$4.6 million in 2012 and $ 5.5 million in 2011 high is
reflected in the net results for each year.

Typically, we look to operating income as anothezasure of our progress. This number enables us to
measure and to compare our results of operatimm fine year to the next. Operating loss for 2018 $E3.7
million, compared with an operating loss of $22.8liam in 2011. These numbers again include stoakeul
compensation expense. Included in the operating s $0.3 million reduction of investigation jdation and
settlement related costs in 2012 compared to adis$d 0.3 million in 2011 related to investigatiditigation and
settlement related costs.
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We continued to work to decrease our operating rsge in 2012. Besides watching our expenditures, we
undertook a review of our workforce and made stfiateeductions in our headcount that eliminatedtyhfive
positions from our then existing headcount to etiign our expense structure with our anticipatedenues.
Overall our operating expenses decreased 18% ot $liflion to $68.4 million in 2012 from $83.6 mdh in 2011.
Included in our operating results for both 2012 @6d1 was a reduction of $0.3 million and cost$18.3 million,
respectively, related to investigation, litigatiand settlement related costs.

Our gross margins were 73% for 2012 as compardd idi¢o in 2011.

Operating margin is a measure of operating effigjefVe incur research and development expensesebefo
the product is offered for licensing. These expsertsmsist primarily of personnel costs for engimegand testing,
but also include other items such as the deprediaind amortization of hardware and software used i
development. We also have expenses for softwarposypsales and marketing, and general and admatiist
functions. Our operating margin increased to (18802012 from (27%) in 2011. The impact of investiga,
litigation and settlement related costs on opegatirargin in 2012 was 0% compared with (12%) in 2011

The key factors we look to for our future businpssspects are:

e our ability to establish and to expand relationshipth resellers, and sales and re-orders by those
resellers;

e growth in deferred revenue;

« the development and sales of our new products;

« re-orders from existing customers; and

e the growth of the overall market for data protett@md storage solutions.

We anticipate that in 2013 product revenue by leselnd, to a lesser extent, direct licenses tbusers,
should grow. We expect to see the results of ouedtments in new leadership and in our sales farme our
marketing teams. We also have instituted, and wé be instituting further, support, training andcéamtive
programs intended to increase sales by resellers.

Many enterprises look to value added resellers autisn providers to assist them in making their
information technology purchases. These reseligrizdlly review an enterprise’s needs and suggdsirdware,
software, or combined hardware and software saiutdulfill the enterprise’s requirements.

We continue to enhance our reseller program. OusitBess Partner” program for our resellers wagdadiut
in EMEA in 2012. We had previously instituted it the Americas and APAC in 2011. This program ptesi
enhanced sales collateral, training, and, in scases; financial incentives, for our resellers.

As service providers to companies, resellers’ r@jns are dependent on satisfying their custonrezeds
efficiently and effectively. Resellers have wideoides in fulfilling their customers’ needs. If rdees determine
that a product they have been providing to thest@mers is not functioning as promised, or is naiviging
adequate return on investment, or if the custoramrshot satisfied with the level of support theg eeceiving from
the suppliers, the resellers will move quickly tibeo different solutions to their customers. Addital sales by
resellers are therefore an important indicatorwflmusiness prospects.

In 2012, we signed agreements with new resellertdwide. The type of resellers with whom we arengig
agreements has continued to evolve. While wesigih agreements with strong local and regionallexsewe have
also entered into reseller agreements with natianal multi-national resellers who have their owstrildution
networks. The enhanced distribution and marketietyvarks offered by these larger resellers shoulg bs to
continue to grow our sales.

We also terminated relationships with resellers wigobelieved were not selling our products at theels

we expected in 2012. We will continue to enter irgationships with resellers and to discontindati@nships with
resellers with whom we are not satisfied.
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Our deferred revenues consist primarily of amowttgbutable to future support and maintenancewf
products. The level of deferred revenue is an itgmbrindicator of our success. Maintenance and atigpr our
products is sold for fixed periods of time. Mairdece and support agreements are typically for @ae, yalthough
some agreements are for terms in excess of one Iyeae do not deliver the support needed by enafrsusf our
products or by our OEM partners and resellers, theg will not renew their maintenance and suppgreements.
If end users stop using our products, they alsd mat renew their maintenance and support agreesnér
deferred revenue decreased 11% from 2011 to $2#lidmin 2012. The main reason for the decline wa®sult of
the phasing out of our products by our legacy OEMsr the past few years. In addition, since oudpob sales
declined as a result of the global economic cooustj we sold fewer new maintenance and supportaciat

We expect to continue to be affected by seasonafitthe information technology business on a quigrte
basis. Historically, information technology sperglihas been higher in the fourth and second quadieesach
calendar year, and somewhat slower in the othertepga particularly the first quarter. We did naperience this
typical seasonality in 2012. We believe that thiss an aberration based on global economic conditémd the
internal revamping our sales force. We anticipdiat tour quarterly results for 2013 will show thdeefs of
historical seasonality.

Share-based compensation expense continued toahaggative impact on our earnings in 2012. On an on
going basis we weigh the impact of the expense wumconsolidated financial statements against thgaoh of
discontinuing the grant of equity-based compeneaiioour worldwide workforce. It continues to ber eiew that
the opportunity to participate in the growth of ddompany is an important motivating factor for awrrent
employees and a valuable recruiting tool for newpleyees. We will thus continue to apply the crieeaind the
methodology we have used in the past to determiaetg of stock options or other equity-based corsgton to
our employees. For the management of our busimebssha review of our progress, we will continuddok to our
results excluding share-based compensation exp@vseavill use these non-GAAP financial measures akimg
operating decisions because they measure thegeguwur day-to-day operations and because theyigeg@a more
consistent basis for evaluating and comparing esults across different periods.

The primary risks to our success come from prodegelopment. For more information on the risks we
face, please sdeart |, Iltem 1A, Risk Factorsf this filing.

We need to provide a continuing series of new pectgland improvements to existing products. Inriowan
the data protection market is key to survival. Gostrs expect that data protection software willdnee both more
capable and easier to manage over time. If we mabla to deliver new, innovative products in a osable time
frame, we will fall behind our competitors. Inndiea requires adequate resources and the rightlpelhpve do
not have enough resources or the right people, W&l behind.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS — FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 COMPARED WITH THE
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011

Total revenues for the year ended December 31, détased 9% to $75.4 million, compared with $82.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2011. D012, we completed a restructuring which was asag of a
workforce reduction of approximately 35 positionsridwide from various departments. The restructyigharges
related to the 2012 reduction totaled approximad@ys million. During 2011, we completed a restuictg which
was composed of a workforce reduction of approxéya25 positions worldwide from various departmeants the
closing of a satellite facility. The restructuricparges related to the 2011 reduction totaled appeaiely $0.8
million. The restructuring charges for both 2012 2011 have been segregated from each of the tespegpense
line items and are included within “restructuringsts” in our consolidated statement of operati@st cost of
revenues decreased 4% to $20.7 million for the gaded December 31, 2012, compared with $21.5amiftor the
year ended December 31, 2011. Included in our @ostvenues for the years ended December 31, 20d2@11
were $0.2 million and $0.5 million, respectivelyf, share-based compensation expense. Our operatpenses
decreased 18% from $83.6 million for the year enBedember 31, 2011 to $68.4 million for the yeadesh
December 31, 2012. Included in the operating tesat the year ended December 31, 2012, was eedattion of
$0.3 million of investigation, litigation and setthent costs and $0.8 million of restructuring costsluded in the
operating results for the year ended December Gll1 2vas $10.3 million of investigation, litigatioand settlement
related costs and $0.8 million of restructuringtso¥he $10.3 million was comprised of $2.8 milliohlegal fees
and an accrual of $7.5 million for certain costsoasated with the then outstanding resolution efittvestigations.
In addition, included in our operating expensestfieryears ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 weterifion
and $5.1 million, respectively, of share-based oemsption expense. Net loss for the year ended Dmarefl,
2012 was $15.0 million, compared with a net los$28.4 million for the year ended December 31, 20ddluded
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in our net loss for the year ended December 312 2@is an income tax provision of $0.8 million comgmhwith an

income tax provision of $1.2 million for the yeamded December 31, 2011. The income tax provisio$08

million and $1.2 million were primarily attributabto the impact of our effective tax rate on owe-fax losses for
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, readgctNo tax benefits were recognized during eitperiod

for our domestic losses due to the full valuatiboveance over our domestic deferred tax assets.

The overall 9% decrease in total revenues was pitindue to a 16% decrease in product revenuelfer t
year ended December 31, 2012, compared with the gemod in 2011. This was partially offset by a B¥drease
in support and services revenue for the year efmbmber 31, 2012, compared with the same peri@Did.
Product revenues from OEM partners decreased 25#e wroduct revenues from non-OEM partners deegtas
15% for the year ended December 31, 2012, compaittdthe same period in 2011. As we have previously
reported over the past several years, product tmgfrom our legacy OEM partners continued to dectiue to
consolidation within the industry and end-of-lifeograms implemented by these legacy OEM partnees d@/not
anticipate that any of our legacy OEM partners wdhtribute over 10% of our annual revenues forftiheseeable
future. During 2012, we continued our focus and leasgs on the FalconStor-branded business. As dt m@fsu
overall macroeconomic conditions, we experiencgdiicant competitive pricing practices from oumgpetitors,
customers delaying or postponing IT spending aecbtrerall uncertainty in the marketplace. Thes&ofachave all
contributed to the overall decrease in our non-OgMduct revenues. In addition, the recently conetud
government investigation also contributed to thalelnges and disruptions we faced in our business.

Overall, our total operating expenses have decdegsénarily due to a decline in (i) our overallag and
personnel costs as part of our continued cost gavitiatives and our focus on improved operati@fficiencies ,
and (i) a $10.6 million decrease in costs assediatith the government investigations, litigatiamd settlement
related costs incurred during the year ended Deeer®b, 2012, compared with the same period in 204 will
continue to evaluate the appropriate headcountdeweproperly align our resources with our currend long-term
outlook.

Revenues
Year ended December 31,
2012 2011
Revenues:
Product revenue $ 41,358,621 $ 49,470,139
Support and services revenue 34,052,348 33,400,463
Total Revenues $ 75,410,969 $ 82,870,602
Year-over-year percentage growth
Product revenue -16% -5%
Support and services revenue 2% 8%
Total percentage growth -9% 0%

Product revenue

Product revenue is comprised of sales of licensestr software integrated on industry standardifare
creating an integrated solution, and for our staluhe software applications. The products are #uldugh our
OEMs, and through (i) value-added resellers, (#}ributors, and/or (iii) directly to end-users lectively “non-
OEMSs"). These revenues are recognized when allagigicable criteria under Generally Accepted Acdmgn
Principles in the United States are met.

Product revenue decreased 16% from $49.5 milliortHe year ended December 31, 2011 to $41.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2012. These amanataet of a benefit of $0.7 million recognizedidg the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respegctiesulting from the impact of our collection et of
previously reserved accounts receivable. Produwetmges from OEM partners decreased 25%, while mtodu
revenues from non-OEM partners decreased 15% éoyear ended December 31, 2012, compared withatime s
period in 2011. As we have previously reported dlierpast several years, product revenues fronegacy OEM
partners continued to decline due to consolidatithin the industry and end-of-life programs implemed by
these legacy OEM partners. We do not anticipateahg of our legacy OEM partners will contributeeo\l0% of
our annual revenues for the foreseeable futureinuR012, we continued our focus and emphasis @n th
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FalconStor-branded business. As a result of ovaraskcroeconomic conditions, we experienced sigmfica
competitive pricing practices from our competitazastomers delaying or postponing IT spending &edaverall
uncertainty in the marketplace. These factors tedlveontributed to the overall decrease in our @M product
revenues. In addition, we believe the recently tared government investigation also contributethtochallenges
and disruptions we faced in our business. Produamue from our non-OEM partners represented 88%8@%0 of
our total product revenue for the years ended Dbeer8l, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Product rexdéram our
OEM partners represented 12% and 13% of our tetadyct revenue for the years ended December 31, and
2011, respectively.

We continue to focus our investments on the FaltmAlSanded non-OEM channel business as we fel thi
is in line with our long-term outlook.

Support and services revenue

Support and services revenue is comprised of (int@aance and technical support services, (ii)gssibnal
services primarily related to the implementationoaf software, and (iii) engineering services. Rewxs derived
from maintenance and technical support contracts deferred and recognized ratably over the contshct
maintenance term. Professional services reventee@nized in the period that the related servacesperformed.
Support and services revenue increased 2% fromd#88lion for the year ended December 31, 2011 34.%
million for the same period in 2012. The increassupport and services was primarily attributablart increase in
maintenance and technical support services.

Maintenance and technical support services inccereen $30.3 million for the year ended December 31
2011 to $31.0 million for the same period in 20A%.we are in business longer, and as we license integrated
solutions and stand-alone software applicationset® customers and grow our installed customer hasesxpect
the amount of maintenance and technical suppotracs we have to grow as well. The anticipatedwjnan our
maintenance and technical support service revesuexpected to result primarily from (i) the purahasf
maintenance and support contracts by our custorards(ii) the renewal of maintenance and suppantrects by
our existing and new customers after their initiahtracts expire. During the year ended DecembefB12, the
growth in maintenance revenue in the non-OEM chlafmsiness was primarily offset by (i) a decline in
maintenance revenue from certain legacy OEM cust®ohge to consolidation in the industry, (ii) thectease from
non-OEM product revenues during the current yednichvare generally sold with maintenance, and {iéeper
discounts provided on product in the current ecdn@nd competitive environment.

Professional services revenues remained consiates®.1 million for the years ended December 31,220
and December 31, 2011. The professional servicenue varies from period to period based uporhé)rtumber
of solutions sold during the existing and previgesiods, (ii) the number of our customers who etegburchase
professional services, and (iii) the number of gssfonal services contracts that are performedguhe period.
We expect professional services revenues to cantinuary from period to period based upon the remds
customers who elect to utilize our professionabises upon purchasing any of our solutions.

Cost of Revenues

Year ended December 31,

2012 2011

Cost of revenues:

Product $ 8,215,152 $ 8,386,864

Support and service 12,446,921 13,130,045
Total cost of revenues $ 20,662,073 $ 21,516,909
Total Gross Profit $ 54,748,896 $ 61,353,693
Gross Margin:

Product 80% 83%

Support and service 63% 61%
Total gross margin 73% 74%

37



Cost of revenues, gross profit and gross margin

Cost of product revenue consists primarily of irtdustandard hardware we purchase and integrate it
software for turn-key integrated solutions, perssncosts, amortization of purchased and capitalizeftiware,
shipping and logistics costs, and share-based cosagien expense. Cost of support and service dsrignarily
of personnel and other costs associated with pimyidoftware implementations, technical support exnd
maintenance contracts, training, and share-basegensation expense. Cost of product revenue foydbhe ended
December 31, 2012 decreased $0.2 million, or 29%8t@ million, compared with $8.4 million for tharee period
in 2011. The overall decrease in cost of produetmae was attributable to a decrease in hardwasts es a result
of fewer appliance units being sold, compared witb same period in 2011. Our cost of support amdicee
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012 atete$0.7 million, or 5%, to $12.4 million, comphneith
$13.1 million for the same period in 2011. The éaske in cost of support and service revenue wasaply related
to a decrease in compensation costs due to thalbwtange in the mix of our headcount within supEnd
services as compared to the same period in 201laadecrease in share-based compensation expenggs wh
decreased to $0.2 million for the year ended Deeegr8th, 2012, compared with $0.5 million for the ryeaded
December 31, 2011.

Total gross profit decreased $6.6 million, or 1Tfém $61.4 million for the year ended December 3111,
to $54.7 million for the year ended December 31,20 otal gross margin decreased slightly to 73#tHe year
ended December 31, 2012, compared with 74% foyélae ended December 31, 2011. The decrease irotalr t
gross profit for the year ended December 31, 26@&pared with the same period in 2011, was primalile to a
9% decrease in our total revenues. Generally, ataf gross profits and total gross margins mayttiate based on
several factors, including (i) revenue growth lsy€li) changes in personnel headcount and reledsts, and (iii)
our product offerings and service mix of sales.

Share-based compensation expense included in gh@tproduct revenue was less than 1% of totednmae
for each of the years ended December 31, 2012 @htl. Share-based compensation expense includad cost of
support and service revenue decreased to $0.2mfllom $0.5 million for the years ended Decemlier2®12 and
December 31, 2011, respectively. Share-based caapien expense related to cost of support andcerevenue
was less than 1% for the year ended December 32, 28d 1% for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Operating Expenses
Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs consist primarilgeo$onnel costs for product development personnel,
share-based compensation expense, and other ralagtsl associated with the development of new mitsdu
enhancements to existing products, quality asserand testingResearch and development costs decreased $2.6
million, or 12%, to $18.6 million for the year emtl®ecember 31, 2012, from $21.2 million in the savBo0d in
2011. The decrease in research and developmeistwastprimarily the result of a decline in salang gersonnel
costs as the result of lower research and developheadcount. We believe we continue to providejadt levels
of resources in support of our research and dewsdop activities to continue to enhance and to ¢est core
products and in the development of new innovativedpcts, features and options. Share-based compmnsa
expense included in research and development desteased to $0.7 million from $1.3 million for thears ended
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, resplyctBieare-based compensation expense includedsé@areh
and development costs was equal to 1% and 2% alfretenue for the years ended December 31, 20d 2@,
respectively.

Selling and Marketing

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarilgales and marketing personnel and related cdsise-s
based compensation expense, travel, public reRtopense, marketing literature and promotions,neissions,
trade show expenses, and the costs associatedowtttioreign sales offices. Selling and marketingpenses
decreased $3.6 million, or 9%, to $36.0 million foe year ended December 31, 2012, from $39.6anifior the
year ended December 31, 2011. The decrease ingsaltid marketing expenses was primarily attribetabl(i) a
decrease in commissions due to the 16% declineodugt revenue compared with the same period irl 201 a
decrease in salary and personnel costs, includiageshbased compensation expenses, as a resulvef sales and
marketing headcount, and (iii) a decrease in cass®ciated with the recruitment and hiring of addal sales
personnel in 2011. Share-based compensation exjeciaded in selling and marketing was $1.7 millimm the
year ended December 31, 2012 and $2.0 millionHeryear ended December 31, 2011. Share-based csatioen
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expense included in selling and marketing expensssequal to 2% of total revenue for the years émkcember
31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist ptiynafi personnel costs of general and administrative
functions, share-based compensation expense, ptipany related costs, directors and officersrarsee, legal
and professional fees, and other general corparatenead costsGeneral and administrative expenses increased
$1.6 million, or 14%, to $13.3 million for the yeanded December 31, 2012, from $11.7 million far Hame
period in 2011. The overall increase within genarad administrative expenses related to increasé} personnel
related costs including share-based compensatipanse, (i) bad debt expense, (iii) professionakfeand (iv)
various administrative costs. Share-based comgensakpense included in general and administra¢ixgenses
was $2.0 million for the year ended December 3122@ompared with $1.7 million for the year endegc&mber
31, 2011. Share-based compensation expense incindgsheral and administrative expenses was equa¥ of
total revenue for the year ended December 31, 20tRto 2% of total revenue for the year ended Déeer3l,
2011.

Investigation, Litigation and Settlement RelatedtSo

During 2012, we recorded a $0.3 million reductidnnvestigation, litigation and settlement relateobts.
The reduction was comprised of (i) a $1.7 milli@duction in the accrual for certain costs assodiatith the
resolution of the government investigations andairecovery of $0.3 million of legal expenses prasly incurred
related to the class action and derivative lawspistially offset by (i) $1.5 million of legal erpses related to the
class action and derivative lawsuits as well agtierpotential settlement of the class action laithat are not or
may not be recoverable through insurance and @i illion of legal fees incurred related to tlesolution of the
government investigations. Investigation coststiier year ended December 31, 2011, totaled $10li®@miwhich
consisted of $2.8 million of legal and professiofe@s and an accrual of $7.5 million for certaistscassociated
with the possible resolution of the government stigations. Se®art |, Item 3 — Legal Proceedings this annual
report on Form 10-K, for a more detailed descriptid the investigations.

We expect our operating expenses will continuedablversely impacted during 2013 due to profeskiona
and service provider fees, and other costs, regutom the ongoing stockholder lawsuits.

Restructuring costs

During 2012, we completed a restructuring which wasmposed of a workforce reduction of approximately

35 positions worldwide from various departmentsegéhactions were intended to better align ourstogtture with
the skills and resources required to more effelgtiexecute our long-term growth strategy, to drogerational
efficiencies and to support the anticipated revelewels we expect to achieve on a go forward badie total
amount incurred with respect to severance unde2®e@ Plan was $0.8 million. Actions under the 2@12n were
substantially completed by the end of the thirdrtgraof 2012. During 2011, we completed a restmiicguwhich
was composed of a workforce reduction of approxéya25 positions worldwide from various departmeants the
closing of a satellite facility. The total amouirisurred with respect to severance and facilitiezsnalonment under
the 2011 Plan were $0.8 million and less than $flllon, respectively. Actions under the 2011 Plarre
substantially completed by the end of the third rtgraof 2011. For further information, refer to Mo{13)
Restructuring Costgo our consolidated financial statements.

Interest and Other Income (Loss)

We invest our cash primarily in money market fursnmercial paper, government securities, and catpo
bonds. As of December 31, 2012, our cash, cashvaeuis, and marketable securities totaled $29.domi
compared with $37.8 million as of December 31, 20dterest and other income (loss) decreased $0l&mib a
loss of ($0.5) million for the year ended DecemB&r 2012, compared with $0.1 million of income the same
period in 2011. The decrease in interest and atieerme was primarily due to foreign currency lose€$$0.6)
million and interest income of $0.1 million duritige year ended December 31, 2012, compared withidlion
of interest income partially offset by $0.1 millio foreign currency losses.
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Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes consists of fatlestate and local, and foreign taxes. For the peaed
December 31, 2012, we recorded an income tax poovisf $0.8 million on our pre-tax loss of $14.2llran,
consisting primarily of state and local and foretgmes. For the year ended December 31, 2011, egrded an
income tax provision of $1.2 million on our pre-fass of $22.2 million, consisting of primarily saand local and
foreign taxes. During 2010, we concluded that @mmadstic deferred tax assets were no longer reddizaba more-
likely-than-not basis and, therefore, we recordédllasaluation allowance against our domestic defet tax assets.
During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2fikIgonclusion did not change with respect to camestic
deferred tax assets and therefore, we have notded@ny benefit for our net domestic deferredassets for the
full years of 2012 and 2011.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS — FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 COMPARED WITH THE
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Total revenues for the year ended December 31, R@tdased less than 1% to $82.9 million, compavritl
$82.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2@0ring 2011, we completed a restructuring whichswa
composed of a workforce reduction of approximat®bypositions worldwide from various departments #mel
closing of a satellite facility. The restructurinigarges totaled approximately $0.8 million and hla@en segregated
from each of the respective expense line itemsardincluded within “restructuring costs” in ournsolidated
statement of operations. Our cost of revenues reedaielatively consistent at $21.5 million for thears ended
December 31, 2011 as compared with $21.4 milliortHie year ended December 31, 2010. Included ircosi of
revenues for the years ended December 31, 2012G@was $0.5 million and $1.1 million, respectyealf share-
based compensation expense. Our operating expieicseased 6% from $79.0 million for the year enBetember
31, 2010 to $83.6 million for the year ended Decen#i, 2011. Included in the operating resultstieryear ended
December 31, 2011 were (i) $0.8 million of restmictg costs, and (i) $10.3 million of costs asatedl with the
then outstanding government investigations thatrnented during the second half of 2010. The $10lBomiwas
comprised of $2.8 million of legal fees, and anraatof $7.5 million for certain costs associateithwhe then
outstanding government investigations. Includethaoperating results for the year ended DecembeP@®L0 was
$1.6 million of costs associated with the then tnding government investigations. The $1.6 millimas
comprised completely of legal fees. In additiorgludled in our operating expenses for the yearsdiiEember
31, 2011 and 2010 were $5.1 million and $7.5 millicespectively, of share-based compensation erpéiet loss
for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $23.4omiltompared with a net loss of $35.4 million the year
ended December 31, 2010. Included in our net losgHe year ended December 31, 2011 was an incame t
provision of $1.2 million, compared with an incomag provision of $17.6 million for the year endedd@mber 31,
2010. The income tax provision of $1.2 million wagmarily attributable to the impact of our effeditax rate on
our pre-tax losses for the year ended Decembe2@lll,. The income tax provision of $17.6 millionaetded during
the year ended December 31, 2010, was the resalfudf valuation allowance recorded on substalytiall of our
existing domestic deferred tax assets as a rekalirdnability to utilize our domestic deferrecktassets on a more-
likely-than-not basis in future periods.

Overall, the increase in total revenues was primdrtie to an increase in support and service reeefor the
year ended December 31, 2011, compared with the gemod in 2010. In total, our product revenuesrei@sed
5%. Product revenues from our non-OEM partnersea®ed 6%, while product revenues from our OEM pastn
decreased 42% for the year ended December 31, 206dthared with the same period in 2010. The overatkase
in our non-OEM product revenues was primarily hbtttable to the continued focus and emphasis on our
FalconStor-branded business. However, throughodtl 2€he Company experienced several disruptionschwhi
adversely impacted our non-OEM product revenue tirofirst, during the first half of 2011, our No#merican
sales organization was in a period of transitiore kfcruited substantially an entire new sales teduich led to
lower than anticipated product revenues from Néwtterica during this period due to the time requitedievelop
and train a new sales force. Second, during midt20Lir European operations were impacted as atrektie
ongoing uncertainties and disruptions in the ovdtatopean economy, and changes in senior manageshéme
European operations. Finally, the then outstandjogernment investigations and uncertainties suximgnthe
potential outcome of these investigations all aslelsrimpacted our overall non-OEM product reventawh. In
addition, as anticipated, our OEM product revencastinued to decline, as a result of merger andiiaitipn
activity involving some of our historically majorEM partners that began in 2009 and which we haegipusly
reported.

Overall, our total operating expenses increaseé $dllion, or 6% to $83.6 million for the year enmbe
December 31, 2011, as compared with $79.0 mill@rtHe same period in 2010. This increase was pilyradue to
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additional costs of (i) $8.6 million associated lwihe then outstanding government investigations, @) $0.8
million of restructuring costs incurred during thear ended December 31, 2011 as compared withathe period
in 2010.

Revenues
Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010
Revenues:
Product revenue $ 49,470,139 $ 51,905,096
Support and services revenue 33,400,463 30,938,650
Total Revenues $ 82,870,602 $ 82,843,746
Year-over-year percentage growth
Product revenue -5% -15%
Support and services revenue 8% 10%
Total percentage growth 0% -7%

Product revenue

Product revenue decreased 5% from $51.9 millionHeryear ended December 31, 2010 to $49.5 mifbon
the year ended December 31, 2011. These amountetisd a benefit of $0.7 million recognized duritig year
ended December 31, 2011, compared with an expdr&dmillion in the same period in 2010, resugtiinom the
impact of our collections of previously reserved@mts receivable. Product revenue represented&@63% of
our total revenues for the years ended Decembe2(@®ll and 2010, respectively. Product revenues fsanrmon-
OEM partners increased 6%, while product revenues four OEM partners decreased 42% for the yeaednd
December 31, 2011, compared with the same periodOitD. The overall increase in our non-OEM product
revenues was primarily attributable to the contthdecus and emphasis on our FalconStor-brandechéssi
However, throughout 2011, the Company experienesdral disruptions which adversely impacted our-@&iv
product revenue growth. First, during the firstfladfl2011, our North American sales organizatiorswaa period
of transition. We recruited substantially an entirew sales team which led to lower than anticipgisatiuct
revenues from North America during this period doehe time required to develop and train a nevesébrce.
Second, during mid-2011, our European operationse virapacted as a result of the ongoing uncertaingied
disruptions in the overall European economy. Finahe then outstanding government investigationd the
uncertainties surrounding the potential outcomthe$e investigations all adversely impacted ouralvaon-OEM
product revenue growth. Additionally, as anticighteur OEM product revenues continued to declisea aesult of
merger and acquisition activity involving some afr dnistorically major OEM partners that began ir020and
which we have previously reported. Product revefnoim our non-OEM partners represented 87% and 78&ui0
total product revenue for the years ended DecerBlbeR011 and 2010, respectively. Product revenom four
OEM partners represented 13% and 22% of our totadyct revenue for the years ended December 31La20il
2010, respectively.

Support and services revenue

The increase in support and services revenue visfilly attributable to maintenance and technicglport
services, which increased from $27.6 million foe §rear ended December 31, 2010 to $30.3 milliortHersame
period in 2011.

Professional services revenues decreased fromr8ii8n for the year ended December 31, 2010 td $3.
million for the same period in 2011. The profesaloservices revenue varies from period to pericgetaupon (i)
the number of integrated solutions sold duringehkisting and previous periods, (i) the number of oustomers
who elect to purchase professional services, aii)dtliie humber of professional services contrattat twere
completed during the period.
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Cost of Revenues

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010

Cost of revenues:

Product $ 8,386,864 $ 9,291,236

Support and service 13,130,045 12,147,715
Total cost of revenues $ 21,516,909 $ 21,438,951
Total Gross Profit $ 61,353,693 $ 61,404,795
Gross Margin:

Product 83% 82%

Support and service 61% 61%
Total gross margin 74% 74%

Cost of revenues, gross profit and gross margin

Cost of product revenue for the year ended DecerBhe2011 decreased $0.9 million, or 10%, to $8.4
million, compared with $9.3 million for the sameripe in 2010. The decrease in cost of product reeewas
primarily attributable to (i) decreased hardwarel aipping costs as the result of the 5% declingrimduct
revenues, and (ii) decreased amortization of pwethaoftware costs during the year ended Decenthe2(@ 1
compared with the same period in 2010. Our cosupport and service revenues for the year endedrbeer 31,
2011 increased $1.0 million, or 8%, to $13.1 millicompared with $12.1 million for the same perio010. The
increase in cost of support and service revenparsarily related to costs associated with thenigiof management
for both our support and services divisions, ad alan overall change in the mix of our headceuititin support
and services as compared with the same periodlifh.20

Total gross profit remained consistent at approkéfye$61.4 million for each of the years ended Deloer
31, 2011 and 2010. Total gross margin also rematoedistent at 74% for each of the years ended Dieee 31,
2011 and 2010. Generally, our total gross profitd total gross margins may fluctuate based on akvVactors,
including (i) revenue growth levels, (ii) changes@dersonnel headcount and related costs, ando(iii)product
offerings and service mix of sales.

Share-based compensation expense included in gteotproduct revenue was less than 1% of reveaue f
each of the years ended December 31, 2011 and bec&h, 2010. Share-based compensation expenseéalcin
the cost of support and service revenue decreas$d.b million from $1.1 million for the years emtiBecember
31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively. Stesed compensation expense related to cost obsuapd
service revenue was equal to 1% for both the yeded December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Operating Expenses
Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs decreased $5.0mitr 21%, to $21.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011 from $26.9 million in the sameéggein 2010. The decrease in research and developoosts
was primarily the result of (i) a decline in salaryd personnel costs, including share-based corafjenexpenses,
as a result of lower research and development lbeaticand (ii) an increase of approximately $0.8iom related
to the capitalization of costs associated withvgafe development. Share-based compensation experhsded in
research and development costs decreased to $ilighrfrom $3.0 million for the years ended DecemBg, 2011
and December 31, 2010, respectively. Share-basegpamsation expense included in research and develup
costs was equal to 2% and 4% of total revenuehtorears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, resggcti

Selling and Marketing

Selling and marketing expenses decreased $1.2miltir 3%, to $39.6 million for the year ended Deber
31, 2011, from $40.8 million for the same period2dl0. The decrease in selling and marketing exgenas
primarily due to lower headcounts, specificallyhiit North America, during the first half of 201X the result of a
transition within the North American sales forcEhese decreases were offset in part by the costziased with
the recruitment and hiring of (i) additional salesnagement in all of our regions, and (ii) coslateel to the
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increased sales and sales support personnel wWikhith America. Share-based compensation expens&dett in
selling and marketing decreased to $2.0 milliomfi$3.4 million for the years ended December 31,1241d 2010,
respectively. Share-based compensation expenagdattiin selling and marketing expenses was equa¥%and
4% of total revenue for the years ended Decembg2@llland 2010, respectively.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased Bllibn, or 22%, to $11.7 million for the year embe
December 31, 2011 from $9.6 million for the sameiquein 2010. The overall increase within generat a
administrative expenses related to increases ipgisonnel related costs, and (ii) various adnritiste costs.
Share-based compensation expense included in gemeladministrative expenses increased to $1.fomifrom
$1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 28d4d 2010, respectively. Share-based compensatipenez
included in general and administrative expenses el to 2% and 1% of total revenue for the yearded
December 31, 2011and 2010, respectively.

Investigation costs

Investigation costs for the year ended December2811, totaled $10.3 million, which consisted &.8
million of legal and professional fees, and an aakiof $7.5 million for certain costs associatedhwthe then
outstanding resolution of the government invesiigest Investigation costs for the year ended Decembef310,
totaled $1.6 million, which related to legal andfessional fees. SeRart I, Item 3 — Legal Proceedingd this
annual report on Form 10-K, for a more detaileccdpton of the investigations.

Restructuring costs

During 2011, we completed a restructuring which wamposed of a workforce reduction of approximately
25 global positions from various departments amddlsing of a satellite facility (the “2011 PlanThese actions
were intended to better align our cost structurth wie skills and resources required to more éffelst execute our
long-term growth strategy and drive operationaiceghcies. The total amounts incurred with resgecteverance
and facilities abandonment under the 2011 Plan %€r& million and less than $0.1 million, respeelyv Actions
under the 2011 Plan were substantially completethbyend of the third quarter of 2011. For furthméormation,
refer to Note (13Restructuring Costgo our consolidated financial statements.

Interest and other income (loss)

As of December 31, 2011, our cash, cash equivalemd marketable securities totaled $37.8 million,
compared with $37.3 million as of December 31, 2Qh€rest and other income (loss) increased $0lliB>mto
$0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2@bknpared with ($0.2) million for the same perio®D10. The
increase in interest and other income (loss) wasapily due to foreign currency losses of $0.1 il incurred
during the year ended December 31, 2011 comparbdfeveign currency losses of $0.3 million for eme period
in 2010.

Income Taxes

For the year ended December 31, 2011, we recondéocame tax provision of $1.2 million on our pee¢t
loss of $22.2 million, consisting of primarily stahnd local and foreign taxes. For the year endece®Bber 31,
2010, we recorded an income tax provision of $17il6on. During 2010, we concluded that our domesteferred
tax assets were no longer realizable on a morédikan-not basis, therefore, we recorded a disciem of
approximately $16.3 million related to an increasea valuation allowance on our domestic deferi@d dssets
previously recognized. During the year ended De@erth, 2011, our conclusion did not change witlpeesto our
domestic deferred tax assets and therefore, wet@vwecorded any benefit for our net domestic letetax assets
for the full year 2011.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash flow information is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities (%5,268,470) $3,138,766 ($1,728,504)
Investing activities 7,235,301 (5,400,465) 3,634,373
Financing activities 738,184 920,106 409,889
Effect of exchange rate changes (311,241) (243,268  (225,731)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent $2,393,774 ($1,584,861) $2,090,027

Our principal sources of liquidity are cash flonsngrated from operations and our cash, cash equigal
and marketable securities balances. Our cash afhdecpiivalents and marketable securities balanoé@ecember
31, 2012 totaled $29.9 million, compared with $3million as of December 31, 2011. Cash and caslvalgnts
totaled $18.7 million, restricted cash totaled $@8lion, and marketable securities totaled $10.8lion at
December 31, 2012. As of December 31, 2011, webti&8B million in cash and cash equivalents and3&1illion
in marketable securities.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had $0.8 anilbf restricted cash. The restricted cash serses a
collateral related to deposit service indebtedmagsthe Company’s commercial bank.

Over the past two years, we have been in an ongwémigpd of transition, which included various senio
management changes, new sales leadership in allrofegions, changes within our North American sdtece
structure, and restructurings. Most recently, dytime third quarter 2012, we completed a restruggwvhich was
composed of a workforce reduction of approximat&by positions worldwide from various departmentsedé
actions were intended to better align our costcsitine with the skills and resources required to eneffectively
execute our long-term growth strategy, drive openal efficiencies and support the anticipated nexelevel we
expect to achieve on a go forward basis (see N@pRestructuring Costt our consolidated financial statements
for further information.) We continually evaluateet appropriate headcount levels to properly alignofiour
resources with our current and long-term outloole Will continue to evaluate potential software fise purchases
and acquisitions, and if the right opportunity gnes itself, we may use our cash for these purpdsesf the date
of this filing, we have no agreements, commitmemtanderstandings with respect to any such licposehases or
acquisitions.

As discussed further iRart I, Item 3 — Legal Proceedingé this annual report on Form 10-K, in June 2012,
we settled charges arising from investigations cetetl by the United States Attorney’s Office ane 8ecurities
and Exchange Commission for a total of $5.8 milli@uring 2012, the Company paid $4.1 million of &8
million investigation settlement, with the balarafeéb1.7 million due in December 2013.

In addition, as discussed further in in Part Imt8 — Legal Proceedings of this annual report omFd0-K,
we are among the defendants named in class aatibrderivative lawsuits. In accordance with our ayé and
Delaware law, we have been paying for the costdefénse of these actions for the other named defesdIf
liability is ultimately assessed some of the otiemed defendants may be entitled to claim indewatibn from us.
We have incurred, and continue to incur signifioaxpenses, primarily for legal counsel, due todlass action and
derivative lawsuits. In January, 2013, the partéethe Class Action reached an agreement in plim¢gpsettle the
Class Action. Pursuant to a Memorandum of Undeditey signed by counsel for the class plaintiffsl dy
counsel for all defendants, the Company will payo$fillion to settle the Class Action. This amoumtludes
damages, plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees, and costadrhinistration of the settlement. The Company etgoerpay this
settlement with a combination of cash on hand asdrance proceeds. In accordance with the Memonarafu
Understanding, a stipulation of settlement andiat jmotion for preliminary approval of the settlemewill be
submitted to the court for its approval. Final Isettent of the Class Action is subject to certainditions and to
approval by the court. We cannot predict if or whte court might approve the settlement. Certainthef
defendants may be entitled to indemnification by @ompany under the laws of Delaware and/or ouatwg. In
addition, we may be entitled to seek the recovdrgestain costs and payments from certain formemg@any
employees. On March 5, 2013, the Derivative Acti@s dismissed as to all defendants except for Jason
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At various times from October 2001 through Februa®p9 our Board of Directors has authorized the
repurchase of up to 14 million shares of our outditagy common stock in the aggregate. We did nainggase any
of our outstanding common stock during the yeadedrDecember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. Since OcgilfH,
we have repurchased a total of 8,005,235 sharas agjgregate purchase price of $46.9 million. ADetember
31, 2012, we had the authority to repurchase 5/@%4shares of our common stock based upon our jedgand
market conditions. See Note (Btockholders’ Equityto our consolidated financial statements for ferth
information.

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activit@aled ($5.3) million, $3.1 million and ($1.7) ltian for
the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 284Pectively. The changes in net cash (used in)igedvby
operating activities for each of the years endedeer 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 is the result afrdéng a net
loss of $15.0 million, $23.4 million and $35.4 rah, respectively, adjusted for: (i) the impacinoin-cash charges,
particularly relating to depreciation, amortizatistock-based compensation, provision for returmg doubtful
accounts and deferred income taxes; and (ii) adjeists for net changes in operating assets anditiiedi primarily
changes in our accounts receivable, prepaid expeisentory, accounts payable, accrued expenstslefierred
revenues.

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activit@sled $7.2 million, ($5.4) million and $3.6 nlh for the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010,cteshe Included in investing activities for eaghar are the
sales and purchases of our marketable securitibshwinclude the sales, maturities and reinvestnanour
marketable securities. The net cash provided bgdus) investing activities from the net sales efwgities was
$11.1 million, ($2.0) million and $6.6 million fahe years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2€dfkatively.
These amounts will fluctuate from year to year daeld@g on the maturity dates of our marketable dtéear The
cash used to purchase property and equipment wasn@fion, $2.2 million and $2.7 million for theegrs ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.cébh used in the capitalization of software dgwalent costs
was $0.5 million, $1.0 million and $0.1 million fahe years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. The cash used in changes of redlricash was $0.8 million for the year ended Decerstier2012.
We continually evaluate potential software licepsechases and acquisitions, and we may continueaice such
investments if we find opportunities that would b&nour business. We anticipate continued cagitgenditures,
including capitalized software costs, as we comiba invest in our infrastructure and expand anldaeoe our
product offerings.

Net cash provided by financing activities totalddl 7 million, $0.9 million and $0.4 million for thgears
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respagtresulting from proceeds received from the exerdf stock
options.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the rengaib0.7 million (at par value) of our auction rate
securities were called by the issuer at par vaseof December 2011, $0.7 million, (at par valu€por auction
rate securities and were classified as long-terrastments in our consolidated balance sheet atrbleee31, 2011.

We currently do not have any debt and our only ifitant commitments are related to our employment
agreement with James P. McNiel, our President anidf&xecutive Officer, the $1.7 million remainipgyment to
the United States Attorney’s Office, which is daelecember 2013 and our office leases. In addittonJanuary
20, 2013, we announced we had reached a propottsimemt of the Class Action lawsuit between thenpany
and class plaintiffs for $5.0 million which is péng approval by the court. On March 13, 2013, thdips to the
Class Action submitted a Stipulation and AgreenwrBettlement asking the court to approve a settdgmf the
Class Action agreed to by the parties. We canredipt if or when the court might approve the saitat.

We have an operating lease covering our corpofféite dacility that we recently extended to Februaf17.
We also have several operating leases relatedfite®fin the United States and foreign countridse €xpiration
dates for these leases range from 2013 through. 20E7following is a schedule of future minimumdegayments
for all operating leases as of December 31, 2012:
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Year ending December 31,

2013 $ 2,708,548
2014 2,329,788
2015 1,728,939
2016 1,639,594
2017 298,416
Thereafter -
_$ 8705285

In addition, as of December 31, 2012, our liabifiy uncertain tax positions totaled $2.5 millioBue to the
uncertainty relating to the timing of future payrtersuch amounts are not presented in the aboegsieh

We believe that our current balance of cash, cgslivalents, restricted cash and marketable seesyriind
our expected cash flows from operations, will bifisient to meet our cash requirements for at I¢astnext twelve
months. However, any projections of future cashdeesnd cash flows are subject to substantial uamiogyt See
Part I, Item 1A - Risk Factors

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had no otisizad sheet arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our critical accounting policies and estimates thse related to revenue recognition, accountsivable
allowances, deferred income taxes, accounting fiaresbased payments, goodwill and other intangisisets,
software development costs, fair value measurensgrttditigation.

Revenue Recognition As discussed further in Note (Summary of Significant Accounting Poligiés our
consolidated financial statements, we recognizemeg in accordance with the authoritative guidasseed by the
FASB on revenue recognition. Product revenue isgeized only when pervasive evidence of an arraegem
exists and the fee is fixed and determinable, amathgr criteria. An arrangement is evidenced byigmes
customer contract, a customer purchase order, madioyalty report summarizing software licenselsl $or each
software license resold by an OEM, distributorreseller to an end user. Product fees are fixeddatetminable as
our standard payment terms range from 30 to 90, d#gmending on regional billing practices, and vesehnot
provided any of our customers with extended paynems. When a customer purchases our integrateticss
and/or licenses software together with the purclofiseaintenance, we allocate a portion of the éemaintenance
based upon vendor-specific objective evidence (“E9®@f the fair value of the contractual optiomahintenance
renewal rate. If professional services are incluidealir multi-element software arrangements, wecalle a portion
of the fee to these services based on its VSORip¥/&lue which is established using rates chargeen sold on a
stand-alone basis.

Accounts Receivable We review accounts receivable to determine whiebeivables are doubtful of
collection. In making the determination of the agpiate allowance for uncollectible accounts anirres, we
consider (i) historical return rates, (ii) specifiast due accounts, (iii) analysis of our accovetgivable aging, (iv)
customer payment terms, (v) historical collectionsite-offs and returns, (vi) changes in customemeénd and
relationships, (vii) actual cash collections on accounts receivables and (viii) concentrationgreflit risk and
customer credit worthiness. When determining thpr@griate allowance for uncollectable accounts estdrns
each period, the actual customer collections ofstanting account receivable balances impact theinezh
allowance for returns. We recorded total provisexpenses of approximately $0.4 million, $0.1 milliand $1.2
million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 244d 2010, respectively. These amounts are includl&ih our
consolidated statement of operations in each réspegear. Changes in the product return ratesjicveorthiness
of customers, general economic conditions and ddetors may impact the level of future write-offsyenues and
our general and administrative expenses.

Income Taxes As discussed further in Note (&come Taxesto our consolidated financial statements, in
accordance with the authoritative guidance issuethe FASB on income taxes, we regularly evaluateability
46



to recover deferred tax assets, and report suardeftax assets at the amount that is determmbd tnore-likely-
than-not recoverable. Deferred tax assets anditiebiare recognized for future tax consequendeiatable to
differences between the financial statement cagr@mounts of existing assets and liabilities aradr trespective
tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilitiesne@asured using enacted tax rates expected to &ppbxable
income in the years in which those temporary déffiees are expected to be realized or settled. ffhet ®n

deferred tax assets and liabilities of a chang&nrates is recognized in income in the period theludes the
enactment date. In determining the period in whethted tax benefits are realized for financialortipg purposes,
excess share-based compensation deductions indluded operating losses are realized after requéaoperating
losses are exhausted.

We account for uncertain tax positions in accordawith the authoritative guidance issued by the BAB
income taxes, which addresses the determinatiavhether tax benefits claimed or expected to barsdi on a tax
return, should be recorded in the financial statgmePursuant to the authoritative guidance, we raeggnize the
tax benefit from an uncertain tax position onlytimeets the “more likely than not” threshold tiia¢ position will
be sustained on examination by the taxing authdoiged on the technical merits of the positiore Tx benefits
recognized in the financial statements from sugplesition should be measured based on the largasfibthat has
a greater than fifty percent likelihood of beinglized upon ultimate settlement. In addition, thetharitative
guidance addresses de-recognition, classificaiitierest and penalties on income taxes, accourntinigiterim
periods, and also requires increased disclosures.

Accounting for Share-Based Payments As discussed further in Note (8phare-Based Payment
Arrangementsto our consolidated financial statements, we agtéar share-based awards in accordance with the
authoritative guidance issued by the FASB on stackpensation.

We have used and expect to continue to use thekfaholes option-pricing model to compute thenested
fair value of share-based compensation expense.Bldek-Scholes option-pricing model includes asstioms
regarding dividend yields, expected volatility, egfed option term and risk-free interest rates. agsumptions
used in computing the fair value of share-basedpamsation expense reflect our best estimates, nwativie
uncertainties relating to market and other cond#jomany of which are outside of our control. Wéineste
expected volatility based primarily on historicalilgt price changes of our stock and other factdle expected
option term is the number of years that we estirttziethe stock options will be outstanding primekercise. The
estimated expected term of the stock awards isBasdeen determined pursuant to SEC Staff Accayitinletin
SAB No. 110. Additionally, we estimate forfeiturates based primarily upon historical experienc@steld when
appropriate for known events or expected trends.nVilg adjust share-based compensation expense oartzidy
basis for changes to our estimate of expectedyeguiard forfeitures based on our review of thesm&vand trends
and recognize the effect of adjusting the forfatuate for all expense amortization in the periodvhich we
revised the forfeiture estimate. If other assummior estimates had been used, the share-baseckrsatipn
expense that was recorded for the years ended eceBi, 2012, 2011 and 2010 could have been mieria
different. Furthermore, if different assumptionsestimates are used in future periods, share-bas®gensation
expense could be materially impacted in the future.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets As discussed further in Note (Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies to our consolidated financial statements, we actéor goodwill and other intangible assets incadance
with the authoritative guidance issued by the FASBgoodwill and other intangibles. The authoritatyuidance
requires an impairment-only approach to accounforggoodwill and other intangibles with an indefmilife.
Absent any prior indicators of impairment, we pemrfoan annual impairment analysis during the fogutlarter of
each of our fiscal years.

As of each of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we Ba2irillion of goodwill. As of each of December 2012
and 2011, we had $0.2 million (net of accumulatexbization), of other identifiable intangible asséNe do not
amortize goodwill, but we assess for impairmenteast annually and more often if a trigger eventuss. We
amortize identifiable intangible assets over tlestimated useful lives. We evaluate the recovetaluf goodwill
using a two-step process based on an evaluatidheofeporting unit. The first step involves a congmn of a
reporting unit’s fair value to its carrying value.the second step, if the reporting unit's cargyiralue exceeds its
fair value, we compare the goodwill's implied famlue and its carrying value. If the goodwill's gang value
exceeds its implied fair value, we recognize and@impent loss in an amount equal to such excesseVkiate the
recoverability of other identifiable intangible atswhenever events or changes in circumstancésatedthat its
carrying value may not be recoverable. Such evientade significant adverse changes in businessaté, several
periods of operating or cash flow losses, forechstmtinuing losses or a current expectation thasset or asset a
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group will be disposed of before the end of itsfuldéde. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we wmld record any
impairment charges on either our goodwill or otldentifiable intangible assets.

Software Development CostsAs discussed further in Note (8ummary of Significant Accounting Policies
our consolidated financial statements, we accoumt doftware development costs in accordance with th
authoritative guidance issued by the FASB on cokseftware to be sold, leased or marketed.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had $1.2iamiland $1.0 million, respectively, of software
development costs, net of amortization. The authiive guidance requires that the costs associaidd the
development of new software products and enhandsmerexisting software products be expensed asrried
until technological feasibility of the product hbsen established. Once technological feasibilitgstablished, all
software costs are capitalized until the produetvigilable for general release to customers. Judgiseequired in
determining when technological feasibility of a guet is established and assumptions are usededtiettrour best
estimates. If other assumptions had been useckinuttrent period to estimate technological feasjbithe reported
product development and enhancement expense cawe been affected. Annual amortization of capi¢aliz
software costs is the greater of the amount condpuseng the ratio that current gross revenues fmoduct bear to
the total of current and anticipated future grosgenues for that product or the straight-line metlower the
remaining estimated economic life of the softwaredpct, generally estimated to be five years from date the
product became available for general release tmioess. Software development costs are reportdtedbwer of
amortized cost or net realizable value. Net reblzaalue is computed as the estimated gross fuawenues from
each software solution less the amount of estimétade costs of completing and disposing of theddpct.
Because the development of projected net futuremass related to our software solutions used imetirealizable
value computation is based on estimates, a significeduction in our future revenues could imphetrecovery of
our capitalized software development costs. We tngosoftware development costs using the strdightmethod.

Fair Value Measurement As discussed further in Note (Fpir Value Measurementdo our consolidated
financial statements, we determine fair value mesmants of both financial and nonfinancial assat$labilities
in accordance with the authoritative guidance idduethe FASB on fair value measurements and discés.

In the current market environment, the assessnfghedair value of our marketable securities, $ipeadly our
debt instruments, can be difficult and subjectiVBe volume of trading activity of certain debt mshents has
declined, and the rapid changes occurring in threeati financial markets can lead to changes inféirevalue of
financial instruments in relatively short perioddime. The FASB authoritative guidance establisimese levels of
inputs that may be used to measure fair value. e of input has different levels of subjectivend difficulty
involved in determining fair value.

Level 1- instruments represent quoted prices in activekets. Therefore, determining fair value for Letel
instruments does not require significant managernuelgiment, and the estimation is not difficult.

Level 2- instruments include observable inputs other thewel 1 prices, such as quoted prices for idehtica
instruments in markets with insufficient volumeimirequent transactions (less active markets) gisstedit ratings,
non-binding market consensus prices that can beolvorated with observable market data, model-ddrive
valuations in which all significant inputs are obsble or can be derived principally from or cowoddted with
observable market data for substantially the fuiirt of the assets or liabilities, or quoted prifmgssimilar assets or
liabilities. These Level 2 instruments require maranagement judgment and subjectivity comparedeteel 1
instruments.

Level 3 -instruments include unobservable inputs to theiatidn methodology that are significant to the
measurement of fair value of assets or liabilitiese determination of fair value for Level 3 instrents requires the
most management judgment and subjectivity. All af marketable debt instruments classified as Laae valued
using an undiscounted cash flow analysis, a hodibgnmarket consensus price and/or a non-bindiogdsrquote,
all of which we corroborate with unobservable ddtmn-binding market consensus prices are basedhen t
proprietary valuation models of pricing providers lirokers. These valuation models incorporate a bainof
inputs, including non-binding and binding brokerotgs; observable market prices for identical andiarilar
securities; and the internal assumptions of prigingviders or brokers that use observable markaits and to a
lesser degree non-observable market inputs. Adprstisrto the fair value of instruments priced usiog-binding
market consensus prices and non-binding brokereguand classified as Level 3, were not significamtof
December 31, 2011. There were no instruments &kedsis Level 3 as of December 31, 2012.
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Other-Than-Temporary Impairment

After determining the fair value of our availabla-sale debt instruments, gains or losses on tinesstments
are recorded to other comprehensive income, utiiéethe investment is sold or we determine thatdecline in
value is other-than-temporary. Determining whetttex decline in fair value is other-than-temporaeguires
management judgment based on the specific factiacimstances of each investment. For investmiantkebt
instruments, these judgments primarily considefithencial condition and liquidity of the issuengtissuer’s credit
rating, and any specific events that may cause lelieve that the debt instrument will not matarel be paid in
full, and our ability and intent to hold the invesint to maturity. Given the current market condisiothese
judgments could prove to be wrong, and companiés relatively high credit ratings and solid finasloconditions
may not be able to fulfill their obligations.

Litigation . As discussed further in Note (12igation, to our consolidated financial statements, in eda&nce
with the authoritative guidance issued by the FA@Bcontingencies, the Company accrues anticipabtsts of
settlement, damages and losses for claims to ttemtespecific losses are probable and estimable. Qétmpany
records a receivable for insurance recoveries veluieh amounts are probable and collectable. In sashs, there
may be an exposure to loss in excess of any amauctsied. If, at the time of evaluation, the losgtingency
related to a litigation is not both probable arstireable, the matter will continue to be monitofed further
developments that would make such loss contingbntly probable and estimable and, the Company wjleese
these costs as incurred. If the estimate of a fmelass is a range and no amount within the rasgeore likely,
the Company will accrue the minimum amount of tuege.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Item 8 of Part Il, Consolidated Financial Steets — Note (1yummary of Significant Accounting Policies —
New Accounting Pronouncements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative DisclosuresAbout Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk€ur cash, cash equivalents and marketable siesuaggregated $29.9 million as of
December 31, 2012. Our exposure to market riskchanges in interest rates relates primarily to inuestment
portfolio. All of our cash equivalent and marketabkcurities are designated as available-for-sale accordingly,
are presented at fair value on our consolidatednzal sheets. We regularly assess these risks &acehtablished
policies and business practices to manage the megkeof our marketable securities. We generatiyest our
excess cash in investment grade short- to intemtedérm fixed income securities and AAA-rated mon®rket
funds. Fixed rate securities may have their fairketavalue adversely affected due to a rise inr@derates, and we
may suffer losses in principal if forced to seltggties that have declined in market value dueh@anges in interest
rates. Due to the short-term nature of the majaitgur investments, the already severely suppdesgerest rates
we currently earn, and the fact that over 65% af total cash, cash equivalents and marketable isiesuare
comprised of money market funds and cash, we ddeli#ve we are subject to any material interes riaks on
our investment balances levels at December 31,.2012

Foreign Currency RiskWe have several offices outside the United Stakesordingly, we are subject to
exposure from adverse movements in foreign currenmhange rates. For the years ended December032, 2
2011 and 2010, approximately 60%, 56% and 45% eatsely, of our sales were from outside North Aiteer Not
all of these transactions were made in foreignengies. Our primary exposure is to fluctuationgxohange rates
for the U.S. Dollar versus the Euro, and the Japanéen, and to a lesser extent the Canadian DdflarKorean
Won, the New Taiwanese Dollar and the AustralialtadoChanges in exchange rates in the functionedenicy for
each geographic area’s revenues are primarily otigethe related expenses associated with suchnuege
However, changes in exchange rates of a particulaency could impact the re-measurement of sutdnbas on
our balance sheets.

If foreign currency exchange rates were to chamyer@ely by 10% from the levels at December 312201
the effect on our results before taxes from foremmrency fluctuations on our balance sheet woukd b
approximately $1.2 million. The above analysis efigrds the possibility that rates for differenteign currencies
can move in opposite directions and that lossaa fsne currency may be offset by gains from anotherency.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
FalconStor Software, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of FalconStor Software, Inc. and subggdias of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related cdasedl statements of operations, stockholders’ gquit
comprehensive loss, and cash flows for each ofi¢laes in the three-year period ended December@2.2rhese
consolidated financial statements are the respiingibf the Company’'s management. Our respongibil§ to
express an opinion on these consolidated finastagééments based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighafgo
(United States). Those standards require that we ahd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of nalterisstatement. An audit also includes examinama test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurd@kdrfinancial statements, assessing the accouptingiples
used and significant estimates made by managenasntwell as evaluating the overall financial statetme
presentation. We believe that our audits provideaaonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaenreferred to above present fairly, in all materespects, the
financial position of FalconStor Software, Inc. asubsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011thendesults
of their operations and their cash flows for eatthe years in the three-year period ended Dece®@bep012, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounpmnigciples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stadsdz# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boggnited
States), the effectiveness of FalconStor Software,and subsidiaries’ internal control over fineheceporting as of
December 31, 2012, based on criteria establishebhternal Control — Integrated-rameworkissued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tred®@ommission (COSO), and our report, dated Maigh 1
2013, expressed an unqualified opinion on the tffecess of internal control over financial repogti

/sl KPMG LLP

Melville, New York,
March 18, 2013
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
FalconStor Software, Inc.:

We have audited FalconStor Software, Inc. and didrgés’ internal control over financial reportirgs of
December 31, 2012, based on criteria establishebhternal Control — Integrated Frameworissued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremdwommission (COSO). FalconStor Software, Inc.’s
management is responsible for maintaining effeativernal control over financial reporting and fts assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over finah reporting, included in the accompanying Mamaget’'s Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Oesponsibility is to express an opinion on the Comyfsinternal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversight rdoa
(United States). Those standards require that we ahd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financiaporting was maintained in all material respectsr @udit
included obtaining an understanding of internaltc@rover financial reporting, assessing the risitta material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating thigrdesd operating effectiveness of internal conb@sed on the
assessed risk. Our audit also included performimgh sother procedures as we considered necessatiyein
circumstances. We believe that our audit provide=saaonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableraasu
regarding the reliability of financial reporting cdathe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptesz A company’s internal control over financraporting

includes those policies and procedures that (Japeto the maintenance of records that, in readendetail,

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions digpositions of the assets of the company; (2) ideoveasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necésszermit preparation of financial statementsagtordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #rat receipts and expenditures of the company eiegbmade
only in accordance with authorizations of managenaewl directors of the company; and (3) providesoeable
assurance regarding prevention or timely deteaifaimauthorized acquisition, use, or dispositiorthaf company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tlaniial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtwver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesés future periods are subject to the risk thatrads may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, bthbadegree of compliance with the policies orcpdures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, FalconStor Software, Inc. and sdiasies maintained, in all material respects, difecinternal
control over financial reporting as of December 2012, based on criteria establishedImternal Control —
Integrated Frameworkssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bog@snited
States), the consolidated balance sheets of FalmoS8ftware, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decendiie2012 and
2011, and the related consolidated statements efatipns, stockholders’ equity, comprehensive lasd cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year geended December 31, 2012, and our report datedhVis8, 2013
expressed an unqualified opinion on those congelitifinancial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Melville, New York
March 18, 2013
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Asset:

FALCONSTOR SOFTWARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Current asset
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Marketable securitie
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $940 dfix

$1,723,679, respective
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Inventory
Deferred tax assets, r
Total current asse

Property and equipment, net of accumulated degieciaf

$16,131,570 and $17,797,835, respecti
Long-term marketable securiti
Deferred tax assets, r
Software development costs, |
Other assets, n

Goodwill

Other intangible assets, r

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Current |

iabilities

Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Deferred revenue, n
Total current liabilities

Other long-term liabilitie:
Deferred tax liabilities, ne
Deferred revenue, n

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders' equit

Preferred stock - $.001 par value, 2,000,000 starg®rized

Common stock - $.001 par value, 100,000,000 slardwrized,
55,615,972 and 54,931,397 shares issued, respgciveg
47,610,737 and 46,926,162 shares outstanding,atibsglg

Additional paid-in capital

Accum

Common stock held in treasury, at cost (8,005,2858005,235

ulated deficit

shares, respectively)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

December 31,

2017 2011
$ 18,651,46! $ 16,257,690
750,00 -
10,530,94 20,894,32.
14,130,30; 19,314,78¢
2,796,66! 1,912,83:
642,81 1,769,00
464,03 177,79
47,966,22 60,326,44
3,980,67! 4,364,18!
- 611,08;
86,46t 217,77
1,161,82; 1,001,53(
2,185,14 2,183,97:
4,150,33 4,150,33¢
174,421 191,57

$ 59,705,106 $ 73,046,894
$ 2,801,37: $ 2,883,84
16,720,58: 17,609, 76t
17,831,65: 19,450,961

37,353,607 39,944,576
2,618,81 2,587,32
167,87! -
6,311,86! 7,698,05:

46,452,165 50,229,956

55,616 54,931

162,673,833 157,321,564

(100,910,119)

(46,916,339)

(85,925,798)

(46,916,339)

501,(850) (1,717,420)
13,252,941 22,816,938
$ H957106 $ 73,046,894

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana#tstents.
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FALCONSTOR SOFTWARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues:
Product revenues
Support and services revenues
Total revenues

Cost of revenues:
Product
Support and service
Total cost of revenues

Gross profit

Operating expenses
Research and development costs
Selling and marketing
General and administrative

Investigation, litigation, and settlement

related costs
Restructuring costs
Total operating expenses

Operating loss
Interest and other (loss) income, net
Loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss
Basic net loss per share
Diluted net loss per share

Weighted average basic shares
outstanding

Weighted average diluted shares
outstanding

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
41,358,621 $ 49,470,139 $ 51,905,096
34,052,348 33,400,463 30,938,650
75,410,969 880,602 82,843,746
8,215,152 8,386,864 9,291,236
12,446,921 13,130,045 12,147,715
20,662,073 21,516,909 21,438,951
54,748,896 $ 61,353,693 $ 61,404,795
18,686,32 21,199,816 26,905,748
36,008,655 39,597,590 40,844,909
13,334,475 11,696,512 9,626,464
(326,408) 250,388 1,616,241
770,749 822,320 -
68,423,799 83,573,626 78,993,362
(13,674,903) (22,219,933) (17,588,567)
(523,011) 59,082 (213,079)
(14,197,914) (22,159,951) (17,801,646)
786,407 1,208,332 17,573,975
(14,984,321) $ (23,368,283) $ ,235,621)
(0.32) $ (0.50) $ (0.78)
(0.32) $ (0.50) $ (0.78)
47,408,995 46,628 45,549,314
47,408,995 46,628 45,549,314

See accompanying notes to consolidated financtstents.
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FALCONSTOR SOFTWARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common stock, beginning of y¢
Exercise of stock awar
Common stock, end of ye

Additional paid-in capital, beginning of ye
Exercise of stock awar
Net effects of tax shortfalls from stock-based alaativity
Share-based compensation to non-emplc
Share-based compensation to empla

Additional paid-in capital, end of ye

Accumulated deficit, beginning of ye
Net lost

Accumulated deficit, end of ye

Treasury stock, beginning and end of

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, beginningai
Other comprehensive income (Ic

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, end of

Total stockholders' equity

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 201(

54,93 54,14 $ 52,38
68 78 1,75
55,61 54,93 54,14
157,321,56 150,884,18 141,726,80
737,50 919,32 408,13
- - 63,68
27,48 24,36 819,18
4,587,28 5,493,68 7,866,38
162,673,83 157,321,56 150,884,18
(85,925,79 (62,557,51! (27,181,89
(14,984,32: (23,368,28: (35,375,62:
(100,910,11¢ (85,925,79 (62,557,51!
(46,916,33" (46,916,33" (46,916,33"
(1,717,42( (1,525,61¢ (1,528,04
67,37 (191,80 2,43
(1,650,05( (1,717 42 (1,525,61:

$ 13,252,941 2,816,938 $ 39,938,863

See accompanying notes to consolidated financassients.
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FALCONSTOR SOFTWARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Years Ended December 31,

2017 2011 201C

Net los: $  (14,984,32: $  (23,368,28. $ (35,375,622
Other comprehensive income (lo:

Foreign currency translati (152,07! (279,89¢ (75,08

Net unrealized gains on markete

securitie 90,00 20,20 137,17

Net minimum pension liabilit 129,44 67,89 (59,65!

Total other comprehensive income (l¢ 67,37 (191,80t 2,43
Total comprehensive loss $  (14,916,951) $£3,560,089) $  (35,373,191)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financtdstents.
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FALCONSTOR SOFTWARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,
2012 2011 201(

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (14,984,32: $ (23,368,28: $ (35,375,62:
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash from
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortizati 3,314,36 4,107,76 5,644,68
Share-based payment compens: 4,587,28 5,493,68 7,866,38
Non-cash professional services expe 27,48 24,36 819,18
Realized (gain) loss on marketable secul (90! - 90,76
Impairment of cost method investme 10,72 41,78 -
Provision for returns and doubtful accot 357,30 120,99 1,211,83
Deferred income tax provisi (83,35( (160,43 16,075,13
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivab 4,849,20 3,830,76 438,52
Prepaid expenses and other current & (889,27t (333,73. 826,64
Inventory 1,126,18 (359,34t (1,080,00:
Other asse 31,83 48,13 204,65
Accounts payab (101,78« 1,446,11 (96,23t
Accrued expenses and other liabili (660,42 8,670,79 324,72
Deferred revent (2,852,79: 3,576,16 1,320,82
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (5,268,47( 3,138,76 (1,728,50:
Cash flows from investing activities:
Sales of marketable securities 32,332,95 22,098,20 34,148,77
Purchases of marketable securities (21,267,58: (24,101,13t (27,586,59.
Transfer to restricted cash (750,00( - -
Purchases of property and equipment (2,487,12¢ (2,220,38( (2,700,37!
Capitalized software development costs (461,55! (1,001,02! (107,20t
Security deposits (29,74t (48,23t 9,08
Purchase of intangible assets (101,64. (127,89 (129,301
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 7,235,30 (5,400,46! 3,634,37
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 738,18 920,10 409,88
Net cash provided by financing activities 738,18 920,10 409,88
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casiaémts (311,24: (243,26 (225,73:
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent 2,393,77. (1,584,86: 2,090,02
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 16,257,69 17,842,55 15,752,52
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 18,651,468 $ 16,257,694 $ 172,885
Cash paid for income taxes, net $ 688,164 $ 1,221,294 $ 721,159

The Company did not pay any interest for the tlyeses ended December 31, 2012.

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana#tstents.
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FALCONSTOR SOFTWARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2012
(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(@) The Company and Nature of Operations

FalconStor Software, Inc., a Delaware Corporatittre (‘'Company"), develops, manufactures and selia da
protection solutions and provides the related neaiahce, implementation and engineering services.

(b) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include ttemants of the Company and its wholly-owned sulasiels.
All significant intercompany balances and trangadihave been eliminated in consolidation.

(c) Reclassifications

Certain prior year's amounts have been reclasstfiedonform to the current year presentation. Itigation
costs recorded in 2010 are now presented separfatety “general and administrative” expenses. Certists
previously recorded within “cost of revenues — supmnd services” are now presented within “redeand
development costs” to better align these costs fuitlstions performed.

(d) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conféymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiges
management to make estimates and assumptions fteat the reported amounts of assets and liatslited
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitieshat date of the financial statements and the regasimounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting pefioe.Company’s significant estimates include thasdated to
revenue recognition, accounts receivable allowarsleare-based payment compensation, cost-basestrimsmets,
marketable securities, software development cgstsdwill and other intangible assets and incomegaXctual
results could differ from those estimates.

The financial market volatility, both in the U.Shdain many other countries where the Company opsydtas
impacted and may continue to impact the Company&ness. Such conditions could have a material dtnjpathe
Company’s significant accounting estimates disalisg®ve.

(e) Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash and Marketabbeii8ees

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith maturities of three months or less when pasghl to
be cash equivalents. The Company records its apsliadents and marketable securities at fair valugccordance
with the authoritative guidance issued by the FinAccounting Standards Board (“FASB”) on fairlva
measurements and disclosures. As of both Deceniher032 and 2011, the Company’s cash equivalemtsisted
of money market funds. At December 31, 2012 antil2@he fair value of the Company's cash equivalent
amounted to approximately $4.3 million and $8.1lioml, respectively.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had $0.8 anilbf restricted cash. The restricted cash serses a
collateral related to deposit service indebtedmétts the Company’s commercial bank. As of Decenier2012,
the Company did not have any deposit service iraktess with the Company’s bank.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company'sentiportion of marketable securities consisted of
corporate bonds and government securities. As @ebéer 31, 2012 and 2011, the fair value of the @omy's
current marketable securities was approximately.%hdillion and $20.9 million, respectively. In atidh, as of
December 31, 2011, the Company had an additionél iB@llion of long-term marketable securities thetuired a
higher level of judgment to determine the fair walDuring 2012, these auction rate securities wated by the
issuer at par value. All of the Company’s marketad®curities are classified as available-for-sae, accordingly,
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unrealized gains and losses on marketable sea nitet of tax, are reflected as a component ofraatated other
comprehensive loss in stockholders’ equity. Anyeottihan-temporary impairments are recorded withtarest and
other loss, net in the consolidated statement afraipns. See Note (Marketable Securitiedor additional
information.

(f) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the price that would beeireed to sell an asset or paid to transfer alitgkin an
orderly transaction between market participanth@tmeasurement date. To increase the comparattiligir value
measurements, a three-tier fair value hierarchychvprioritizes the inputs used in the valuatiortimoeologies, is
as follows:

Level 1—Valuations based on quoted prices for identicaétssand liabilities in active markets.

Level 2—Valuations based on observable inputs other themegl prices included in Level 1, such as quoted
prices for similar assets and liabilities in activerkets, quoted prices for identical or similasets and
liabilities in markets that are not active, or otheputs that are observable or can be corroborated
observable market data.

Level 3—Valuations based on unobservable inputs refleaimgown assumptions, consistent with reasonably
available assumptions made by other market paatitfp These valuations require significant judgment

As of both December 31, 2012 and 2011, the famevalf the Company’s financial instruments includoagh
and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, acc@aytble, and accrued expenses, approximated rgrglue
due to the short maturity of these instruments.\ate (4)Fair Value Measurementsr additional information.

(g) Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenue from sales ofritslycts, support and services. Product revenueastercs
the Company’s software integrated with industryndtad hardware and sold as complete turn-key iatedr
solutions. Product revenue also consists of stémtkasoftware applications. Support and servicesmee consists
of both maintenance revenues and professionalcesrvevenues. Revenue is recorded net of applisalde taxes.

In accordance with the authoritative guidance idsbhg the FASB on revenue recognition, the Company
recognizes revenue from product sales when pexsuasidence of an arrangement exists, the feexed fand
determinable, the product is delivered, and cabbecbf the resulting receivable is deemed probaPl@ducts
delivered to a customer on a trial basis are nmigeized as revenue until a permanent key codeligeded to the
customer. Reseller customers typically send the iz a purchase order when they have an end usmstifidd.
Distributor customers typically send the Companpuachase order when they have a reseller and eed us
identified. For bundled arrangements that inclutieee maintenance or both maintenance and profeskservices,
the Company uses the residual method to deterrhimeamount of product revenue to be recognized. Utiae
residual method, consideration is allocated to uwhdelivered elements based upon vendor-specifiectiog
evidence (“VSOE") of the fair value of those elertserwith the residual of the arrangement fee atletdo and
recognized as product revenue. The long-term pomiodeferred revenue relates to maintenance aiatrith
terms in excess of one year. The Company provideallawance for product returns as a reductionesenue,
based upon historical experience and known or éggddoends.

Revenues associated with maintenance servicesefgaetl and recognized as revenue ratably ovetetine
of the contract. Revenues associated with profeakiservices are recognized when the services enfermed.
Costs of providing these services are includedst of support and services.

The Company has entered into various distributlm@nsing and joint promotion agreements with OEMs,
whereby the Company has provided to the OEM a maiusive software license to install the Comparsgftware
on certain hardware or to resell the Company’sisnt in exchange for payments based on the prodisttéuted
by these OEMs. Such payments from the OEM or Oistor are recognized as revenue in the period tegdry
the OEM .
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(h) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Diggieat is recognized using the straight-line metbodr the
estimated useful lives of the assets (3 to 7 yedegsehold improvements are amortized on a stréiigh basis
over the terms of the respective leases or ovéardésgmated useful lives, whichever is shorter.

(i) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchasee power the estimated fair value of net tangible and

identifiable intangible assets acquired in busirsessbinations. The Company has not amortized gdbdeiéated to

its acquisitions, but instead tests the balanceirfgrairment. The Company evaluates goodwill for anment
annually or more frequently when an event occursireumstances change that indicate that the cayryalue may
not be recoverable. The Company tests goodwilirfgrairment by first comparing the book value of assets to
the fair value of the reporting unit. If the faialue is determined to be less than the book valugialitative factors
indicate that it is more likely than not that goditlie impaired, a second step is performed to coregghe amount

of impairment as the difference between the eséthédir value of goodwill and the carrying value.

The Company’s annual impairment assessment is pegfb during the fourth quarter of each year, are th
Company has determined there to be no impairmenariy of the periods presented. Based on the Coytgan
analysis, the fair value of its reporting unit sialngially exceeds the carrying value of its gootidlances as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011. Identifiable intangibksets include (i) assets acquired through busines
combinations, which include customer contractsiatellectual property, and (ii) patents amortizegiothree years
using the straight-line method.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 an@, 20dortization expense was $118,789, $323,540 and
$565,501, respectively. The gross carrying amouat @&cumulated amortization of other intangibleetssas of
December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2012 2011
Goodwill $ 4,150,33* $ 4,150,33
Other intangible assets:
Gross carrying amount $ 3,128,588 $ 3,026,945
Accumulated amortization (2,954,162) (2,835,373)
Net carrying amou $ 174,42t  $ 191,57:

As of December 31, 2012, amortization expense f@tiag identifiable intangible assets is expectede
$99,131, $57,215 and $18,080 for the years endegriger 31, 2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively. @sshts
will be fully amortized at December 31, 2015.

() Software Development Costs and Purchased Softweariendlogy

In accordance with the authoritative guidance idsoye the FASB on costs of software to be sold,ddasr
marketed, costs associated with the developmenewf software products and enhancements to existiftgvare
products are expensed as incurred until technabdgasibility of the product has been establistigaked on the
Company’s product development process, technolbdéasibility is established upon completion of arking
model. Amortization of software development costgdcorded at the greater of the straight-lineshaser the
product’s estimated life, or the ratio of curreptipd revenue of the related products to totalentrand anticipated
future revenue of these products. During 2012 abitil2the Company capitalized approximately $461,668
$1,001,025, respectively, of costs associated saftware development projects. During the yearsdridecember
31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Company recorded $881$140,326 and $26,901, respectively, of amatitin
expense related to capitalized software costs.
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As of December 31, 2012, amortization expense dftmsre development costs is expected to be $328,25
$292,516, $292,516, $214,826 and $33,713 for tleesyended December 31, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 @hd, 2
respectively. Such assets will be fully amortiaédecember 31, 2017.

Purchased software technology is carried at netevand is included within “other assets, net” i th
consolidated balance sheets. Purchased softwanadiegy had been fully amortized since December2811,0.
Amortization expense was $510,000 for the year @ridecember 31, 2010. Amortization of purchasedwsof
technology was recorded at the greater of thegsitdine basis over the products estimated remagilife or the
ratio of current period revenue of the related poe to total current and anticipated future reeewd these
products.

(k) Income Taxes

The Company records income taxes under the ligbitiethod. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

recognized for future tax consequences attributibtéfferences between the financial statementysag amounts

of existing assets and liabilities and their refipedax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabiléresmeasured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxableniecin the years in which those temporary differenaee
expected to be realized or settled. The effect eferded tax assets and liabilities of a changeain rates is
recognized in income in the period that includesehactment date. In determining the period in winidated tax
benefits are realized for financial reporting pleg®, excess share-based compensation deductidudeitién net
operating losses are realized after regular netatipg losses are exhausted.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positiorsccordance with the authoritative guidance issuethe
FASB on income taxes, which addresses the detetiminaf whether tax benefits claimed or expectedbén
claimed on a tax return, should be recorded infithencial statements. Pursuant to the authoritagvielance, the
Company may recognize the tax benefit from an uagetax position only if it meets the “more likellyan not”
threshold that the position will be sustained oarsixation by the taxing authority, based on thénexal merits of
the position. The tax benefits recognized in timariicial statements from such a position should éasored based
on the largest benefit that has a greater thay fidrcent likelihood of being realized upon ultimagttiement. In
addition, the authoritative guidance addressesdegnition, classification, interest and penaltasncome taxes,
accounting in interim periods, and also requireseased disclosures. The Company includes intarespenalties
related to its uncertain tax positions as partngbime tax expense within its consolidated stateraEnperations.
See Note (6)ncome Taxefor additional information.

() Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impant whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the asset naybe recoverable. If the sum of the expectedréubash flows,
undiscounted and without interest, is less tharcireying amount of the asset, an impairment lssgc¢ognized as
the amount by which the carrying amount of the tasseeeds its fair value.

(m) Share-Based Payments

The Company accounts for share-based paymentsordance with the authoritative guidance issuedhley
FASB on share-based compensation, which establtbleegccounting for transactions in which an ergitghanges
its equity instruments for goods or services. Untler provisions of the authoritative guidance, sHzased
compensation expense is measured at the grantldeted on the fair value of the award, and is neieeg as an
expense over the requisite employee service pégederally the vesting period), net of estimatedeitures. The
Company estimates the fair value of share-basedh@atg using the Black-Scholes option-pricing modéie
estimation of share-based awards that will ultinyateest requires judgment, and to the extent actasllts or
updated estimates differ from the Company’s curestimates, such amounts will be recorded as a letive!
adjustment in the period estimates are revised. Gommpany considers many factors when estimatingeaeg
forfeitures, including types of awards, employesssland historical experience. Additionally, sHzaeed awards to
non-employees are expensed over the period in whiehelated services are rendered at their fairevaAll share-
based awards are expected to be fulfilled with sbares of common stock. See Note $8are-Based Payment
Arrangementdor additional information.
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(n) Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations amnglated at rates of exchange at the end of thedyevhile
results of operations are translated at averagbhaege rates in effect for the period. Gains anddssrom the
translation of foreign assets and liabilities frtme functional currency of the Company’s subsiéigiinto the U.S.
dollar are classified as accumulated other commr&iae loss in stockholders’ equity. Gains and Isegsem foreign
currency transactions are included in the constdfiatatements of operations within interest arkrotncome
(loss), net.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 201128d48, foreign currency transactional losses totaled
approximately $653,000, $78,000 and $338,000, rtiedy.

(o) Earnings Per Share (EPS)

Basic EPS is computed based on the weighted avatagber of shares of common stock outstanding.t&ilu
EPS is computed based on the weighted average mumib@dommon shares outstanding increased by ddutiv
common stock equivalents, attributable to stockooptiwards, restricted stock awards and restristedk unit
awardsoutstanding. Due to the net loss for the years @zkrember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, all commork stoc
equivalents, totaling 11,532,032, 14,982,611 an®33306, respectively, were excluded from diluted loss per
share because they were anti-dilutive.

The following represents a reconciliation of themaumators and denominators of the basic and dil&es
computation:

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Year Ended Decemb20B1, Year Ended December 31, 2010
Net Loss Shares Per Share Net Loss Shares Per Share oséet L Shares Per Share
(Numerator) _ (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) __ (Denonmimat Amount (Numerator) _ (Denominator) Amount
Basic EPS $ (14,984,321)  47,408995 $ (032) $ (23,368283) 46,648928 $ (0500 $ (35375621) 45549314 $ 0.78)
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options and
restricted stock
Diluted EPS $ (14,984,321) 47,408,995 $ (032) _$ (23,368,283)  46,648928 $ (050) _$ (35375,621)  45549,314 $ (0.78)

(p) Investments

As of both December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Compamayntained certain cost-method investments
aggregating approximately $0.9 million, which areclided within “other assets, net” in the accompamy
consolidated balance sheets. During 2012 and 28&1Company recognized impairment charges of ajppeirly
$11,000 and $42,000, respectively, related to iceid its cost-method investments as a result dfeethan-
temporary declines in market value related to @ertd these investments. These charges are includtidn
“interest and other income (loss), net” in the aspanying consolidated statements of operationsinQ®010, the
Company did not recognize any impairment charges.

(q) Treasury Stock

The Company accounts for treasury stock underdbernethod and includes treasury stock as a conmpofie
stockholders’ equity.

() New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB issued guidance oneperting of amounts reclassified out of accumul atia:r
comprehensive income. The guidance requires a aoyni report the effect of significant reclassifions out of
accumulated other comprehensive income on the ¢ctgpdine items in net income if the amount beiaglassified
is required under U.S. generally accepted accogmtimciples to be reclassified in its entiretynet income. For
other amounts that are not required under U.S.rgémeccepted accounting principles to be recfessiin their
entirety to net income in the same reporting perimdcompany is required to cross-reference othsrlalures
required under U.S. generally accepted accountinigciples that provide additional detail about thos
amounts. The guidance will be effective for thex@any for all reporting periods ending after Jaguar2013. We
do not expect the guidance to have a material impacthe Company’s consolidated financial statesemtd
disclosures.
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In July 2012, the FASB issued guidance that peramnt®ntity to first assess qualitative factors ¢tednine
whether it is more likely than not that an inddfiived intangible asset is impaired as a basisdftermining
whether it is necessary to perform a quantitativedirment test. An entity would continue to calteltoe fair value
of an indefinite-lived intangible asset if the d¥sdls the qualitative assessment, while no furtirealysis would be
required if it passes. The guidance is effectivetifi® Company for annual periods beginning aftgt&@aber 15,
2012. We do not expect the new guidance to havmpact on the 2013 impairment test results.

In September 2011, the FASB issued guidance fangibles — goodwill and other, related to goodwill
impairment guidance. The guidance gives an optofirst assess qualitative factors to determine thdrethe
existence of events or circumstances leads toexrdigtation that it is more likely than not that tlaér value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying amountfter assessing all events and circumstancestiay éetermines it
is not more likely than not that the fair valuesofeporting unit is less than its carrying amotim, performance of
the existing two-step impairment test is unnecgssbine guidance was effective for the Company fonual
periods beginning after December 15, 2011. Theeémpghtation of the guidance did not have a matariphct on
the Company'’s consolidated financial statementsdislosures.

In June 2011, the FASB issued guidance that mattiwv comprehensive income is presented in anyentit
financial statements. The guidance issued require®ntity to present the total of comprehensivenme, the
components of net income, and the components adratbmprehensive income either in a single contisuo
statement of comprehensive income or in two sepapat consecutive statements and eliminates thieropd
present the components of other comprehensive iacasnpart of the statement of equity. The reviseantial
statement presentation for comprehensive incomeetfestive for the Company for annual periods beuig after
December 15, 2011. The Company has included antiauli statement as a result of applying this guiga

In May 2011, the FASB issued guidance for fair ealmeasurements intended to achieve common faievalu
measurement and disclosure requirements. The amlenddance provides a consistent definition of faitue to
ensure that the fair value measurement and disdamguirements are similar between U.S. geneealbepted
accounting principles and International FinanciabBrting Standards. The amended guidance changadair
value measurement principles and enhances theoslisel requirements, particularly for Level 3 faialue
measurements. The amended guidance was effectivehé Company for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2011. The implementation of the guidadid not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

(2) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following:

December 31, December 31,
2012 2011

Computer hardware and software $ 16,626,381$ 19,080,877
Furniture and equipment 893,918 803,950
Leasehold improvements 2,578,942 2,264,180
Automobile 13,008 13,008
20,112,249 22,162,015

Less accumulated depreciation (16,131,570) (17,797,835)

$ 398067 $ 4,364,18

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 26&X;ompany wrote off approximately $4.6 milliondan
$5.3 million, respectively, of fully depreciatedsats and related accumulated depreciation, for poooses only.
Depreciation expense was $2.9 million, $3.6 milléord $4.5 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respetyiv
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(3) Marketable Securities

The Company’'s marketable securities consist oflalke-for-sale securities, which are carried at failue,
with unrealized gains and losses reported as araepeomponent of stockholders’ equity. Unrealigaihs and
losses are computed on the specific identificativethod. Realized gains, realized losses and dsclmevalue
judged to be other-than-temporary, are includedhiarest and other income, net. The cost of avislidr-sale
securities sold is based on the specific identificamethod and interest earned is included inr@steand other
income.

The cost and fair values of the Company’'s availftiesale marketable securities as of December2812,

were as follows:

Aggregate Cost or Amortized Net Unrealized

Fair Value Cost Gains / (Loss)
Government securities $ 8,328,392 % 8,324,372 $ 4,020
Corporate debt securities 2,202,550 2,200,360 2,190
$ 10,530,942 % 10,524,732 % 6,210

The cost and fair values of the Company’s availébiesale marketable securities as of Decembef@11,

were as follows:

Aggregate Cost or Amortized Net Unrealized
Fair Value Cost Gains / (Loss)
Auction rate securities $ 611,082 % 700,000 $ (88,918)
Government securities 17,303,207 17,286,598 16,609
Corporate debt securities 3,691,121 3,602,602 (11,481)
$ 21,505,410 _$ 21,589,200 % (83,790)

The cost basis and fair value of available-foesacurities by contractual maturity as of Decen®ie012,
were as follows:

Fair Value Cost
Due within one year $ 8,723,955 % 8,719,995
Due after one year 1,806,987 1,804,737
$ 10,530,942 _$ 10,524,732

(4) Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures its cash equivalents ancetabt& securities at fair value. Fair value is sih @rice,
representing the amount that would be receivedherséle of an asset or that would be paid to tearssfiability in
an orderly transaction between market participaAts.a basis for considering such assumptions, thepany
utilizes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, whichiopitizes the inputs used in the valuation metHodies in
measuring fair value:

Fair Value Hierarchy

The methodology for measuring fair value specifidserarchy of valuation techniques based uportivenéhe
inputs to those valuation techniques reflect assiomg other market participants would use based uparket data
obtained from independent sources (observable shpat reflect the Company’'s own assumptions of miark
participant valuation (unobservable inputs). Asesult, observable and unobservable inputs havetecrethe
following fair value hierarchy:
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» Level 1- Quoted prices in active markets that are unéeljusnd accessible at the measurement date for
identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities. Tlevel 1 category includes money market funds, wiith
December 31, 2012 and 2011 totaled $4.3 million $&d million, respectively, which are included
within “cash and cash equivalents” in the constéidaalance sheets.

* Level 2 -Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilitremarkets that are not active, quoted prices for
similar assets and liabilities in active marketdinancial instruments for which significant inpuase
observable, either directly or indirectly. The Lk category includes government securities and
corporate debt securities, which at December 3122Md 2011 totaled $10.5 million and $20.9 million
respectively, which are included within “cash amgit equivalents” and “marketable securities” in the
consolidated balance sheets.

» Level 3— Prices or valuations that require inputs thattasth significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable. The Level 3 category includesiaucate securities, which at December 31, 2011
totaled $0.6 million, which are included within fig-term marketable securities” in the consolidated

balance sheets.
Measurement of Fair Value

The Company measures fair value as an exit préieguthe procedures described below for all asaets
liabilities measured at fair value. When availalthe Company uses unadjusted quoted market pricesetsure
fair value and classifies such items within Levelfjuoted market prices are not available, failue is based upon
financial models that use, when possible, currestket-based or independently-sourced market pasmstich as
interest rates and currency rates. Items valuetyudsiancial generated models are classified adegr the lowest
level input or value driver that is significantttee valuation. Thus, an item may be classifiedénd!l 3 even though
there may be inputs that are readily observablgudited market prices are not available, the veloahodel used
generally depends on the specific asset or lighiiging valued. The determination of fair value siders various
factors including interest rate yield curves amgetivalue underlying the financial instruments.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company held cedasets that were required to be measured at faie vm a
recurring basis. Included within the Company’'s nesakle securities portfolio were investments intiancrate
securities, which were classified as availabledale securities and were reflected at fair valugee Tompany
determined the estimated fair values of those #euutilizing a discounted cash flow analysisother type of
valuation model. These analyses considered, amdhgr atems, the collateral underlying the securitye
creditworthiness of the issuer, the timing of thgpexted future cash flows, including the final nmdjy and an
assumption of when the next time the security waeeted to have a successful auction. These sesuniere also
compared, when possible, to other observable aleyaret market data, which is limited at this tim&s of
December 31, 2011, the fair value of our auctice ecurities was approximately $611,000, whiches of a
cumulative temporary decline in fair value of appinwately $89,000, and was recorded in accumulatéero
comprehensive loss. During 2012, the remainind$D auction rate notes were called by the issupar value.

The Company measures its cash equivalents ancetabt& securities at fair value. Fair value is sih @rice,
representing the amount that would be receivedherséle of an asset or that would be paid to tearssfiability in
an orderly transaction between market participaAts.a basis for considering such assumptions, thepany
utilizes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, whichiopitizes the inputs used in the valuation metHodies in
measuring fair value:

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table presents the Company’s asdeds &re measured at fair value on a recurring betsis
December 31, 2012:
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Cash equivalents:

Active Markets for

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in Significant

Significant other Unobservable

Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Money market funds $ 4,285,309 4,285,309 $ - $ -
Total cash equivalents 4,285,309 4,285,309 - -
Marketable securities:

Corporate debt and government securities 10,530,942 - 10,530,942 -
Total marketable securities 10,530,942 - 10,530,942 -
Total assets measured at fair vi $ 14,816,251 $ 4,285,309 _$ 10,530,942 $ -

The following table presents the Company’s asdeds &re measured at fair value on a recurring betsis

December 31, 2011:

Active Markets for

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in Significant

Significant other Unobservable

Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents:

Money market funds $ 8,129,960 _$ 8,129,960 $ - $ -
Total cash equivalents 8,129,960 8,129,960 - -
Marketable securities:

Corporate debt and government securities 20,894,328 - 20,894,328 -
Auction rate securities 611,082 - - 611,082
Total marketable securities 21,505,410 - 20,894,328 611,082
Total assets measured at fair vi $ 29,635,370 $ 8,129,960 $ 20,894,328 % 611,082

The Company’s valuation methodology for auctior retcurities includes a discounted cash flow aizalyse
following table presents the Company’s assets miedsat fair value on a recurring basis using sigaift
unobservable inputs (Level 3) as of each of thesyeaded December 31, 2012 and 2011:

Beginning Balance

Total unrealized gains in accumulated
other comprehensive loss

Securities called by issuer

Ending Balanc
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Fair Value Measurements Using
Significant Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3)

Auction Rate Securities

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

$ 611,082 $ 578,643
88,918 32,439
(700,000) -
$ - $ 611,08




(5) Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses are comprised of the following:

December 31, December 31,
2012 2011
Accrued compensation $ 4,052,253 $ 3,853,405
Accrued consulting and professional fees 1,462,399 876,815
Accrued marketing and promotion 182,412 47,559
Other accrued expenses 1,270,598 1,539,242
Accrued income taxes 295,115 627,099
Accrued other taxes 1,172,007 1,144,700
Accrued hardware purchases 1,221,930 1,298,425
Accrued and deferred rent 76,069 33,652
Accrued restructuring costs 478 120,044
Accrued investigation, litigation, and
settlement costs 6,987,321 8,068,825

$ 16,720,58 $ 17,609,76

(6) Income Taxes

Information pertaining to the Company’s loss befmreome taxes and the applicable provision for ineo
taxes is as follows:

December 31,

2012 2011 201(
Loss before income taxes:
Domestic loss $ (15,356,162) $ (24,181,349) $ (19,944,695)
Foreign income 1,158,248 2,021,398 2,143,049
Total loss before income taxes: (14,197,914) (22,159,951) (17,801,646)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes:
Current:
Federal $ 105,198 $ 94974 $ -
State and local 18,747 11,453 145,593
Foreign 745,812 1,262,339 1,353,252
869,757 1,368,766 1,498,845
Deferred:
Federal $ 14,876 $ 14,876 $ 15,310,413
State and local 981 981 980,137
Foreign (99,207) (176,291) (215,420)
(83,350) (160,434) 16,075,130
Total provision for income taxes: $ 786,407 $ 1,208,332 $ 17,573,975

During 2012, the Company recorded a tax provisio®7@6,407 related to state and local and foreéged, and
interest related to federal uncertain tax positidnscomputing the tax provision, expenses relatedertain legal
matters were determined to be non-deductible foild8me tax purposes.
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During 2011, the Company recorded a tax provisiohlg208,332 related to state and local and for&ges. In
computing the tax provision, expenses related ttaicelegal matters were determined to be non-d#aledor US
income tax purposes.

During 2010, the Company recorded a tax provisib17,573,975 related to state and local anddoréaxes
and a deferred provision related to an increasealination allowance as the Company concluded dutiegthird
quarter of 2010 that its domestic deferred taxtassere no longer realizable on a more-likely-timan-basis.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax ¢ffe€¢ temporary differences between the carryingams of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposesdafor income tax purposes. Significant componenisthe
Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities arfollows:

December 31,

2012 2011
Deferred Tax Assets:
Allowance for receivables $ 350,738 $ 643,080
Deferred revenue 3,104,017 2,826,497
Share-based compensation 10,655,853 9,449,070
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 669,844 153,732
Domestic net operating loss carryforwards 16,526,224 11,559,661
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards 405,818 486,687
Tax credit carryforwards 654,966 728,902
AMT tax credit carryforwards 485,817 485,817
Capital loss carryforwards 80,055 77,240
Fixed assets 957,107 1,018,976
Intangibles 3,195,185 3,698,607
Sub-total 37,085,624 31,128,269
Valuation allowance (36,606,643) (30,732,700)
Net Deferred Tax Asset $ 478,981 $ 395,569
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Foreign withholding taxes $ (96,360) $ -
Net Deferred Tax Liability $ (96,360) $ -
Net Deferred Tax Assets $ 382,62 $ 395,56¢

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the @agip conclusion did not change with respect to its
domestic deferred tax assets and, therefore, thep&oy has not recorded any benefit for its net duimeeferred
tax assets for the full year 2012. The reversahefvaluation allowance on deferred tax assetseaebber 31,
2012, would reduce income tax expense. As of Deeerilh, 2012, the Company had federal net operatissg
carryforwards of approximately $44.9 million whighe set to expire at various dates beginning i8028rough
2032, if not utilized.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the @agip conclusion did not change with respect to its
domestic deferred tax assets and, therefore, thgp@oy did not record any benefit for its net domeedeferred tax
assets for the full year 2011. The reversal oflleation allowance on deferred tax assets at Dbeel\l, 2011,
would reduce income tax expense. As of December2811, the Company had federal net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $33.0 million whiahe set to expire in 2030 and 2031, if not utdize

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had apprateiy $1.1 million of various tax credit carryforda, of
which, approximately $0.6 million related to resgaand development tax credit carryforwards. Treeaech and
development tax credits may be carried forward @@ry for federal tax purposes and are set to eapiv@rious
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dates beginning in 2021 through 2030, if not utdizThe Company has recorded a full valuation alluve against
all such carryforwards as of December 31, 2012.

The Company has not provided for the United Stateome or the foreign withholding taxes on the
undistributed earnings of its subsidiaries opegatintside of the United States, with the exceptibChina. It is
the Company’s intention to reinvest those earnpegsanently, and accordingly, it is not practicablestimate the
amount of tax that might be payable.

The effective tax rate before income taxes vdrms the current statutory federal income tax estdollows:

December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Tax at Federal statutory rate $ (4,969,270% (7,755,983) $ (6,230,576)
Increase (reduction) in income taxes resulting from
State and local taxes (3,130) (59) 131,563
Non-deductible expenses 50,070 (25,071) (36,423)
Settlement costs (553,700) 2,625,000 -
Shared-based payment compensation - - 38,042
Net effect of foreign operations 259,592 530,630 619,953
Research and development credit - - (515,324)
Uncertain tax positions 140,625 118,351 28,206
Change in valuation allowance 5,862,220 5,715,464 23,538,534
$ 786,407 $ 1,208,332 17,573,975

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoof unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interast
penalties, is as follows:

201z 2011
Balance at January 1, $ 5,062,124 $ 5,169,348
Increases in tax positions for prior years - -
Decreases in tax positions for prior years - (128,831)
Increase in tax positions for current year 3,572 21,607
Balance at December . $ 5,065,69! $ 5,062,12.

At December 31, 2012, $2.5 million including irgst, if recognized, would reduce the Company’'suahn
effective tax rate. As of December 31, 2012, thenfany had approximately $373,000 of accrued intezed
penalties. The Company expects $2.3 million ofiiteecognized tax benefits to reverse within the & months.

The Company files federal, state, and foreigroime tax returns in jurisdictions with varying stat of
limitations. The 2009 through 2012 tax years gdheramain subject to examination by federal andshsiate tax
authorities. In addition to the U.S., the Companyajor taxing jurisdictions include China, Taiwaapan, South
Korea, France and Germany.
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(7) Stockholders’ Equity
Stock Repurchase Activity

At various times from October 2001 through Febyu009, the Company’s Board of Directors has autkdr
the repurchase of up to 14 million shares of then@any's outstanding common stock in the aggregbie.
repurchases may be made from time to time in oparkeh transactions in such amounts as determinegdeat
discretion of the Company’s management. The terftiseostock repurchases are determined by manaddrasad
on market conditions.

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 20&lCompany did not repurchase any shares of its
common stock. Since October 2001, the Company dm@schased a total of 8,005,235 shares of its camstark
at an aggregate purchase price of $46,916,339.f Aeocember 31, 2012, the Company had the auth@izad
repurchase 5,994,765 shares of its common sto@dhgson its judgment and market conditions.

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue two million skasf $0.001 par value preferred stock. No prefiesteck
has been issued or outstanding for any period ptede
(8) Share-Based Payment Arrangements

The following table summarizes the plans undercvthe Company was able to grant equity compemnsaso
of December 31, 2012:

Shares Shares Available Shares Last Date for Grant
Name of Plan Authorized for Grant Outstanding of Shares
FalconStor Software, Inc., 2006 Incentive StockiPla 12,224,133 2,246,036 7,388,945 May 17, 2016
FalconStor Software, Inc., 2010 Outside Directaysify 400,000 280,000 90,300 March 25, 2013

Compensation Plan

On July 1, 2012, the total shares available fonasse under the FalconStor Software, Inc., 200éritice
Stock Plan (the “2006 Plan”) totaled 2,197,887.sBant to the 2006 Plan, as amended, if, on Jilpflany
calendar year in which the 2006 Plan is in effdw,number of shares of stock as to which opticestricted shares
and restricted stock units may be granted under20G6 Plan is less than five percent (5%) of thenlber of
outstanding shares of stock, then the number ofeshaf stock available for issuance under the 2BEf is
automatically increased so that the number eqixadsplercent (5%) of the shares of stock outstandmgo event
shall the number of shares of stock subject t20@6 Plan in the aggregate exceed twenty milliaresy subject to
adjustment as provided in the 2006 Plan. On JuB012, the total number of outstanding shares ®Qbmpany’s
common stock totaled 47,541,262. Pursuant to ti¥ Zlan, as amended, the total shares availablsgoance
under the 2006 Plan thus increased by 179,176 siframe 2,197,887 to 2,377,063 shares availablésgrance as
of July 1, 2012.

The following table summarizes the Company’s ggpi&ns that have expired but that still have goawards
outstanding as of December 31, 2012:
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Shares Available Shares

Name of Plan for Grant Outstanding
FalconStor Software, Inc., 2000 Stock Option Plan -- 2,432,787
1994 Outside Directors Stock Option Plan - 40,000
2004 Outside Directors Stock Option Plan - 190,000
FalconStor Software, Inc., 2007 Outside Directaysify -- 170,000
Compensation Plan
Stand-Alone Stock Option Agreement between -- 1,220,000

the Company and James P. McNiel

All outstanding options granted under the Compapysity plans have terms of ten years

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity 2012 is as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Options Price Life (Years) Value
Options Outstanding at December 31, 2011 14,456,722 $4.95
Granted 2,042,700 $2.45
Exercised (321,260) $2.30
Forfeited (3,550,825) $4.79
Expired (1,266,495) $4.62
Options Outstanding at December 31, 2012 11,360,842 $4.66 6.46 $ 497,69¢
Options Exercisable at December 31, 2012 7,299,451 $5.60 5.21 $ 88,12(
Options Expected to Vest after December 31, 2812 3,338,779 $3.00 8.67 $ 311,277

mOptions expected to vest after December 31, 20ectean estimated forfeiture r:

Stock option exercises are fulfilled with new sisané common stock. The total cash received frorokstgtion
exercises for the years ended December 31, 20121 2Bd 2010 was $738,184, $920,106 and $409,889,
respectively. The total intrinsic value of stockiiops exercised during the years ended Decembe?2@2, 2011
and 2010 was $273,935, $422,136 and $2,881,2%ctgely.

The Company recognized share-based compensati@msxor all awards issued under the Company’kstoc
equity plans in the following line items in the cotidated statement of operations:
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Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Cost of revenues - Product $ 262 $ 2960 $ 31,779
Cost of revenues - Support and Service 172,707 461,735 1,117,550
Research and development costs 727,826 1,302,129 2,987,146
Selling and marketing 1,677,469 2,023,370 3,379,518
General and administrative 2,036,505 1,727,864 1,169,576

$ 4,614,769 $ 5,518,058 $ 8,685,569

The Company did not recognize any tax benefitdedlto share-based compensation expense during#re
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

The Company has the ability to issue both resttictock and restricted stock units. The fair vatdiehe
restricted stock awards and restricted stock arigssexpensed at either (i) the fair value per shamate of grant
(directors, officers and employees), or (ii) thér fealue per share as of each reporting period {groployee
consultants). A summary of the total stock-basechpmnsation expense related to restricted stock dswand
restricted stock units, which is included in then@@any's total share-based compensation expensedoh
respective year, is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Directors, officers and employees $ 584,959 $ 1,358,107 $ 2,524,914
Non-employee consultants 13,488 21,882 760,661

$ 598,447 $ 1,379,989 $ 3,285,575

As of December 31, 2012, an aggregate of 2,8763b@8es of restricted stock had been issued, ofhyhic
2,231,837 had vested and 473,041 had been forféitedf December 31, 2011, an aggregate of 2,821sBares of
restricted stock had been issued, of which, 1,8 tad vested and 446,990 had been forfeited. A3ecEmber
31, 2010, an aggregate of 2,658,872 shares ofatestrstock had been issued, of which, 1,446,08Pvested and
417,485 had been forfeited.

As of December 31, 2012, an aggregate of 90,4%#atesl stock units had been issued, of which, 69 Bad
vested and 11,347 had been forfeited. As of Deeerb, 2011, an aggregate of 90,412 restrictedksinits had
been issued, of which, 73,580 had vested and 1haf8Mmeen forfeited. As of December 31, 2010,ggnemate of
90,412 restricted stock units had been issuedhidlw 43,975 had vested and 2,500 had been faifeite

A summary of the Company’s restricted stock attifor 2012 is as follows:
Number of

Restricted Stock
Awards / Units

Non-Vested at December 31, 2011 525,889
Granted 55,014
Vested (383,315)
Forfeited (26,398)
Non-Vested at December 31, 2012 171,190

Restricted stock and restricted stock units ar@llad with new shares of common stock. The totdtinsic
value of restricted stock for which the restricBdapsed during the years ended December 31, 2012,and 2010
was $1,119,103, $1,941,382 and $2,950,735, respécti
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Options granted to non-employee consultants hagecese prices equal to the fair market value ofstoek on
the date of grant and a contractual term of temsyeRestricted stock awards granted to non-emplogesultants
have a contractual term equal to the lapse oficéisin(s) of each specific award. Vesting periods share-based
awards granted to non-employee consultants rargge fmmediate vesting to three years depending ovicge
requirements. A summary of the total stock-basemipsnsation expense/(benefit) related to share-basedds
granted to non-employee consultants, which is oetlin the Company’s total share-based compenseafipanse
for each respective period, is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Non-qualified stock options $ 13,999 $ 2,487 $ 58,524
Restricted stock awards 13,488 21,882 760,661

$ 27,487 $ 24,369 $ 819,185

The Company estimates the fair value of share-bpagents using the Black-Scholes option-pricinglelo
The Company believes that this valuation techneqpethe approach utilized to develop the underlgisgumptions
are appropriate in estimating the fair value of @@mpany’s share-based payments granted duringetns ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. Estimates of/édire are not intended to predict actual futurenés or the
value ultimately realized by the employees who irezequity awards.

The per share weighted average fair value of shased payments granted during the years ended ecem
31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $1.36, $2.11 and $eSpectively. In addition, to the exercise anchgdate prices
of the awards, certain weighted average assumptis@iswere used to estimate the fair value of shaszd
payment grants in the respective periods are listéite table below:

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 60 - 61% 56 - 61% 54 - 60%
Risk-free interest rate 0.7-1.2% 1.0-25% 1.6098.
Expected term (years) 5.5 5.5 5.5
Discount for post-vesting restrictions N/A N/A N/A

Options granted to officers, employees and diractluring fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010 have exengis®s
equal to the fair market value of the stock ondh&e of grant, a contractual term of ten years,amdsting period
generally of three years. Based on each respegtivep’s historical vesting experience and expedtedds, the
estimated forfeiture rate for officers, employessd directors, as adjusted, for both fiscal 201@ 2011 was 11%,
24% and 0%, respectively. For fiscal year 2010 e$temated forfeiture rate for officers, employessd directors,
as adjusted, was 11%, 24% and 9%, respectively.

The Company estimates expected volatility basedanily on historical daily volatility of the Compgis stock
and other factors, if applicable. The risk-freeenast rate is based on the United States treagld/gurve in effect
at the time of grant. The expected option ternhésrtumber of years that the Company estimateotitins will be
outstanding prior to exercise. The expected ternthef awards was determined based upon an estiridtee o
expected term of “plain vanilla” options as preled in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (*SAB”) No. @1

As of December 31, 2012, there was approximatel ®H063 total unrecognized compensation coster at
the Company’s unvested stock options, restrictetkstand restricted stock unit awards granted urtter

Company’s stock plans. The unrecognized compemsatst is expected to be recognized over a weiginedage
period of 1.76 years.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had 14,058&08668:s of common stock reserved for issuance tgon
exercise of stock options, restricted stock anttictsd stock units.
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(9) Inventories

Inventories consist of component materials andsfied systems. Inventories are stated at the loweost
(first-in, first-out) or market, not in excess oétnrealizable value. Component material consisteavfain key
replacement parts for the finished systems. Invéegare as follows:

December 31, December 31,

2012 2011
Component materials $ 18,989 $ 63,179
Finished systems 623,830 1,705,828
Total Inventory $ 642,819 $ 1,769,007

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company basetorded any reserve for excess and/or obsolete
inventories in arriving at estimated net realizald@ie of its inventory.

(10) Commitments and Contingencies

As of December 31, 2012, the Company has an opgrkgase covering its corporate office facilitytteapires
in February 2017. The Company has the option tmiteate the lease as of the last date of each muetihieen
August 31, 2013 and February 28, 2014, on nine Mergrior written notice.The Company also has several
operating leases related to offices in both thetddhStates and foreign countries. The expiraticiesdéor these
leases range from 2013 through 2017. The follows@ schedule of future minimum lease paymentsafbr
operating leases as of December 31, 2012:

Year ending December 31,

2013 $ 2,708,548
2014 2,329,788
2015 1,728,939
2016 1,639,594
2017 298,416
Thereafter -
_$ 8705285

These leases require the Company to pay its piopate share of real estate taxes and other concimmges.
Total rent expense for operating leases was $32929$3,054,817 and $2,840,796 for the years ebadmgmber
31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The Company typically provides its customers a &g on its software products for a period of naenhhan
90 days. Such warranties are accounted for in daoge with the authoritative guidance issued byRA&B on
contingencies. To date, the Company has not indumng costs related to warranty obligations.

Under the terms of substantially all of its softedicense agreements, the Company has agreedamimify its
customers for all costs and damages arising framel against such customers based on, among dtings t
allegations that the Company’s software infrindes intellectual property rights of a third partg. host cases, in
the event of an infringement claim, the Companyiret the right to (i) procure for the customer tight to
continue using the software; (ii) replace or modife software to eliminate the infringement whileding
substantially equivalent functionality; or (iii) ifeither (i) nor (ii) can be reasonably achievé@, €Company may
terminate the license agreement and refund to ttstomer a pro-rata portion of the license fee paidhe
Company. Such indemnification provisions are actedifior in accordance with the authoritative guidaissued
by the FASB on guarantees. As of December 31, 2012011, there were no claims outstanding undehn su
indemnification provisions.

On January 11, 2011, the Company entered into amldgment Agreement (“McNiel Employment
Agreement”) with James P. McNiel. Pursuant to theNi#l Employment Agreement, the Company agreed to
employ Mr. McNiel as President and Chief Execut®#icer of the Company effective January 1, 201ibtigh
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December 31, 2013, at an annual salary of $40Qs@0@nnum for calendar years 2011, 2012 and 2Qir3uBnt to
the McNiel Employment Agreement, Mr. McNiel's basalary is subject to review annually by the Boafd o
Directors and may be increased but not decreasedetsmined by the Board of Directors based on job
performance. The McNiel Employment Agreement alsavigles for the grant to Mr. McNiel of options tarphase
up to 300,000 shares of the Company’s common saban exercise price of $3.22 per share, which eest a
three-year period commencing January 11, 2012 &b, 333% and 34% annually. In addition, the McNiel
Employment Agreement provides for the grant of 80,8estricted shares of the Company’s common sidtkh
will vest over a two-year period at 50% and 50% wmbly commencing January 11, 2012. Mr. McNiel isoal
entitled to certain other benefits set forth in MeNiel Employment Agreement. The options to puseh&00,000
shares of the Company’s common stock and 90,0@0atesl shares of the Company common stock wenetgdato
Mr. McNiel by the Company’s Compensation Commitbeelanuary 11, 2011.

On January 11, 2011, the Company entered into adSione Stock Option Agreement (“McNiel Option
Agreement”) with James P. McNiel. The McNiel Optidgreement, which was approved by stockholders ay M
9, 2011, provides for the grant to Mr. NcNiel oftiops to purchase up to 1,220,000 shares of thepaaogis
common stock at an exercise price of $3.22 peresharich vest over a three-year period commencamgidry 11,
2012 at 33%, 33% and 34% annually.

On December 1, 2005, the Company adopted the 2a@®rStor Software, Inc., Key Executive Severance
Protection Plan, as amended (“Severance Plan”suRut to the Severance Plan, the Company’'s ChietEve
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and certain othery personnel are entitled to receive certain ogetit benefits, as
set forth in the Severance Plan, including lump saayments and acceleration of stock option vestagh in
certain circumstances.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had a $1.[fomjpayable outstanding relating to its settlemwith
the United States Attorney’s Office, which is to jm&d in December 2013. In addition, on January2®,3, the
Company announced it had reached a proposed settleshthe Class Action lawsuit between the Compamy
class plaintiffs for $5.0 million which is pendiagproval by the court.

(11) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company from time to time will use derivativaaincial instruments, such as foreign currency &odv
contracts, as economic hedges to reduce exchateyagies arising from the change in fair value eftain foreign
currency denominated assets and liabilities (iexeivables and payables). The purpose of the Coytgp#oreign
currency risk management program is to reduce iibfain earnings caused by exchange rate fluctureti In
accordancavith the authoritative guidance issued by the FABBderivatives and hedging, companies are required
to recognize all of the derivative financial ingtrents as either assets or liabilities at fair vatlu¢heir balance
sheets. The Company’s derivative instruments dowest the criteria for hedge accounting within al¢horitative
guidance. Therefore, the foreign currency forwardtiacts are recorded at fair value, with the gaitoss on these
transactions recorded in the consolidated statesrafndperations within “interest and other incorusg), net” in
the period in which they occur. The Company does ume derivative financial instruments for trading
speculative purposes.

As of both December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Compadyno foreign currency forward contracts outstagdi
The Company did not utilize foreign currency fordiarontracts during the years ended December 312 aad
2011. During the year ended December 31, 2010Ctdmpany recorded approximately $0.1 million of gaielated
to its foreign currency forward contracts.

(12) Litigation

In view of the inherent difficulty of predictindi¢ outcome of litigation, particularly where thainhants seek
very large or indeterminate damages, the Compamgrgély cannot predict what the eventual outcomehef
pending matters will be, what the timing of theralte resolution of these matters will be, or wihat eventual loss,
fines or penalties related to each pending matter ine.

In accordance with the authoritative guidance dégdsby the FASB on contingencies, the Company ascrue
anticipated costs of settlement, damages and Idsseslaims to the extent specific losses are potdband
estimable. The Company records a receivable fouramee recoveries when such amounts are probalde an
collectable. In such cases, there may be an expdeuoss in excess of any amounts accrued.t thextime of
evaluation, the loss contingency related to adttin is not both probable and estimable, theenattll continue to
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be monitored for further developments that wouldkensuch loss contingency both probable and estiratud, the
Company will expense these costs as incurredeleitimate of a probable loss is a range and naoiimathin the
range is more likely, the Company will accrue theimum amount of the range.

The Internal and Government Investigations

As previously disclosed, both the United Statetorey’s Office for the Eastern District of New Yor
(“USAO") and the Securities and Exchange Commisgi®@EC”) commenced investigations of the Company in
October, 2010, in response to the Company’'s anrenant that it had accepted the resignation of Rei#tuai, its
President and Chief Executive Officer, and the @han of its Board of Directors, following his dissure to the
Company that certain improper payments allegedlyewmade in connection with the Company’s licensirfig
software to one customer.

The Company conducted its own investigation irtte tnatter and cooperated with the USAO and SEC
investigations.

On June 27, 2012, the Company announced thadl iehtered into settlements with the USAO and th€.SE

The Company entered into a Deferred Prosecutioreekgent (DPA) with the USAO. Under the DPA, the
USAO agrees that it will defer prosecution of then@any in connection with the matter, and ultimatebt
prosecute the Company if the Company satisfieshtigations during the 18 month term of the DPAheTDPA
acknowledges the remedial actions taken by the @omjm response to its discovery of the impropgmnpents and
does not require the Company to make any additiooratrol or compliance changes. Under the DPAQbompany
will forfeit $2.9 million over eighteen months.

The Company agreed with the SEC to the entry @basent Judgment (CJ) to settle a civil actiordfitg the
SEC. Pursuant to the CJ, the Company agreed nobliate the anti-fraud and registration provisiaisSections
17(a)(2), 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act 0839and the books and records provisions of Sexti&{b)(2)(A)
and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Securities Exchange Act @34. The Company further agreed to pay a civilatgrof $2.9
million to the SEC.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company has paitish a6 $4.1 million of the total $5.8 million, farhich the
Company had previously accrued. The balance of ®illibn is payable in December 2013.

Stockholder Litigation

The Company is a defendant in a class action lavwsaught in United Stated District Court for tBastern
District of New York, by Company shareholders (t@#ass Action”). The other defendants are Jamebé&h/eour
former CFO and Vice President for Operations, &edestate of ReiJane Huai. Mr. Huai was the Conmipdagmer
Chairman, President and CEO.

The Class Action complaint alleges that the defatwl@efrauded shareholders by falsely certifyingha
Company’s SEC filings that they had disclosed amayd, whether or not material, that involved mamagpt or
other employees who had a significant role in gistrant’s internal control over financial repogi The Class
Action complaint alleges that the defendants werfact aware of fraud.

In January, 2013, the parties to the Class Aateathed an agreement in principle to settle thesChection.
Pursuant to a Memorandum of Understanding signed@dunsel for the class plaintiffs and by counsel d6
defendants, the Company will pay $5.0 million tttlseghe Class Action. This amount includes damagksntiffs’
attorneys’ fees, and costs of administration of shtllement. The Company expects to pay this settié with a
combination of cash on hand and insurance procéedsccordance with the Memorandum of Understanding
stipulation of settlement and a joint motion foelpminary approval of the settlement will be suliedtto the court
for its approval. Final settlement of the Classidwtis subject to certain conditions and to apprdwyathe court.
We cannot predict if or when the court might apgrdive settlement. Certain of the defendants magnitided to
indemnification by the Company under the laws ofa&re and/or our by-laws.

While the Company has insurance policies thaelieles will cover it for the allegations of theaG$ Action,
the Company has already reached an agreement métlinsurance carrier that gave it less than the mcount of
the insurance. There can be no assurance thaetbegary the Company makes on the remainder oh#srance
will be adequate to cover the costs of its defemssettlement of the Class Action, or any damages might
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ultimately be awarded against the Company or anyonghom the Company might owe indemnificationtié t
settlement is not approved by the court. The Caylgainsurers may deny coverage under the polidiethe
Company’s insurance recovery is not adequate tcercdlie costs of defense, settlement, damages and/or
indemnification, or its insurers deny coverage, dneounts to be paid by the Company could have mifiignt
negative impact on its financial results, its clistvs and its cash balances.

The Company’s Directors and Officers (“D&0O”) Insuce, is composed of more than one layer, each laye
written by a different insurance company. Aftee ttiose of the third quarter, in connection with tlass Action,
and in connection with the Derivative Action dissed below, the Company entered into an agreemehttie
carrier of the first $5.0 million layer of the Coampy’s D&O insurance. Pursuant to this agreeméiet,Gompany
accepted a payment of $3.9 million from the fiestdr insurance carrier in satisfaction of the eaisiobligations to
the Company under the first layer D&O insurancegyol The combined costs of (i) defense of the €kastion and
the Derivative Action, and (ii) the proposed $5.0lion settlement of the Class Action exceeds $3iflion, and
the Company is responsible for paying the next $iillion of costs, settlement amounts or liabilitp to $5.0
million, before the next layer of the Company’s Dé&idssurance might cover the Company. This $5.0 amilli
payment, when and if made, will negatively impdstdash flows and its cash reserves when paicaddiition, as
part of the October 2012 agreement with the cartier Company agreed to indemnify the carrier effitst layer
of D&O insurance against potential claims by certaamed insured persons under the first layer D&Suiance
policy. The Company cannot predict the likelihoadie outcome of any such claims by the named éasur

There can be no assurance that the amount of mergdd&0O insurance will be adequate to cover thetsof
the Company’'s defense of the Class Action or ampatges that might be awarded against the Compartayyr
defendant(s) to whom we owe indemnification. Thenpany’s remaining insurers may deny coverage utfder
policies. If the plaintiffs are awarded damages redCompany’s insurance is not adequate to céneamounts, or
its insurers deny coverage, the amounts to belpaiie Company could have a significant negativeaiot on our
financial results, our cash flow and our cash ne=er

To date, the Company has recorded $6.6 milliortotdl costs associated with the Class Action ared th
Derivative Actions. The Company has recorded dlifglin the amount of $5.2 million in “accrued eaqpses” in the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, &bith includes estimated costs of resolutions lagdl fees
for both the Class Action and the Derivative Actitm date. As a result of the agreement reached thi¢h
Company’s D&O insurance carrier, the Company hasrded an insurance recovery of approximately $3l8on
of legal expenses previously incurred related ® dtass action and derivative lawsuits as wellhes gotential
settlement of the class action lawsuit. The $3.8iani insurance recovery was reimbursed by the Camyis
insurance carrier during 2012. In connection wiliscussions with the insurer of the Company’s eyer of D&O
insurance regarding that insurer’s obligationshi® €ompany, the Company has recorded a $1.0 miiceivable
in “prepaid expenses and other current assets$idrconsolidated balance sheet as of December 32, 20

Company shareholders filed actions in the Suffddunty Division of the Supreme Court of the Stat&ew
York, putatively derivatively on behalf of the Coany, against the Company, each of the Company'sciiirs,
Mr. Weber, Wayne Lam, a former Vice president & @ompany, the estate of Mr. Huai, and Jason Lforraer
employee of the Company (the “Derivative ActionThe consolidated amended Derivative Action complain
alleged that the defendants breached their duti¢het Company by: (1) causing or allowing the disis@tion of
false and misleading information; (2) failing to imtain internal controls; (3) failing to manage tBempany
properly; (4) unjustly enriching themselves; (Susing their control of the Company; and (6) wast®gmpany
assets.

On March 5, 2013, the Suffolk County Division diet Supreme Court of the State of New York granted a
motion made by all of the defendants in the Deieaf\ction, except Mr. Lin, and dismissed the Dative Action
as to all defendants other than Mr. Lin.

During 2012, the Company recorded a $0.3 millieduction of investigation, litigation and settlerheglated
costs. The reduction was comprised of (i) a $liliam reduction in the accrual for certain costsaciated with
the resolution of the government investigations éida recovery of $0.3 million of legal expensgeviously
incurred related to the class action and derivatiwesuits, partially offset by (i) $1.5 million dégal expenses
related to the class action and derivative lawsastsvell as for the potential settlement of thesslaction lawsuit
that are not or may not be recoverable throughramste and (i) $0.2 million of legal fees incurnedated to the
resolution of the government investigations.
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Avazpour Litigation

The Company is the defendant in an action brobghfvazpour Networking Services, Inc., and its ferm
principals (collectively, “Avazpour”), pending ime& United States District Court for the Easterntiis of New
York. Avazpour alleged that the Company gave gyossgligent advice in connection with an upgrade of
Avazpour’s storage system resulting in damagesviazpour and breached its contract with Avazpo@n March
13, 2013, the Court granted the Company’s motiodismiss all of the claims except for the claimboéach of
contract. The Company believes that limitatiodiability clauses of the contract mean that Avazpwaill not be
able to collect any damages.

The Company cannot predict when the Avazpour adtitl be resolved or its outcome. While the Canp
has insurance policies that it believes coversGbmpany for the allegations of the Avazpour Actitirere can be
no assurance that the amount of insurance will dexj@ate to cover the costs of the Company’'s defefiske
Avazpour Action or any damages that might be awgatgainst it. If the plaintiffs are awarded daesmgnd the
Company’s insurance is not adequate to cover trmuats, or the Company’s insurers deny coverageatheunts
to be paid by the Company could have a significegative impact on its financial results, cash flamd cash
reserves.

Other Claims

The Company is subject to various legal proceedisngd claims, asserted or unasserted, which arisieei
ordinary course of business. While the outcomengfsaaich matters cannot be predicted with certasugh matters
are not expected to have a material adverse effettte Company’s financial condition or operatieguits.

The Company continues to assess certain litigadioth claims to determine the amounts, if any, that
Company believes may be paid as a result of sugiimsland litigation and, therefore, additional é&sssnay be
accrued and paid in the future, which could maligredversely impact the Company’s financial results cash
flows and its cash reserves.

(13) Restructuring Costs

In July 2012, the Company undertook certain reftiriroy activities that included a workforce redoctiof
approximately 35 positions worldwide (the “2012P)a These actions were intended to better alignGompany’s
cost structure with the skills and resources reguto more effectively execute the Company’s lagrgat growth
strategy and to support the anticipated revenueldenve expect to achieve on a go forward basis.tdta amount
incurred with respect to severance under the 2042 Ras $0.8 million. Actions under the 2012 Plaarav
substantially completed during the third quarte®12.

In July 2011, the Company undertook certain reftiriroy activities that included a workforce redoctiof
approximately 25 positions worldwide and the clgsof a satellite facility (the “2011 Plan”). Thetab amounts
incurred with respect to severance and facilititsnelonment under the 2011 Plan were $0.8 milliahlass than
$0.1 million, respectively. Actions under the 20RIan were substantially completed during the thyjudirter of
2011.
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Accrued restructuring costs associated with the201d 2011 Plans are as follows:

Reconciliation of Aggregate Liability Recorded for
Restructuring Costs Under the 2012 Plan

December 31, December 31,
2011 Provisions Payments 2012
Severance related cc $ - $ 770,74¢ $ 770,27 $ A7¢€

Reconciliation of Aggregate Liability Recorded for
Restructuring Costs Under the 2011 Plan

December 31, December 31,

2011 Provisions Payments 2012
Severance related costs $ 94,844 $ - $ 94,844 % -
Facility abandonment costs 25,200 - 25,200 -
Total Restructuring Cos $ 120,04« $ - $ 120,04« $ -

The severance related liabilities are included wittaccrued expenses” in the accompanying consila
balance sheets for both 2012 and 2011. The faeititndonment liabilities are included within “aced expenses”
in the accompanying consolidated balance shee®0fbt. The expenses under the 2012 Plan and tHeRlah are
included within “restructuring costs” in the accoemging consolidated statements of operations. Engaining
payment under the 2012 Plan was paid in Januar$.Zl0iere were no remaining payments under the 2041 as
of December 31, 2012.

(14) Employee Benefit Plans
Defined Contribution Plan

Effective July 2002, the Company established amnalty savings and defined contribution plan (th&afiP)
under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Cadthés Plan covers all U.S. employees meeting cerhgibility
requirements and allows participants to contribaitportion of their annual compensation. Employees 1®0%
vested in their own contributions. For the yeardeshDecember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Compiangod
make any contributions to the Plan.

Effective July 1, 2007, the Company, in accordanitk the labor pension system in Taiwan, contribu@ of
salaries to individual pension accounts managethbyBureau of Labor Insurance. The plan coversTaivan
employees that elect the new pension system andngiloyees hired after July 1, 2005. For the yesrded
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Companyiboted $127,000, $127,000 and $148,000, respegtivel

Defined Benefit Plan

The Company has a defined benefit plan coveringl@yeps in Taiwan. The Company accounts for itsndefi
benefit plan in accordance with the authoritativédgnce issued by the FASB on retirement benefitsich
requires the Company to recognize the funded sttits defined benefit plan in the accompanyingsmidated
balance sheet, with the corresponding adjustmest¢amulated other comprehensive income, net of tax

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, $55,122 and $184 &Spectively, is included in accumulated other
comprehensive income for amounts that have nobgeh recognized in net periodic pension cost. Theseunts
include the following: unrecognized transition gfaliion of $35,279 and $39,359 at December 31, 2022011,
respectively, and unrecognized actuarial lossesbXd,843 and $145,208 at December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. During 2012, the total amount recdritieother comprehensive income related to theiparsdan was
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$129,445 (net of tax), which consisted of an acalidnss of $125,365 and the recognition of $4,@88@ransition
obligations recognized during 2012 as a componérmted periodic pension cost. The transition obligatand
actuarial loss included in accumulated other comgmsive loss and expected to be recognized in ebdic
pension cost for the year ended December 31, 20$5,813 and $5,346 respectively.

Pension information for the years ended Decembg2@12 and 2011, is as follows:

2012 2011
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 160,27 $ 185,67
Changes in projected benefit obligation:
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year 366,15 416,89
Interest cost 7,57 8,20
Actuarial (gain) loss (126,28: (45,17«
Benefits paid - -
Service cost 5,62 5,04
Currency translation and other 16,68 (18,81°
Projected benefit obligation at end of year $ 269,760 $ 366,158
Changes in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 92,65 $ 83,59
Actual return on plan assets 79 74
Benefits paid - -
Employer contributions 9,91 12,73
Currency translation and other 4,86 (4,41¢
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 108,214 $ 92,651
Funded status $ 161,546 $ 273,507
Components of net periodic pension cost:
Interest cost $ 7,57 $ 8,20
Expected return on plan assets (1,91¢ (1,64¢
Amortization of net loss 11,15 13,47
Service cost 5,62 5,04
Net periodic pension cost $ 22,43 $ 25,07

The Company makes contributions to the plan so rfiatmum contribution requirements, as determingd b
government regulations, are met. Company contadbstof approximately $10,000 are expected to beendading
2013. Benefit payments of approximately $224,0@0expected to be paid in 2016 through 2022.

The Company utilized the following assumptions @mputing the benefit obligation at December 31,28id
2011 as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011
Discount rate 1.75% 2.00%
Rate of increase in compensation levels 3.00% 3.30%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 5%.7 2.00%
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(15) Segment Reporting and Concentrations

The Company is organized in a single operating segnfor purposes of making operating decisions and
assessing performance. Revenues from the UnitedsSta customers in the following geographical arka the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 hankbd¢ation of long-lived assets as of December281.2,
2011, and 2010, are summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31,

Revenues: 2012 2011 2010
America's $ 30,505,705 $ 36,227,426 $ 45,796,271
Asia Pacific 24,807,328 24,197,054 16,151,399
Europe, Middle East, Africa and Other 20,097,936 22,446,122 20,896,076
Total Revenue $ 75,410,96 $ 82,870,60 $ 82,843,74

December 31,

Long-lived assets: 2012 2011
America's $ 10,263,056 $ 11,271,525
Asia Pacific 1,041,470 1,122,487
Europe, Middle East, Africa and Other 434,353 326,435
Total long-lived asset $ 11,738,87 $ 12,720,44

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Compadyhe customer that accounted for 11% of revenues.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Compgdmpotl have any customers that accounted for 10#6ae of
total revenues. For the year ended December 310,26& Company had one customer that accountediOfar of
total revenues. As of December 31, 2012, the Compead one customer that accounted for 20% of tlssgr
accounts receivable balance. As of December 311,20& Company had one customer that accountetilfdr of
gross accounts receivable balances.

(16) Valuation and Qualifying Accounts — Allowancedor Returns and Doubtful Accounts

Balance at Additions Charged Balance at
Beginning of to Expenses / End of
Period Ended Period Revenues Deductions Period
December 31, 2012 $ 1,723,679 $ 357,301 $ 1,140,879 $ 940,101
December 31, 2011 $ 3,242,458 $ 120,992 $ 1,639,771 $ 1,723,679
December 31, 2010 $ 7,503,338 $ 1,211,838 $ 5,472,718 $ 3,242,458

Note: Additions to the allowance for doubtful acntauare recorded within “general and administragixpenses”
within the consolidated statements of operatiormifons to the return reserve for product andiserare recorded
within “revenues” within the consolidated statensewit operations.

Due to cash collections of previously reservedants receivable balances, the Company recordethefib of
approximately $0.7 million during the years endeec@mber 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Duringytee
ended December 31, 2010, the Company recorded @emsa of approximately $0.7 million. These amoamts
within “additions charged to expenses/revenues¥aband are included within revenues in each res@eperiod
in the accompanying consolidated statements ofadipes.
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(17) Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of selected quarterhaficial data for the years ended December 31, 262

2011:
Quarter
2012 First Second Third Fourth
Revenue (a) $ 19,368,072 $ 16,466,201 $ 17,089,013 $ 22,487,683
Gross profit 14,186,230 11,587,960 12,208,096 16,766,610
Net loss (2,449,408) (6,620,586) (3,568,051) (2,346,276)
Basic net loss per share (0.05) (0.14) (0.08) (0.05)
Diluted net loss per share (0.05) (0.14) (0.08) (0.05)
Quarter
2011 First Second Third Fourth
Revenue (b) $ 18,959,262 $ 19,628,008 $ 18,856,390 $ 25,426,942
Gross profit 14,117,037 13,943,379 14,049,801 19,243,475
Net loss (5,966,265) (5,889,039) (5,398,176) (6,114,804)
Basic net loss per share (0.13) (0.13) (0.12) (0.13)
Diluted net loss per share (0.13) (0.13) (0.12) (0.13)

The sum of the quarterly net income (loss) per esteanounts do not necessarily equal the annual @amoun
reported, as per share amounts are computed indepin for each quarter and the annual period basethe
weighted average common shares outstanding inpesabd.

@)

(b)

The Company recorded a benefit (expense) of apmately $0.6 million, ($0.3) million, $0.2 million
and $0.2 million during the first, second, thirddafiourth quarters of 2012, respectively, representi
the net impact from changes in accounts receivalievances. These amounts are included within
revenues in each respective period in the acconipguepnsolidated statements of operations.

The Company recorded a benefit (expense) of apmiabely $0.9 million, ($0.2) million, ($0.4) million
and $0.4 million during the first, second, thirddafiourth quarters of 2011, respectively, representi
the net impact from changes in accounts receivalievances. These amounts are included within
revenues in each respective period in the acconpguepnsolidated statements of operations.
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Item 9.

Item 9A.

Changes in and Disagreements with Acantants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains “disclosure controls and @iaces,” as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15e
and 15d-15e of the Securities and Exchange Act98#1as amended (the “Exchange Act”), that are
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed in its reports, pursuant to the Exchahge

is recorded, processed, summarized and report&ihwite time periods specified in the SEC's ruled a
forms, and that such information is accumulated emehmunicated to its management, including its
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officexs appropriate, to allow timely decisions regagdi
the required disclosures. In designing and evalgatie disclosure controls and procedures, manageme
has recognized that any controls and procedures)atter how well designed and operated, can provide
only reasonable assurances of achieving the desoettol objectives, and management necessarily is
required to apply its judgment in evaluating thestcbenefit relationship of possible controls and
procedures.

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer (its prindigxecutive officer) and Chief Financial Officets(i
principal finance officer and principal accountimdficer) have evaluated the effectiveness of its
“disclosure controls and procedures” as of the @hithe period covered by this Annual Report on Form
10-K. Based on their evaluation, the principal exee officer and principal financial officer concled
that its disclosure controls and procedures arct¥fe at a reasonable assurance level at the fettie o
period covered by this report.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finah&eporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estabi and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting for the Company; as suetmt is defined in Rules 13a-15(f). To evaluate the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controlrofireancial reporting, the Company’s management
uses the Integrated Framework adopted by the Cdeerif Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSQO").

The Company’s management has assessed the effedttve@f the Company’'s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, usingCOSO framework. The Company’s management
has determined that the Company’s internal comvel financial reporting is effective as of thateda

There were no changes in the Company’s internaralsmover financial reporting during the Company’s
last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reportig a result of the internal investigation arisfngm

the revelation of the improper payments in conmectiith the licensing of software to a customer;, ou
Board of Directors has accepted recommendationstianges and enhancements to the Company’'s
controls and procedures, and management has stibliyanompleted the implementation of such
changes and enhancements.

The registered public accounting firm that auditeg financial statements included in this annupbre
has issued an attestation report on the Compantgmnial control over financial reporting.

83



Item 9B. Other Information

On March 15, 2013, pursuant to the Company’'s 20B2ddement Incentive Bonus Plan, the Company’s
Executive Officers received payments of the follegvamounts:

Name Title Amount

James P. McNiel PreS|de_:nt & C.hlef $163,94(
Executive Office

Seth R. Horowitz Vice President, General $38,742
Counsel & Secreta

Louis J. Petrucelly Vlcﬁigsi;gf (r;tffié:hlef $31,13-

Bernard J. Wu Vice President of $57,37¢
Business Developme
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Item 10.

Item 11.

Item 12.

Item 13.

Item 14.

PART Il
Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

Information called for by Part I, Item 10, regard the Registrant’'s directors will be includedaar
Proxy Statement relating to our annual meetingadldolders scheduled to be held in May 2013, and i
incorporated herein by reference. The informatippears in the Proxy Statement under the captions
“Election of Directors”, “Management”, “Executive oBpensation”, “Section 16 (a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance”, and “Committeeshaf Board of Directors.” The Proxy Statement
will be filed within 120 days of December 31, 2008y year-end.

Executive Compensation

Information called for by Part I, Item 11, wilkbincluded in our Proxy Statement relating to aural
meeting of stockholders scheduled to be held in B313, and is incorporated herein by reference. The
information appears in the Proxy Statement underddptions “Executive Compensation”, “Director
Compensation”, “Compensation Committee Interlocksd alnsider Participation”, Compensation
Committee Report” and “Committees of the Board dfeBtors.” The Proxy Statement will be filed
within 120 days of December 31, 2012, our year-end.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

Information regarding Securities Authorized foruaace Under Equity Compensation Plans is included
in Item 4 and is incorporated herein by referedeother information called for by Part Ill, Iterh2,

will be included in our Proxy Statement relatingor annual meeting of stockholders scheduled to be
held in May 2013, and is incorporated herein byemefice. The information appears in the Proxy
Statement under the caption “Beneficial OwnersliiStmares.” The Proxy Statement will be filed within
120 days of December 31, 2012, our year-end.

Certain Relationships and Related Transaains, and Director Independence

Information regarding our relationships and relarathisactions will be included in our Proxy Stateme
relating to our annual meeting of stockholders dakerl to be held in May 2013, and is incorporated b
reference. The information appears in the ProxyeStant under the caption “Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions.” The Proxy Statement wilfilea within 120 days of December 31, 2012, our
year-end.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Information called for by Part Ill, Item 14, willebincluded in our Proxy Statement relating to aumual
meeting of stockholders scheduled to be held in RI243, and is incorporated herein by reference. The

information appears in the Proxy Statement underctption “Principal Accountant Fees and Services.”
The Proxy Statement will be filed within 120 daydecember 31, 2012, our year-end.
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PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedes

The information required by subsections (a)(1) @)(R) of this item are included in the responskdm 8
of Part Il of this annual report on Form 10-K.

(b)  Exhibits

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

10.1

Restated Certificate of Incorporation, incogted herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
the Registrant’s registration statement on Form(Bilé no. 33-79350), filed on April 28,
1994.

Amended and Restated By-Laws of FalconStftw@are, Inc., incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s anmagdort on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2010, filed on March 14, 2011.

Certificate of Amendment to the Restatedtiiemte of Incorporation, incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Regidtsaannual report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1998, filed on March 22919

Certificate of Amendment to the Restatedtiiemte of Incorporation, incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Regidtsaannual report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2001, filed on March 20220

2000 Stock Option Plan, incorporated herein by resfee to Exhibit 4.1 of the
Registrant’s registration statement on Form St8dfon September 21, 2001.

2000 Stock Option Plan, as amended May 15, 20@8rporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 99 to the Registrant’s quarterly report Borm 10-Q for the period ended June
30, 2003, filed on August 14, 2003.

2000 Stock Option Plan, as amended May 14, 20@4yporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant's Annual Report onrRol10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004, filed on March 16, 2005.

1994 Outside Directors Stock Plan, as amenday M, 2002 incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s anmagdort on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2002, filed on March 17, 2003.

2004 Outside Directors Stock Option Plan, incorpetaherein by reference to Exhibit
4.5 to the Registrant’'s Annual Report on Form 1@eKthe year ended December 31,
2004, filed on March 16, 2005.

Amended and Restated 2006 Incentive Stock Plarrpocated herein by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s quarterly reportkorm 10-Q for the quarter ended March
31, 2007, filed on May 9, 2007.

2007 Outside Directors Equity Compensation Plan, aasended May 8, 2008,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.2he Registrant’'s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200&] éle August 11, 2008.

Form of Restricted Stock Letter Agreement for ExeeuOfficers, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’anerly report on Form 10-Q for the
period ended March 31, 2008, filed May 9, 2008.

Agreement of lease between Huntington Quadraigl¢. C, and FalconStor Software,
Inc.,
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dated August 2003, incorporated herein by refereéadexhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period endgeptember 30, 2003, filed on
November 14, 2003.

10.2  Employment Agreement dated January 11, 2011 betwRegistrant and James P.
McNiel, incorporated herein by reference to Exhib@.1 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, dated January 11, 2011.

10.3 Stand-Alone Stock Option Agreement dated January 2011, by and between
FalconStor Software, Inc., and James P. McNieloriporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant’s Current Report on F@H, dated January 11, 2011.

10.4  * FalconStor Software, Inc., 2005 Key Executive &awce Protection Plan, as amended
January 4, 2013, attached hereto.

10.5 Amended and Restated FalconStor Software, Inc.52K8y Executive Severance
Protection Plan, incorporated herein by referemc&xhibit 10.3 to Registrant’'s annual
report on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembefB05, filed on March 15, 2006.

10.6  FalconStor Software, Inc., Director CompensatiorfeDal Plan, effective January 1,
2011, incorporated herein by reference to Regisgamnual report on Form 10-K, for
the year ended December 31, 2010, filed, on Madc2011.

21.1  Subsidiaries of Registrant — FalconStor, Inc., &@Btor AC, Inc., FalconStor Software
(Korea), Inc.

23.1  *Consent of KPMG LLP
31.1 *Certification of the Chief Executive Officer
31.2 *Certification of the Chief Financial Officer

32.1  *Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuattt Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350)

32.2  *Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuatd Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350)

101.1 The following financial statements from FalStor Software, Inc’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012étied in XBLR (eXtensible
Business Reporting Language):

(i) Consolidated Balance Sheets — December 312 26d December 31, 2011.

(i) Consolidated Statements of Operations — Yé&arded December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010.

(iii) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Egdi Years Ended December
31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

(iv) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive kogears Ended December
31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

(v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Yeaded December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010.

(vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsceDeber 31, 2012.

*- filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 od)16f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, thegtegnt
has duly caused this report to be signed on italbély the undersigned, thereunto duly authorizeelville, State
of New York on March 18, 2013.

FALCONSTOR SOFTWARE, INC.

By: /sl James P. McNiel Date: March 18, 2013

James P. McNiel, President and Chief Executive
Officer of FalconStor Software, Inc.

POWER OF ATTORNEY
FalconStor Software, Inc. and each of the ungeesl do hereby appoint James P. McNiel and Louis J.
Petrucelly, and each of them severally, its or thie and lawful attorney to execute on behalf ofcé@aStor
Software, Inc. and the undersigned any and all @ments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and le fine
same with all exhibits thereto and other documémtsonnection therewith, with the Securities anccliange
Commission; each of such attorneys shall have tleepto act hereunder with or without the other.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securitieh&xge Act of 1934, this report has been signeavbély
the following persons on behalf of the registramd & the capacities and on the date indicated.

By:  /s/ James P. McNiel March 2813
James P. McNiel, President and Chief Executiviec€f Date
(principal executive officer)

By: [s/ Louis J. Petrucelly Marl8, 2013

Louis J. Petrucelly, Vice President, Chief FinahC#icer Date
and Treasurer
(principal financial and accounting officer)

By: Is/ Steven R. Fischer March 18, 2013
Steven R. Fischer, Director Date

By: /s/ Alan W. Kaufman March 18, 2013
Alan W. Kaufman, Director Date

By: /sl Irwin Lieber March 18, 2013
Irwin Lieber, Director Date

By: /s/ Eli Oxenhorn March 18, 2013
Eli Oxenhorn, Chairman of the Board Date

By: /s/ Barry Rubenstein March 18, 2013
Barry Rubenstein, Director Date
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
FalconStor Software, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in rfgistration statements (numbers 333-69834, 33®2®, 333-

125126, 333-139032, and 333-145475) filed on Forgna®d in the registration statement (number 338369 filed on

Form S-3 of FalconStor Software, Inc. of our reppdated March 18, 2013, with respect to the cdicesteld balance
sheets of FalconStor Software, Inc. as of Decen¥ier2012 and 2011, and the related consolidataénséats of

operations, stockholders’ equity, comprehensive,lasad cash flows for each of the years in thestlyemar period ended
December 31, 2012, and the effectiveness of intexorrol over financial reporting as of Decembér 2012, which

reports appear in the December 31, 2012 annuattrepd-orm 10-K of FalconStor Software, Inc.

/sl KPMG LLP

Melville, New York
March 18, 2013
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Exhibit 31.1

I, James P. McNiel, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-KalconStor Software, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omsttde a
material fact necessary to make the statements,nratight of the circumstances under which sucieshents
were made, not misleading with respect to the pes@vered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adiner financial information included in this repdairly
present in all material respects the financial dbon results of operations and cash flows of tbgistrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aresponsible for establishing and maintaining discte
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangeRAits 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cbotrer
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Actédul3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant hade:

a)

b)

c)

d)

designed such disclosure control and proceduresawsed such disclosure control and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure tretermal information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is madevim to us by others within those entities, partciyl
during the period in which this report is beinggaeed,;

designed such internal controls over financial répg, or caused such internal controls over financ
reporting to be designed under our supervisionptavide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepaceat of financial statements for external purposes i
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptis;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’slasire controls and procedures and presentedsin th
report our conclusions about the effectivenesiefdisclosure controls and procedures, as of the en
of the period covered by this report based on sweluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the registsainternal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’'s most recent figsparter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarteittie
case of an annual report) that has materially tftboor is reasonably likely to materially affettte
registrant’s internal control over financial repog; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leaslisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationtefal
control over financial reporting, to the registrarauditors and the audit committee of the regigtsaboard of
directors (or persons performing the equivalentfiams):

Date:

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssethe design or operation of internal controéiov
financial reporting which are reasonably likely ddversely affect the registrant’s ability to record
process, summarize and report financial informataom

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal caitover financial reporting.

March 18, 2013 /s/ James P. McNiel

James P. McNiel
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)
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Exhibit 31.2

I, Louis J. Petrucelly, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-KalconStor Software, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omsttde a
material fact necessary to make the statements,nratight of the circumstances under which sucteshents
were made, not misleading with respect to the pesvered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adiner financial information included in this repdairly
present in all material respects the financial dbo results of operations and cash flows of tbgistrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aresponsible for establishing and maintaining discte
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangeRAutds 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cbotrer
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Actédul3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant hade:

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure tretermal information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is madevim to us by others within those entities, partciyl
during the period in which this report is beinggaeed;

b) designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finahcia
reporting to be designed under our supervisionptavide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of financial statements for external purposes i
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptis;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’slasire controls and procedures and presentedsin th
report our conclusions about the effectivenesiefdisclosure controls and procedures, as of the en
of the period covered by this report based on sweluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registsainternal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’'s most recent figparter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarteittie
case of an annual report) that has materially tftboor is reasonably likely to materially affettte
registrant’s internal control over financial repog; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadlisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationtefal
control over financial reporting, to the registrarduditors and the audit committee of the regigtsaboard of
directors (or persons performing the equivalentfioms):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknssgethe design or operation of internal controéiov
financial reporting which are reasonably likely ddversely affect the registrant’s ability to record
process, summarize and report financial informatiom

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal casitover financial reporting.

Date: March 18, 2013 /sl _Louis J. Petrucelly
Louis J. Petrucelly
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer
(principal financial and accountindicér)
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA@002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350), the undersigned, Jafes
McNiel, Chief Executive Officer of FalconStor Sofive, Inc., a Delaware Corporation (the “Companges hereby
certify, to his knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year enBedember 31, 2012 of the Company (the “Reportlyful
complies with the requirements of Sections 13(a) H(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, #redinformation
contained in the Report fairly presents, in all enal respects, the financial condition and resaft®perations of the
Company.

/s] James P. McNiel

James P. McNiel

President and Chief Executive Gffic
March 18, 2013
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoAc@002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350), the undersigned, Lallis

Petrucelly, Chief Financial Officer of FalconStasfSvare, Inc., a Delaware Corporation (the “Compgangoes hereby
certify, to his knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year enBedember 31, 2012 of the Company (the “Reportlyful
complies with the requirements of Sections 13(a&) Hs(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, thredinformation

contained in the Report fairly presents, in all en@ respects, the financial condition and resaft®perations of the
Company.

/SlLouis J. Petrucelly
Louis J. Petrucelly

Vice President, Chief Financial O#fiand Treasurer
March 18, 2013
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